

## **Kent Academic Repository**

Khanizadeh, Farbod (2014) Symmetry structure for differential-difference equations. Doctor of Philosophy (PhD) thesis, University of Kent.

#### **Downloaded from**

https://kar.kent.ac.uk/94461/ The University of Kent's Academic Repository KAR

#### The version of record is available from

https://doi.org/10.22024/UniKent/01.02.94461

#### This document version

**UNSPECIFIED** 

**DOI** for this version

#### Licence for this version

CC BY-NC-ND (Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives)

#### **Additional information**

This thesis has been digitised by EThOS, the British Library digitisation service, for purposes of preservation and dissemination. It was uploaded to KAR on 25 April 2022 in order to hold its content and record within University of Kent systems. It is available Open Access using a Creative Commons Attribution, Non-commercial, No Derivatives (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/) licence so that the thesis and its author, can benefit from opportunities for increased readership and citation. This was done in line with University of Kent policies (https://www.kent.ac.uk/is/strategy/docs/Kent%20Open%20Access%20policy.pdf). If you ...

#### Versions of research works

#### **Versions of Record**

If this version is the version of record, it is the same as the published version available on the publisher's web site. Cite as the published version.

#### **Author Accepted Manuscripts**

If this document is identified as the Author Accepted Manuscript it is the version after peer review but before type setting, copy editing or publisher branding. Cite as Surname, Initial. (Year) 'Title of article'. To be published in *Title* of *Journal*, Volume and issue numbers [peer-reviewed accepted version]. Available at: DOI or URL (Accessed: date).

#### **Enquiries**

If you have questions about this document contact <a href="ResearchSupport@kent.ac.uk">ResearchSupport@kent.ac.uk</a>. Please include the URL of the record in KAR. If you believe that your, or a third party's rights have been compromised through this document please see our <a href="Take Down policy">Take Down policy</a> (available from <a href="https://www.kent.ac.uk/guides/kar-the-kent-academic-repository#policies">https://www.kent.ac.uk/guides/kar-the-kent-academic-repository#policies</a>).

## SYMMETRY STRUCTURE FOR DIFFERENTIAL-DIFFERENCE EQUATIONS

A THESIS SUBMITTED TO

THE UNIVERSITY OF KENT AT CANTERBURY
IN THE SUBJECT OF MATHEMATICS
FOR THE DEGREE

OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY BY RESEARCH.

By Farbod Khanizadeh March 2014

## Abstract

Having infinitely many generalised symmetries is one of the definition of integrability for non-linear differential-difference equations. Therefore, it is important to develop tools by which we can produce these quantities and guarantee the integrability. Two different methods of producing generalised symmetries are studied throughout this thesis, namely recursion operators and master symmetries. These are objects that enable one to obtain the hierarchy of symmetries by recursive action on a known symmetry of a given equation.

Our first result contains new Hamiltonian, symplectic and recursion operators for several (1+1)-dimensional differential-difference equations both scalar and multi-component. In fact in chapter 5 we give the factorization of the new recursion operators into composition of compatible Hamiltonian and symplectic operators. For the list of integrable equations we shall also provide the inverse of recursion operators if it exists.

As the second result, we have obtained the master symmetry of differential-difference KP equation. Since for (2+1)-dimensional differential-difference equations recursion operators take more complicated form, master symmetries are alternative effective tools to produce infinitely many symmetries. The notion of master symmetry is thoroughly discussed in chapter 6 and as a result of this chapter we obtain the master symmetry for the differential-difference KP (DDKP) equation. Furthermore, we also produce time dependent symmetries through  $sl(2, \mathbb{C})$ -representation of the DDKP equation.

## Acknowledgments

I would like to take this opportunity to sincerely appreciate all the people who supported me during my PhD and contributed in some way to the thesis. First and foremost, I would like to express my gratitude and respect to my supervisor Dr. Jing Ping Wang. Anytime that I came up with a question she always had time to have a meeting and discuss the problem. Her invaluable advice and guidance can be seen in every page of my thesis. Every result of this research was accomplished with her continuous help and support in all stages of the thesis. I also do appreciate her patience and kindness.

Besides my supervisor, I am grateful to Prof. Andy Hone for organizing the discussion groups. It provided students the chance to present their works and establish an interactive atmosphere to extend our knowledge. I would also like to appreciate Prof. Alexander V. Mikhailov for helping and collaborating in producing the paper which is the main result of this thesis. Moreover I would like to thank Prof. Peter Clarkson and Dr. Clare Dunning for their advice and helpful comments during my PhD.

Ms. Claire Carter was always trying to find solutions to students' problems and reduce their stress. I thank her for all the supports and administrative help during these years. I am grateful to the SMSAS who provided me the funding and made this achievement possible.

Coming to my friends, I first thank my loyal office-mate Eric. We shared an office for almost three years and he is really missed. He was always ready to listen

patiently to people's issues for hours even when he himself was surrounded by different problems. I have also to thank my Greek friends. Giota was the first Greek friend I met here. She was able to change people's mood in thirty seconds, from depression to the happiest person one could find. Her advice was always worth to be taken. The second Greek person was George. I was really lucky to have a friend such as George who has both knowledge and nice personality. He always was kind enough to spend time answering questions. I also sincerely thank him for the time he spent reading my thesis and providing useful comments. Chloe was the multi talented office-mate. Besides her research area, she was an expert in cooking and drawing. Her cakes was always as fuel for me to keep working.

I am also so grateful to my dear friend Elaheh who during the last year was always supporting me. Elaheh was such a kind friend to whom I could talk and release my pressure.

I thank Shaghayegh and long-term friends Fazel and Omid who have always supported me in my studies and careers. I would also like to briefly thank my friends Abera, Lucy, Bahareh, Shahram, Nesa, Pendar, Parvin, Mohammed, Farzad, Behrad, Sahar, Kasra and Ferial.

My special appreciation goes to my brother Mehrbod for all his advice, supports and help at every stage of my life. His constant encouragement is something that I never forget.

Finally, I sincerely wish to express my thanks to my parents, Mahnaz and Shahpour. I owe them a lot for every single moment of my life. Their love, support and kindness can not be described in words and I would like to dedicate this thesis to them in gratitude.

## Contents

1	Intr	Introduction				
<b>2</b>	Diff	Gerence functions, functionals and pseudo-difference operators	4			
	2.1	Ring of smooth difference functions	4			
	2.2	Evolutionary vector fields	9			
	2.3	Space of functionals	14			
	2.4	Fréchet derivative	18			
	2.5	Pseudo-difference operator and weakly nonlocal difference operator	22			
3	B Discrete variational calculus, Lie derivatives, Hamiltonian, sym-					
	plectic and Nijenhuis operators					
	3.1	Complex over a Lie algebra	28			
	3.2	Complex of discrete variational calculus and adjoint operators $$ . $$ .	31			
	3.3	Adjoint operator	38			
	3.4	Lie derivatives	41			
	3.5	Symplectic, Hamiltonian and Nijenhuis operators	45			
4	Evo	Evolutionary differential-difference equations				
	4.1	(1+1)-dimensional differential-difference equations	55			
	4.2	Generalised symmetries and integrability	56			
	4.3	Conserved densities and co-symmetries	58			
	4.4	Hamiltonian, symplectic and recursion operators	61			
	4.5	Construction of recursion operators	68			

5	List	of inte	egrable differential-difference equations	75			
	5.1	Introd	uction	75			
	5.2	A list	of integrable differential-difference equations	78			
		5.2.1	The Volterra chain	78			
		5.2.2	Modified Volterra equation	79			
		5.2.3	Yamilov's discretisation of the Krichever-Novikov equation	80			
		5.2.4	Integrable Volterra type equations	82			
		5.2.5	The Narita-Itoh-Bogoyavlensky lattice	84			
		5.2.6	The Toda lattice	85			
		5.2.7	The Relativistic Toda system	87			
		5.2.8	Two component Volterra lattice	88			
		5.2.9	The Relativistic Volterra lattice	90			
		5.2.10	The Merola-Ragnisco-Tu lattice	91			
		5.2.11	The Kaup lattice	92			
		5.2.12	The Ablowitz-Ladik lattice	93			
		5.2.13	The Bruschi-Ragnisco lattice	95			
		5.2.14	The Kaup-Newell lattice	96			
		5.2.15	The Chen-Lee-Liu lattice	98			
		5.2.16	The Ablowitz-Ramani-Segur (Gerdjikov-Ivanov) lattice	100			
		5.2.17	The Heisenberg ferromagnet lattice	103			
		5.2.18	The Belov-Chaltikian lattice	104			
		5.2.19	The Blaszak-Marciniak lattice	105			
	5.3	Conclu	asion	107			
6	Master symmetries and representation theory of the differential- difference KP equation 10						
	difference KP equation						
	6.1		uction	108			
	6.2	Onaci	local difference polynomials	111			

Bibliography						
	A.2	Application of symbolic representation	136			
	A.1	Basic calculations in symbolic representation	133			
A	Syn	Symbolic representation				
7	Conclusion					
	6.6	Conclusion	129			
		tions	123			
	6.5	6.5 sl(2, $\mathbb{C}$ )-representation and t-dependent symmetries of evolution equa				
	6.4	Master symmetry for the DDKP equation	117			
		metries	114			
	6.3	(2+1)-dimensional differential-difference equations and master sym-				

## Chapter 1

## Introduction

The interest on the study of nonlinear differential-difference equations (NDDEs) have been increased in recent years. For the works that have been devoted to these equations one can read [1, 2, 44, 45, 46, 95] and the references therein. The importance of NDDEs can be seen in their application as models for physical phenomena such as ladder type electric circuits, vibration of particles, collapse of Langmuir waves in plasma physics, population dynamics, etc.

In differential-difference equations at least one of the space variable is discretized while the time variable is still kept continuous. Usually the solution of NDDEs are obtained through numerical calculations. There are some equations that can be transformed into a linear equations or can be solved by the inverse scattering method [1]. These two types of integrable equations are respectively known as C-integrable and S-integrable [96].

In this thesis, as its title indicates, we study the symmetry structure of nonlinear differential-difference equations. To avoid ambiguity, throughout the thesis wherever we use the word symmetry we mean generalised symmetries. Roughly speaking generalised symmetries are symmetries depending on higher order shifts of dependent variables. The notion of generalised symmetry plays an essential

role in classification of integrable systems. We say an evolutionary equation is called integrable if it possesses infinitely many generalised symmetries.

Based on this definition of integrability, we are interested to find tools by which we can produce an infinite hierarchy of generalised symmetries and guarantee the integrability. One of the well-known tool is the so-called recursion operators. Throughout this thesis we discuss the structure of this object for NDDEs and show how it can construct the space of commuting symmetries.

The construction of recursion operators has a close relation with symplectic and Hamiltonian operators. In fact a recursion operator of an equation can be obtained by the composition of its corresponding symplectic and Hamiltonian operators. In this thesis we provide a number of new recursion operators where their factorization into composition of Hamiltonian and symplectic operators is proposed. The results are presented in sections 5.2.4, 5.2.14, 5.2.15, 5.2.16. It is one of the main parts of the paper [42] which is available online and is accepted to be published in the journal of Theoretical and Mathematical Physics.

Finding a recursion operator of a given equation is not always an easy task. Furthermore when we deal with NDDEs of higher dimension (i.e. with more than one continuous independent variables), the recursion operator has a very complicated structure. These two factors lead us to look for an alternative method of producing symmetries. This method is based on using the concept of master symmetry. Master symmetries are very handy tools when we are working with NDDEs in (2+1)-dimension (i.e. with two continuous and one discrete variable).

Since we are concerned with the definition of integrability based on generalised symmetries, we devote the thesis to the symmetry structure of differential-difference equations. In fact we shall discuss all the mentioned objects which are related with generalised symmetries and the concept of integrability.

The thesis is divided into five chapters as follows: In chapter 2 we construct the space of smooth difference function that is the foundation of all the discussions

throughout this thesis. Furthermore in this chapter we introduce shift operators, difference operators and evolutionary vector fields which act on the space of smooth difference functions. The concepts of Fréchet derivative and weakly non-local difference operators are also introduced in this chapter.

Chapter 3 discusses the algebraic structures on the quotient space of difference functions and introduce three operators namely symplectic, Hamiltonian and Nijenhuis operators which play an important role in the theory of integrability. The interrelation of these operators is also given in this chapter.

In chapter 4 we first introduce (1+1)-dimensional differential-difference equations and then by taking equations of this type we shall apply the notions and theorems of the previous chapters on the given equation. Chapter 4 also contains the concept of generalised symmetry and definition of integrability.

The last two chapters contain the main results of this thesis. In particular, in chapter 5 we give a long list of differential-difference equations together with their symmetries, Hamiltonian, symplectic and recursion operators. Some of these quantities are already known for the given equations. We shall point out the new results (i.e. Hamiltonian, symplectic and recursion operators) at the end of Section 5.1.

In chapter 6 we discuss the extension of NDDEs to (2+1)-dimensional differential-difference equations in which a given equation depends on two continuous and one discrete variable. Then we introduce the notion of master symmetry and employ it to the differential-difference KP (DDKP) equation. The last section of this chapter presents the  $sl(2,\mathbb{C})$ -representation of the DDKP equation which gives another interpretation of the master symmetries in constructing time dependent symmetries.

## Chapter 2

# Difference functions, functionals and pseudo-difference operators

## 2.1 Ring of smooth difference functions

Let  $\mathbf{u} = (u^{(1)}(n,t), u^{(2)}(n,t), \cdots, u^{(m)}(n,t))^T$  be an m-tuple of unknown functions of two independent variables n and t where n takes its value in integers and t comes from the real numbers. For each component, the shift of length i in the discrete variable is denoted as

$$u^{(m)}(n+i,t) \equiv u_i^{(m)}. \tag{2.1.1}$$

This will be later obtained by the action of the so-called **shift** operator. In particular, when i = 0 we have

$$u^{(m)}(n,t) \equiv u_0^{(m)}, \qquad (2.1.2)$$

which we often simply denote by  $u^{(m)}$ . In general for the vector valued **u** we have

$$\mathbf{u}_i = (u_i^{(1)}, u_i^{(2)}, \cdots, u_i^{(m)})^T$$
.

When m is a small number (i.e. m = 2, 3), instead of components  $u^{(1)}, u^{(2)}, u^{(3)}$  we use letters u, v, w as follows:

$$m = 2,$$
  $\mathbf{u} = (u, v)^T,$   
 $m = 3,$   $\mathbf{u} = (u, v, w)^T.$ 

Now let  $\mathfrak{F}$  denote the set of all smooth functions of the form

$$f[\mathbf{u}] := f(\cdots, \mathbf{u}_{-2}, \mathbf{u}_{-1}, \mathbf{u}, \mathbf{u}_1, \mathbf{u}_2, \cdots)$$
.

Notice that f does not depend explicitly on the independent variable n. For example the following two functions are elements of  $\mathfrak{F}$ :

$$f = \frac{1}{u^2} + \sin(v_{-1}) + v_{-2}u_1, \qquad \mathbf{u} = (u, v),$$
 (2.1.3)

$$g = w_2 u^2 + uv w_{-1}^2,$$
  $\mathbf{u} = (u, v, w).$  (2.1.4)

As we can see in these examples f and g depend on the finite number of variables. Thus each element of  $\mathfrak{F}$  can be presented in the following form:

$$f[\mathbf{u}] = f(\mathbf{u}_{\ell}, \mathbf{u}_{\ell-1}, \cdots, \mathbf{u}_{\ell'+1}, \mathbf{u}_{\ell'}), \qquad \ell \ge \ell'.$$

So in the above two examples we have

$$f(\mathbf{u}_1, \mathbf{u}, \mathbf{u}_{-1}, \mathbf{u}_{-2}), \quad \mathbf{u} = (u, v),$$
  
 $g(\mathbf{u}_2, \mathbf{u}_1, \mathbf{u}, \mathbf{u}_{-1}), \quad \mathbf{u} = (u, v, w).$ 

If  $\mathbf{u}$  is a one component vector depending on just u, then for

$$f(u_{\ell}, u_{\ell-1}, \cdots, u_{\ell'+1}, u_{\ell'}) \in \mathfrak{F}, \qquad \ell \geq \ell',$$

we call  $\ell, \ell'$  respectively the left and right order of the smooth function. For example the scalar function  $f = u_{-2}u + u_1u^2 + u_2$  is a difference polynomial with the left and right order as

$$\ell=2$$
,  $\ell'=-2$ .

Obviously  $\mathfrak{F}$  has the structure of a ring and is called the ring of smooth difference functions. We now introduce the shift operator as the ring automorphism and denote it by  $\mathcal{S}:\mathfrak{F}\longrightarrow\mathfrak{F}$  which satisfies

$$S^{k}(f) := f(\dots, \mathbf{u}_{-2+k}, \mathbf{u}_{-1+k}, \mathbf{u}_{k}, \mathbf{u}_{1+k}, \mathbf{u}_{2+k}, \dots) \equiv f_{k}, \qquad k \in \mathbb{Z},$$

$$S(f + \tilde{f}) = S(f) + S(\tilde{f}) = f_{1} + \tilde{f}_{1},$$

$$S(f\tilde{f}) = S(f)S(\tilde{f}) = f_{1}\tilde{f}_{1}.$$

$$(2.1.5)$$

For example the action of  $S^2$  on (2.1.4) gives

$$g_2 = \mathcal{S}^2(g) = w_4 u_2^2 + u_2 v_2 w_1^2.$$

Having the shift operator we shall introduce another operator called the **Difference** operator and is given by

$$\Delta = \mathcal{S} - 1. \tag{2.1.6}$$

According to the linearity of the shift operator one can easily obtain the same axiom for the difference operator, namely

$$\Delta(c_1 f + c_2 g) = c_1 \Delta(f) + c_2 \Delta(g), \qquad f, g \in \mathfrak{F}, \ c_1, c_2 \in \mathbb{R}.$$

The difference operator  $\Delta$  does not satisfy the Leibniz rule but the action of  $\Delta$  on the product of two smooth functions obey the following relation:

$$\Delta(fg) = (S-1)(fg) = f_1g_1 - fg$$

$$= f_1g_1 - f_1g + f_1g - fg$$

$$= f_1\Delta(g) + \Delta(f)g$$

$$= g_1\Delta(f) + f\Delta(g). \qquad (2.1.7)$$

In the following proposition we see a formula for higher power of the difference operator [44].

**Proposition 1.** For higher positive powers of the difference operator we have the general formula

$$\Delta^{m}(fg) = \sum_{r=0}^{m} {m \choose r} \Delta^{r}(f_{m-r}) \Delta^{m-r}(g).$$
(2.1.8)

*Proof.* For m=1 we get

$$\Delta(fg) = \sum_{r=0}^{1} \frac{\Delta^{r}(f_{1-r})\Delta^{1-r}(g)}{r!} = f_{1}\Delta(g) + \Delta(f)g,$$

which is valid due to (2.1.7). Now assume that it holds for  $m \geq 0$ , then we have

$$\Delta^{m+1}(fg) = \Delta \left( \sum_{r=0}^{m} {m \choose r} \Delta^{r}(f_{m-r}) \Delta^{m-r}(g) \right) .$$

Using (2.1.7) it can be written as the sum of the following two terms:

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{r=0}^{m} \binom{m}{r} \Delta^{r}(f_{m+1-r}) \Delta^{m+1-r}(g) + \sum_{r=0}^{m} \binom{m}{r} \Delta^{r+1}(f_{m-r}) \Delta^{m-r}(g) \\ &= \sum_{r=0}^{m} \binom{m}{r} \Delta^{r}(f_{m+1-r}) \Delta^{m+1-r}(g) + \sum_{r=1}^{m+1} \binom{m}{r-1} \Delta^{r}(f_{m+1-r}) \Delta^{m+1-r}(g) \\ &= f_{m+1} \Delta^{m+1}(g) + \left(\sum_{r=1}^{m} \binom{m}{r} + \binom{m}{r-1}\right) \Delta^{r}(f_{m+1-r}) \Delta^{m+1-r}(g) + \Delta^{m+1}(f)g \,. \end{split}$$

Using the identity  $\binom{m}{r} + \binom{m}{r-1} = \binom{m+1}{r}$ , we get

$$\Delta^{m+1}(fg) = \sum_{r=0}^{m+1} {m+1 \choose r} \Delta^r(f_{m+1-r}) \Delta^{m+1-r}(g).$$

Hence for two arbitrary elements  $f,g\in\mathfrak{F}$  we have

$$\Delta^{2}(fg) = \mathcal{S}^{2}(f)\Delta^{2}(g) + 2\Delta(f_{1})\Delta g + \Delta^{2}(f)g.$$

From (2.1.7) we can easily derive the discrete version of integration by parts as the following relation:

$$\Delta^{-1}(\Delta(f)g) = fg - \Delta^{-1}(f_1\Delta(g)). \tag{2.1.9}$$

**Remark 1.** Elements of  $\mathfrak{F}$  are also known as **local** smooth difference functions.

Having defined the space of difference functions we are now ready to define some operators acting on  $\mathfrak{F}$ .

## 2.2 Evolutionary vector fields

In this section we discuss the concept of evolutionary vector fields and how it acts on the space of smooth functions  $\mathfrak{F}$ . We also show that unlike the shift and difference operators, it satisfies the Leibniz rule. We begin the discussion by giving the definition of a vector field.

**Definition 1.** A vector field on  $\mathfrak{F}$  is defined as the following operator:

$$X = \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{\alpha=1}^{m} X_{(i)}^{\alpha} \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{i}^{(\alpha)}} , \qquad X_{(i)}^{\alpha} \in \mathfrak{F}.$$

Notice that since elements of  $\mathfrak{F}$  depend on the finite number of variables, thus the action of X on some smooth function in  $\mathfrak{F}$  produces a finite sum. For example for m=3 and the polynomial  $f=u_1^2v+w_{-2}v_2^2$  we have

$$X(f) = \sum_{i} \left( X_{(i)}^{1} \frac{\partial f}{\partial u_{i}} + X_{(i)}^{2} \frac{\partial f}{\partial v_{i}} + X_{(i)}^{3} \frac{\partial f}{\partial w_{i}} \right)$$
$$= X_{(1)}^{1} (2u_{1}v) + X_{(0)}^{2} u_{1}^{2} + X_{(2)}^{2} 2v_{2}w_{-2} + X_{(-2)}^{3} v_{2}^{2}.$$

One can easily check that for any two elements f and g in  $\mathfrak{F}$  we have

$$\sum_{i\in\mathbb{Z},\alpha}X^\alpha_{(i)}\frac{\partial(fg)}{\partial u^{(\alpha)}_i}=\sum_{i\in\mathbb{Z},\alpha}X^\alpha_{(i)}\frac{\partial f}{\partial u^{(\alpha)}_i}g+f\sum_{i\in\mathbb{Z},\alpha}X^\alpha_{(i)}\frac{\partial g}{\partial u^{(\alpha)}_i}\,,$$

which can be rewritten as

$$X(fg) = (Xf)g + f(Xg)$$
. (2.2.1)

Relation (2.2.1) shows that for the product of two smooth difference functions, the action of a vector field obeys the Leibniz rule. We define the commutator of

two vector fields X and Y naturally as

$$[X,Y] = X \circ Y - Y \circ X. \tag{2.2.2}$$

Basically we are interested in the so-called evolutionary vector fields which commute with the shift operator. Consider a vector field

$$X = \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} X_{(i)}^{\alpha} \frac{\partial}{\partial u_i^{(\alpha)}}.$$

If the following equality holds:

$$0 = \left[\sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} X_{(i)}^{\alpha} \frac{\partial}{\partial u_i^{(\alpha)}}, \mathcal{S}\right],\,$$

then through direct calculation we get

$$X_{(i+1)}^{\alpha} = \mathcal{S}(X_{(i)}^{\alpha}).$$

Thus such a vector field can be identified by the following element:

$$\mathbf{p}\left[\mathbf{u}\right] := (p^1[\mathbf{u}], p^2[\mathbf{u}], \cdots, p^m[\mathbf{u}])^T, \qquad p^i[\mathbf{u}] \in \mathfrak{F},$$

where the corresponding evolutionary vector field is denoted by  $D_{\mathbf{p}}$  and has the form

$$D_{\mathbf{p}} = \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{\alpha=1}^{m} \mathcal{S}^{i}(p^{\alpha}) \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{i}^{(\alpha)}}.$$
 (2.2.3)

From now on for convenience we denote  $\mathfrak{F}^m$  by  $\mathfrak{g}$ . In relation (2.2.3),  $\mathbf{p}$  is called the characteristic function of the evolutionary vector field. For example consider

the following element of  $\mathfrak{g}$ :

$$\mathbf{p} = (u_1 v + v_{-1}^2, u_2 + v)^T.$$

Then according to the formula (2.2.3) the evolutionary vector field assigned to the characteristic  $\mathbf{p}$  is of the form

$$D_{\mathbf{p}} = \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \left( \mathcal{S}^{i}(u_{1}v + v_{-1}^{2}) \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{i}} + \mathcal{S}^{i}(u_{2} + v) \frac{\partial}{\partial v_{i}} \right).$$

Obviously when  $\mathbf{u} = (u)$  is a one component variable, then for any scalar function  $f[\mathbf{u}] \in \mathfrak{F}$  we have

$$D_f = \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{S}^i(f) \frac{\partial}{\partial u_i}.$$

In fact as we expected each evolutionary vector field can be uniquely determined from some element of  $\mathfrak{g}$ . In the following theorem [16] we also show that the space of evolutionary vector fields forms a Lie algebra.

**Theorem 1.** The space of evolutionary vector fields is a Lie algebra with the Lie bracket defined in (2.2.2).

*Proof.* We just need to show that for two elements  $\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{q} \in \mathfrak{g}$  the commutator of the corresponding evolutionary vector field is an evolutionary vector field

$$[D_{\mathbf{p}}, D_{\mathbf{q}}] = D_{\mathbf{p}} D_{\mathbf{q}} - D_{\mathbf{q}} D_{\mathbf{p}}$$

$$= D_{\mathbf{p}} \left( \sum_{i,\alpha} S^{i}(q^{\alpha}) \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{i}^{(\alpha)}} \right) - D_{\mathbf{q}} \left( \sum_{i,\alpha} S^{i}(p^{\alpha}) \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{i}^{(\alpha)}} \right).$$

By expanding the expression,  $\sum_{i,\alpha} S^i(q^{\alpha})(D_{\mathbf{p}} \frac{\partial}{\partial u_i^{(\alpha)}})$  and  $\sum_{i,\alpha} S^i(p^{\alpha})(D_{\mathbf{q}} \frac{\partial}{\partial u_i^{(\alpha)}})$  are

canceled as

$$\sum_{i,\alpha} \mathcal{S}^{i}(q^{\alpha}) (D_{\mathbf{p}} \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{i}^{(\alpha)}}) - \sum_{i,\alpha} \mathcal{S}^{i}(p^{\alpha}) (D_{\mathbf{q}} \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{i}^{(\alpha)}}) = 0.$$

Therefore we get

$$[D_{\mathbf{p}}, D_{\mathbf{q}}] = \sum_{i,\alpha} D_{\mathbf{p}}(\mathcal{S}^{i}(q^{\alpha})) \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{i}^{(\alpha)}} - \sum_{i,\alpha} D_{\mathbf{q}}(\mathcal{S}^{i}(p^{\alpha})) \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{i}^{(\alpha)}}.$$

Now since  $D_{\mathbf{p}}$  and  $D_{\mathbf{q}}$  are evolutionary vector fields they commute with the shift operator and we get

$$\sum_{i,\alpha} \mathcal{S}^{i} \left( D_{\mathbf{p}}(q^{\alpha}) - D_{\mathbf{q}}(p^{\alpha}) \right) \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{i}^{(\alpha)}} = D_{\mathbf{h}},$$

where

$$h^{\alpha} = D_{\mathbf{p}}(q^{\alpha}) - D_{\mathbf{q}}(p^{\alpha}). \tag{2.2.4}$$

Example 1. Consider two elements  $p, q \in \mathfrak{g}$  as

$$\mathbf{p} = (u_1 + v, v_{-1} + u)^T,$$
  
$$\mathbf{q} = (uv_2, uv)^T.$$

We have

$$[D_{p}, D_{q}] = \sum_{i} \mathcal{S}^{i}(h^{1}) \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{i}} + \mathcal{S}^{i}(h^{2}) \frac{\partial}{\partial v_{i}}$$

$$= \sum_{i} \mathcal{S}^{i}(D_{p}(q^{1}) - D_{q}(p^{1})) \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{i}} + \mathcal{S}^{i}(D_{p}(q^{2}) - D_{q}(p^{2})) \frac{\partial}{\partial v_{i}},$$

where

$$D_{p}(q^{1}) = (u_{1} + v)v_{2} + (v_{1} + u_{2})u,$$

$$D_{q}(p^{1}) = u_{1}v_{3} + uv,$$

$$D_{p}(q^{2}) = (u_{1} + v)v + (v_{-1} + u)u,$$

$$D_{q}(p^{2}) = uv_{2} + u_{-1}v_{-1}.$$

Therefore the characteristic function is the following vector valued function:

$$\mathbf{h} = (u_1v_2 + vv_2 + uv_1 + uu_2 - u_1v_3 - uv, u_1v + v^2 + uv_{-1} + u^2 - uv_2 - u_{-1}v_{-1})^T.$$

The corresponding evolutionary vector field becomes

$$D_{\mathbf{h}} = \sum_{i} \mathcal{S}^{i} (u_{1}v_{2} + vv_{2} + uv_{1} + uu_{2} - u_{1}v_{3} - uv) \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{i}} + \mathcal{S}^{i} (u_{1}v + v^{2} + uv_{-1} + u^{2} - uv_{2} - u_{-1}v_{-1}) \frac{\partial}{\partial v_{i}}.$$

Notice that in the differential case (where all independent variables are continuous) the similar concept of evolutionary vector fields is defined with respect to the space derivation [68, 96]. In this case evolutionary vector fields are vector fields that commute with  $D_x$ . The difference between these two definitions lies in the fact that in discrete case  $\mathcal{S}$  is treated as a ring automorphism not a derivation. In the next section we introduce the equivalence class among elements of the ring of smooth functions  $\mathfrak{F}$ .

## 2.3 Space of functionals

In this section we use the difference operator (2.1.6) to introduce the space of functionals. To do this we first explain what we mean by equivalent smooth functions.

**Definition 2.** Two smooth functions f and g in  $\mathfrak{F}$  are called equivalent (i.e.  $f \sim g$ ) if there exists an element  $h \in \mathfrak{F}$  such that

$$f - g = \Delta h. (2.3.1)$$

This is the discrete analogue of the total derivative in the differential case. An obvious example for the above definition is that any shift of an arbitrary element  $f \in \mathfrak{F}$  is equivalent to the original expression

$$f_1 - f = \Delta f$$
,  $f_1 \sim f$ ,

where according to (2.1.5) by  $f_1$  we mean S(f). Therefore according to the transitivity property of equivalence relations we have

$$f_i \sim f$$
.

For a less trivial example one can easily check that  $f = u_1 u_2^2 + 2u u_1^2 + u_{-1} + u$  is equivalent to  $3uu_1^2 + 2u_{-1}$  since

$$(u_1u_2^2 + 2uu_1^2 + u_{-1} + u) - (3uu_1^2 + 2u_{-1}) = \Delta(uu_1^2 + u_{-1}).$$

When f is equivalent to zero we say f is a total difference, that is there exists  $h \in \mathfrak{F}$  such that

$$f = \triangle h$$
.

Based on Definition 2 we can define the quotient space on the ring of smooth difference functions as

$$\mathfrak{F}' = \mathfrak{F}/Im(\mathcal{S}-1)$$
.

For an arbitrary  $f \in \mathfrak{F}$  we denote the equivalence class by the functional

$$\int f$$
.

We define the action of evolutionary vector fields on the space of functionals as follows:

$$D_{\mathbf{p}}(\int f) = \int D_{\mathbf{p}}(f), \quad \mathbf{p} \in \mathfrak{g}, f \in \mathfrak{F}.$$
 (2.3.2)

As an example, for the characteristic function  $\mathbf{p} = (u_1 v, v_{-1} + u)$  and the functional  $\int u^2 v_1$  we have

$$D_{\mathbf{p}}(\int f) = \int \sum_{i} \mathcal{S}^{i}(u_{1}v) \frac{\partial f}{\partial u_{i}} + \mathcal{S}^{i}(v_{-1} + u) \frac{\partial f}{\partial v_{i}}$$
$$= \int (2uu_{1}vv_{1} + vu^{2} + u^{2}u_{1}).$$

The next theorem provides the necessary condition for some function to be a total difference [95].

**Theorem 2.** Let  $f(\mathbf{u}_{\ell}, \mathbf{u}_{\ell-1}, \dots, \mathbf{u}_{\ell'+1}, \mathbf{u}_{\ell'})$  be an element of  $\mathfrak{F}$  such that for some  $1 \leq \alpha, \beta \leq m$  we have

$$\frac{\partial f}{\partial u_{\ell}^{(\alpha)}} \neq 0, \qquad \frac{\partial f}{\partial u_{\ell'}^{(\beta)}} \neq 0.$$

Now if f is a total difference, then

$$\frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial u_\ell^{(\alpha)} \partial u_{\ell'}^{(\beta)}} = 0.$$

*Proof.* Suppose  $f(\mathbf{u}_{\ell}, \mathbf{u}_{\ell-1} \cdots, \mathbf{u}_{\ell'})$  is a smooth function subject to the condition

$$\frac{\partial f}{\partial u_{\ell}^{(\alpha)}} \neq 0, \qquad \frac{\partial f}{\partial u_{\ell'}^{(\beta)}} \neq 0,$$

for some  $1 \leq \alpha, \beta \leq m$ . If f is a total difference then there exists an element  $q(\mathbf{u}_{\ell-1}, \mathbf{u}_{\ell-2}, \cdots, \mathbf{u}_{\ell'}) \in \mathfrak{F}$  such that

$$f = q(\mathbf{u}_{\ell}, \dots, \mathbf{u}_{\ell'+1}) - q(\mathbf{u}_{\ell-1}, \dots, \mathbf{u}_{\ell'}) = q_1 - q.$$
 (2.3.3)

Now according to the structure of q, by differentiating both sides of (2.3.3) with respect to  $u_{\ell}^{(\alpha)}$  and  $u_{\ell'}^{(\beta)}$  we get

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial u_{\ell'}^{(\beta)}} \left( \frac{\partial f}{\partial u_{\ell}^{(\alpha)}} \right) = \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{\ell'}^{(\beta)}} \left( \frac{\partial q_1}{\partial u_{\ell}^{(\alpha)}} \right) = 0.$$

According to this theorem it is obvious that  $u_1u + u_2v$  is not a total difference. In our calculations we encounter so often the relation

$$\Delta(f) = 0,$$

where f is some smooth function. For instance this happens in obtaining the coefficients of formal shift operators or explicit expression of generalised symmetries that will be discussed in chapter 4. The following theorem helps one to specify the explicit form of f [95].

**Theorem 3.** Let  $f \in \mathfrak{F}$  and  $\Delta f = 0$ , then f is a constant function.

*Proof.* Without loss of generality, let f be the non-constant smooth difference

function of the form

$$f(u_{\ell}, u_{\ell-1}, \cdots, u_{\ell'+1}, u_{\ell'}),$$

where

$$\frac{\partial f}{\partial u_{\ell}} \neq 0, \qquad \frac{\partial f}{\partial u_{\ell'}} \neq 0$$
 (2.3.4)

and satisfies the relation

$$f(u_{\ell+1}, u_{\ell}, \cdots, u_{\ell'+2}, u_{\ell'+1}) - f(u_{\ell}, u_{\ell-1}, \cdots, u_{\ell'+1}, u_{\ell'}) = 0.$$

This leads to

$$\frac{\partial f}{\partial u_{\ell'}} = 0 \,,$$

which contradicts with (2.3.4) and hence f is a constant function.

For example let  $g(u_2, u_1, u, u_{-1}, u_{-2})$  be a difference polynomial of its arguments and assume

$$(\mathcal{S} - 1)(\frac{1}{uu_1}\frac{\partial g}{\partial u_2}) = 0.$$

Then we get [95]

$$g = \alpha u u_1 u_2 + G(u_1, u, u_{-1}, u_{-2}),$$

where  $\alpha$  is a constant.

Remark 2. We can naturally extend Definition 2 to elements of  $\mathfrak{g}$ . In fact two elements  $p, q \in \mathfrak{g}$  are equivalent if and only if each corresponding components are equivalent. In other words

$$p \sim q \iff p - q = (S - 1)h, \quad p, q, h \in \mathfrak{g},$$
 (2.3.5)

where (S-1) acts on each component of h.

In the next section we will encounter one of the most important notions which plays the fundamental role in the definition of integrability.

### 2.4 Fréchet derivative

Using the concept of Fréchet derivative we will later define other closely related notions of integrable systems such as generalised symmetries and recursion operators. We start this section with the definition of Fréchet derivative and then several examples are given to clarify the calculations in practice.

**Definition 3.** Let  $p \in \mathfrak{g}$ . Then the Fréchet derivative of p is a linear map acting as

$$p_*(q) = \frac{d}{d\epsilon} p[u + \epsilon q] \bigg|_{\epsilon=0}$$
, (2.4.1)

where q is also an element of  $\mathfrak{g}$ .

In fact to calculate the Fréchet derivative we replace each component  $u_i^{(\alpha)}$  by  $u_i^{(\alpha)} + \epsilon S^i(q^{\alpha})$  and then differentiating with respect to  $\epsilon$  and set  $\epsilon = 0$ . From the definition it is clear that the Fréchet derivative is a linear operator and satisfies the Leibniz rule. In the first example we consider the case in which both elements are scalar functions depending on a single variable u.

**Example 2.** Let f and g be the following scalar functions:

$$f = u_1^2 + uu_{-1} \,,$$

$$g = u^2 + u_1.$$

Then we get

$$f_*(g) = \frac{d}{d\epsilon} \left( (u + \epsilon g)_1^2 + (u + \epsilon g)(u + \epsilon g)_{-1} \right) |_{\epsilon=0}$$

$$= 2u_1 \mathcal{S}(g) + u_{-1}g + u \mathcal{S}^{-1}(g)$$

$$= 2u_1^3 + 2u_1 u_2 + u^2 u_{-1} + u_1 u_{-1} + u u_{-1}^2 + u^2.$$

From this example we can easily see that if f and g are both scalar functions then we have the following formula for the Fréchet derivative:

$$f_*(g) = \sum_i \frac{\partial f}{\partial u_i} S^i(g) . \tag{2.4.2}$$

We proceed with an example in which  $\mathbf{u}$  and  $\mathbf{p}$  are both vector valued functions.

**Example 3.** Assume  $f = u_1v + v_{-1}u$  and let  $\mathbf{p} = (p^1, p^2)^T$  be an arbitrary element of  $\mathfrak{g}$  then

$$f_*(\mathbf{p}) = \frac{d}{d\epsilon} \left( (u_1 + \epsilon \mathcal{S}(p^1))(v + \epsilon p^2) + (v_{-1} + \epsilon \mathcal{S}^{-1}(p^2))(u + \epsilon p^1) \right) |_{\epsilon=0}$$
  
=  $v \mathcal{S}(p^1) + u_1 p^2 + v_{-1} p^1 + u \mathcal{S}^{-1}(p^2)$ .

Notice that when f depends on two variable u and v we denote  $f_{*u}$  and  $f_{*v}$  respectively for the Fréchet derivative with respect to u and v. So in the above example we have

$$f_{*u} = vS + v_{-1},$$
  
 $f_{*v} = u_1 + uS^{-1}.$ 

This calculation can be written in matrix form as

$$f_*(\mathbf{p}) = \begin{pmatrix} f_{*u} & f_{*v} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} p^1 \\ p^2 \end{pmatrix}$$

and in general we have

$$f_*(\mathbf{p}) = \sum_{i=1}^m \left( \sum_j \frac{\partial f}{\partial u_j^{(i)}} \mathcal{S}^j(p^i) \right).$$

In the following example we consider the general case where both functions are elements of  $\mathfrak g$  and we shall find the Fréchet derivative of two components function.

Example 4. Consider two elements of  $\mathfrak{g}$  given in Example 1 as

$$\mathbf{p} = (u_1 + v, v_{-1} + u)^T,$$
  
$$\mathbf{q} = (uv_2, uv)^T.$$

According to the definition of Fréchet derivative we have

$$\mathbf{p}_{*}(\mathbf{q}) = \frac{d}{d\epsilon} \left( (u + \epsilon q^{1})_{1} + (v + \epsilon q^{2}), (v + \epsilon q^{2})_{-1} + (u + \epsilon q^{1}) \right) |_{\epsilon=0}$$

$$= (\mathcal{S}(q^{1}) + q^{2}, \mathcal{S}^{-1}(q^{2}) + q^{1}),$$

which similar to the previous example it can be written in matrix form

$$\mathbf{p}_*(\mathbf{q}) = \begin{pmatrix} p_{*u}^1 & p_{*v}^1 \\ q_{*u}^1 & q_{*v}^1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} q^1 \\ q^2 \end{pmatrix}.$$

This can be simply generalised in the following form to the case in which  $\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{q}$  are

m component vector valued elements of  $\mathfrak{g}$ :

$$\mathbf{p}_{*}(\mathbf{q}) = \begin{pmatrix} p_{*u^{(1)}}^{1} & p_{*u^{(2)}}^{1} & \cdots & p_{*u^{(m)}}^{1} \\ p_{*u^{(1)}}^{2} & p_{*u^{(2)}}^{2} & \cdots & p_{*u^{(m)}}^{2} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ p_{*u^{(1)}}^{m} & p_{*u^{(2)}}^{m} & \cdots & p_{*u^{(m)}}^{m} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} q^{1} \\ q^{2} \\ \vdots \\ q^{m} \end{pmatrix}.$$

We recall that for two elements  $\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{q} \in \mathfrak{g}$  the commutator of corresponding evolutionary vector fields is

$$[D_{\mathbf{p}}, D_{\mathbf{q}}] = D_{\mathbf{h}}$$

where components of  $\mathbf{h}$  are defined as (2.2.4). Now the last example of this section indicates that the characteristic function  $\mathbf{h}$  can be obtained by the use of Fréchet derivative.

Example 5. Let p and q be the two component functions given in Example 1 as

$$\mathbf{p} = (u_1 + v, v_{-1} + u)^T,$$
  
 $\mathbf{q} = (uv_2, uv)^T.$ 

We calculate their Fréchet derivatives as follows:

$$p_*(q) = \frac{d}{d\epsilon} ((u + \epsilon q^1)_1 + (v + \epsilon q^2), (v + \epsilon q^2)_{-1} + (u + \epsilon q^1))|_{\epsilon=0}$$
  
=  $(S(q^1) + q^2, S^{-1}(q^2) + q^1),$ 

$$\mathbf{q}_{*}(\mathbf{p}) = \frac{d}{d\epsilon} \left( (u + \epsilon p^{1})(v + \epsilon p^{2})_{2}, (u + \epsilon p^{1})(v + \epsilon p^{2}) \right) |_{\epsilon=0}$$
$$= (v_{2}p^{1} + u\mathcal{S}^{2}(p^{2}), up^{2} + vp^{1}).$$

One can easily see that the function  $\mathbf{h}$  in Example 1 can be obtained through the following formula:

$$\mathbf{h} = \mathbf{q}_{\star}(\mathbf{p}) - \mathbf{p}_{\star}(\mathbf{q}).$$

Now looking back at the Lie algebra of evolutionary vector fields, clearly we can identify the space of evolutionary vector fields with  $\mathfrak g$  through the following relation between their corresponding characteristic functions:

$$[\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{q}] := \mathbf{q}_{\star}(\mathbf{p}) - \mathbf{p}_{\star}(\mathbf{q}). \tag{2.4.3}$$

The main concern in the next section is introducing the space of difference operators. Examples are also given to show the calculation of Fréchet derivatives on the elements of this space.

## 2.5 Pseudo-difference operator and weakly nonlocal difference operator

We shall study the structure of pseudo-difference operators and the notion of weakly nonlocal difference operator. We will encounter these operators when we talk about Hamiltonian structure and recursion operators.

Let  $M_{\ell \times \ell}(\mathfrak{U})$  denote the space of  $\ell \times \ell$  matrices over  $\mathfrak{U}$  where  $\mathfrak{U}$  is the space of pseudo-difference operators of the form

$$\mathfrak{U} = \{ \sum_{i=-\infty}^{N} f^{(i)}[\mathbf{u}] \mathcal{S}^{i}, \quad f^{(N)}[\mathbf{u}] \neq 0 \},$$

where  $f^{(i)}[\mathbf{u}]$  is an element of  $\mathfrak{F}$ .

**Example 6.** The following matrix is an element of  $M_{2\times 2}(\mathfrak{U})$ :

$$\begin{pmatrix} u(\mathcal{S}^{-1} - \mathcal{S})u & u(1 - \mathcal{S})v \\ v(\mathcal{S}^{-1} - 1)u & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

If we define addition and multiplication on  $\mathfrak{U}$  then naturally we can extend it to the space of  $M_{\ell \times \ell}(\mathfrak{U})$ . In  $\mathfrak{U}$  addition of two elements is defined as the addition of coefficients of shift operators with the same power. Then  $\mathfrak{U}$  forms an associative algebra with the following multiplication:

$$f^{(i)}S^i \circ f^{(j)}S^j = f^{(i)}f_i^{(j)}S^{i+j}$$
. (2.5.1)

For example consider two elements  $L_1 = vS + u_{-2}v_1^2S^{-3}$  and  $L_2 = uS^2 + u_1S^{-1}$ , then we have

$$L_1 \circ L_2 = vu_1 \mathcal{S}^3 + vu_2 + u_{-3}u_{-2}v_1^2 \mathcal{S}^{-1} + u_{-2}^2 v_1^2 \mathcal{S}^{-4}$$
.

For an element  $L \in \mathfrak{U}$  the inverse is also a pseudo-difference operator

$$L^{-1} = \sum_{i=-\infty}^{M} g^{(i)}[\mathbf{u}] \mathcal{S}^{i}, \qquad g^{(M)}[\mathbf{u}] \neq 0,$$

where the coefficients can be uniquely obtained through the relation

$$L^{-1}L = 1.$$

So we have

$$(g^{(M)}\mathcal{S}^{M} + g^{(M-1)}\mathcal{S}^{M-1} + \cdots) \circ (f^{(N)}\mathcal{S}^{N} + f^{(N-1)}\mathcal{S}^{N-1} + \cdots)$$

$$= g^{(M)}f_{M}^{(N)}\mathcal{S}^{N+M} + \left(g^{(M)}f_{M}^{(N-1)} + g^{(M-1)}f_{M-1}^{(N)}\right)\mathcal{S}^{M+N-1} + \cdots = 1.$$

Since  $g^{(M)}f_M^{(N)} \neq 0$  therefore we have M=-N and the first two coefficients are expressed as

$$g^{(M)} = \frac{1}{f_{-N}^{(N)}}, \qquad g^{(M-1)} = -\frac{f_{-N}^{(N-1)}}{f_{-N}^{(N)}f_{-(N+1)}^{(N)}}.$$

So the inverse operator is a pseudo-difference operator of the following form:

$$L^{-1} = \frac{1}{f_{-N}^{(N)}} \mathcal{S}^{-N} - \frac{f_{-N}^{(N-1)}}{f_{-N}^{(N)} f_{-(N+1)}^{(N)}} \mathcal{S}^{-(N+1)} + \cdots$$

Example 7. Consider the operator  $L = u_{-1}S^2 + uvS$ , then

$$L^{-1} = \frac{1}{u_{-3}} \mathcal{S}^{-2} - \frac{u_{-2}v_{-2}}{u_{-3}v_{-4}} \mathcal{S}^{-3} + \cdots$$

Notice that the N-th root of pseudo-difference operators do not lie in the same space. In fact the coefficients will not depend on the finite number of variables. To clarify the issue consider the operator

$$L = \mathcal{S}^2 + u \,,$$

the task is to obtain the root of L. We start with the formal series:

$$L^{\frac{1}{2}} = \mathcal{S} + f^{(0)} + f^{(-1)}\mathcal{S}^{-1} + f^{(-2)}\mathcal{S}^{-2} + \cdots,$$

such that

$$L^{\frac{1}{2}} \circ L^{\frac{1}{2}} = \mathcal{S}^2 + u$$
.

Expanding the left hand side and using (2.5.1) we have

$$S^2 + u = S^2 + (f_1^{(0)} + f_1^{(0)})S + (f_1^{(-1)} + f_1^{(0)} + f_1^{(-1)}) + \cdots$$

Now if we compare the equal power of S, the first two coefficients are expressed as

$$f^{(0)} = 0$$
,  
 $f^{(-1)} = u - u_{-1} + u_2 - u_{-3} + \dots = \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} (-1)^i u_i$ .

So as we can see the coefficient is an infinite series and therefore  $L^{\frac{1}{2}}$  is not an element of  $\mathfrak{U}$ . Considering relation (2.5.1) we can define the commutator of two pseudo-difference operators as

$$[L_1, L_2] = L_1 \circ L_2 - L_2 \circ L_1$$
.

The concept of Fréchet derivative in Definition 3 can be extended to pseudodifference operators. In the following example we calculate the Fréchet derivative of some pseudo-difference operator along a given difference function.

**Example 8.** Let  $L = u_1 S^2 + u S^{-1}$  and consider the following element:

$$q = u_{-1} + u_2 \in \mathfrak{g}$$

then according to the definition of Fréchet derivative we have

$$L_*(g) = \frac{d}{d\epsilon} \left( (u + \epsilon g)_1 S^2 + (u + \epsilon g) S^{-1} \right) |_{\epsilon=0}$$
  
=  $g_1 S^2 + g S^{-1}$   
=  $(u + u_3) S^2 + (u_{-1} + u_2) S^{-1}$ .

In general if L is represented by the following  $m \times m$  matrix of difference

operator:

$$(L)_{ij} = \sum_{k=-\infty}^{N} f_{ij}^{(k)} \mathcal{S}^k,$$

then

$$(L_*(\mathbf{p}))_{ij} = \sum_{k=-\infty}^{N} (f_{ij}^{(k)})_*(\mathbf{p}) \mathcal{S}^k.$$

Example 9. Consider the element

$$L = \begin{pmatrix} u_1 v \mathcal{S}^{-1} - u \mathcal{S} & u_{-2} \mathcal{S} + v_1 \\ v - u \mathcal{S} & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

then for  $\mathbf{p} = (p^1, p^2)^T \in \mathfrak{g}$  we get

$$L_*(\boldsymbol{p}) = \begin{pmatrix} (v\mathcal{S}(p^1) + u_1p^2)\mathcal{S}^{-1} - p^1\mathcal{S} & \mathcal{S}^{-2}(p^1)\mathcal{S} + \mathcal{S}(p^2) \\ p^2 - p^1\mathcal{S} & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Another important concept that we need to introduce is the notion of weakly nonlocal difference operators. The concept of weakly nonlocal pseudo-difference operators are the difference analogues of pseudo-differential operators [49].

**Definition 4.** A weakly nonlocal difference operator is the following finite sum:

$$W = f^{(1)}(S-1)^{-1} \circ g^{(1)} + f^{(2)}(S-1)^{-1} \circ g^{(2)} + \dots + f^{(\ell)}(S-1)^{-1} \circ g^{(\ell)}, \quad (2.5.2)$$

where  $f^{(i)}$  and  $g^{(i)}$  belong to the ring of smooth difference function  $\mathfrak{F}$ .

Later on we see that the most of recursion operators with which we will deal contains (2.5.2). One can easily check that the weakly nonlocal pseudo-difference operators are not closed under the multiplication rule (2.5.1). In fact composition

of two weakly nonlocal pseudo-difference operators is always a pseudo-difference operator but not necessarily weakly nonlocal [58].

#### Example 10. Let

$$W_1 = (S-1)^{-1} \frac{1}{u}, \qquad W_2 = (S-1)^{-1} u,$$

be two weakly nonlocal pseudo-difference operators. Then we have

$$(S-1)^{-1}\frac{1}{u}\circ(S-1)^{-1}u=1+(\frac{u_1}{u}+1)S+(\frac{u_2}{u}+\frac{u_2}{u_1}+1)S^2+\cdots$$

To proceed and introduce important features of integrable differential-difference equations we still need some background on the notion of complex over a Lie algebra and the Lie derivatives. The next section provides these purely algebraic concepts.

## Chapter 3

Discrete variational calculus, Lie derivatives, Hamiltonian, symplectic and Nijenhuis operators

## 3.1 Complex over a Lie algebra

In this chapter we basically follow the general notations and algebraic structures given in [44, 58]. We shall give a quick review of the general theory regarding the construction of a complex over a Lie algebra. Let us start by recalling some basic definitions and notations used in the general setting of complex over Lie algebras. Notice that in what follows we use  $\Omega$  and  $\mathfrak{L}$  respectively to denote the vector space and the Lie algebra.

**Definition 5.** A differential complex is a pair  $(\Omega, d)$  where  $\Omega$  admits the grading

$$\Omega = \bigoplus_{q \ge 0} \Omega^q \tag{3.1.1}$$

and d satisfies the axioms

$$d: \Omega^q \longrightarrow \Omega^{q+1}$$
, (3.1.2)

$$d^2 = 0. (3.1.3)$$

Here d is called the exterior differential. Thus for any complex we have the following infinite sequence:

$$\Omega^0 \xrightarrow{d} \Omega^1 \xrightarrow{d} \Omega^2 \xrightarrow{d} \cdots$$

Now we are ready to provide the concept of a complex over a Lie algebra.

**Definition 6.** Let  $\mathfrak{L}$  be a Lie algebra. For each element  $a \in \mathfrak{L}$  assign the triple  $(\Omega, d, i_a)$  where  $i_a$  is a linear operator

$$i_a:\Omega^q\longrightarrow\Omega^{q-1}$$
.

For any two arbitrary  $a, b \in \mathfrak{L}$  if

$$i_a i_b + i_b i_a = 0, (3.1.4)$$

$$[i_a d + di_a, i_b] = i_{[a,b]},$$
 (3.1.5)

then  $(\Omega, d)$  is called a complex over the Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{L}$ .

Elements of the Lie algebra and  $\Omega^q$  are respectively called vector fields and

q-forms. As a convention when  $\omega$  is a 0-form then  $i_a$  gives the zero vector namely

$$i_a\omega = 0, \qquad \omega \in \Omega^0.$$

Furthermore it satisfies the property

$$i_a i_a \omega = 0, \qquad \omega \in \Omega^q.$$

The pairing between 1-forms and the Lie algebra is defined as

$$< , >: \Omega^1 \times \mathfrak{L} \longrightarrow \Omega^0$$
  
 $(\omega, a) \longmapsto <\omega, a> = i_a \omega.$ 

In a similar way we can define the notation for q-forms. In fact any q-form  $\omega \in \Omega^q$  is an anti-symmetric operator  $\omega : \mathfrak{L} \times \mathfrak{L} \times \cdots \times \mathfrak{L} \longrightarrow \Omega^0$  defined as

$$\omega(a_1, a_2, \cdots, a_q) = i_{a_q} i_{a_{q-1}} \cdots i_{a_1} \omega.$$

Since  $\omega$  is an anti-symmetric operator we have

$$\omega(a_1, a_2, \cdots, a_i, \cdots, a_j, \cdots, a_q) = -\omega(a_1, a_2, \cdots, a_j, \cdots, a_i, \cdots, a_q).$$

**Example 11.** Let  $\mathfrak{L}$  be a Lie algebra and  $\Omega^0$  a left  $\mathfrak{L}$ -module. So we have the following relations between  $\Omega^0$  and  $\mathfrak{L}$ :

$$\mathfrak{L} \times \Omega^0 \longrightarrow \Omega^0$$

$$(a,\omega_0)\longmapsto a\omega_0$$
.

Such that for all  $a, b \in \mathfrak{L}$  and  $\omega \in \Omega^0$  we have

$$a(b\omega) - b(a\omega) = [a, b]\omega$$
.

Now for  $\omega \in \Omega^q$  we define the exterior differential d and the operator  $i_a$  as

$$(d\omega)(a_1, a_2, \dots, a_{q+1}) = \sum_{i} (-1)^{i+1} a_i \omega(a_1, \dots, \hat{a_i}, \dots, a_{q+1})$$
$$+ \sum_{i < j} (-1)^{i+j} \omega([a_i, a_j], \dots, \hat{a_i}, \dots, \hat{a_j}, \dots, a_{q+1}), (3.1.6)$$

$$(i_a\omega)(a_1, a_2, \cdots, a_{q-1}) = \omega(a, a_1, \cdots, a_{q-1}).$$
 (3.1.7)

By direct calculation one can see that d is nilpotent ( $d^2 = 0$ ) and furthermore they meet relations (3.1.4) and (3.1.5). Throughout this thesis we will not deal with the general construction and restrict ourself to the q-forms where q takes the values q = 0, 1, 2.

# 3.2 Complex of discrete variational calculus and adjoint operators

In this section we construct a specific complex over the Lie algebra called the complex of discrete variational calculus. More details when all independent variables are continuous can be found in [15, 31, 30, 89]. The discrete version of the variational complex for difference equations is discussed in [44] and references therein. For differential-difference equations we follow the structured built up in [58]. Here we skip the complete proofs and provide the concepts that we use in our arguments.

Consider the Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}$ , the space of multi component smooth difference functions, together with the quotient space  $\mathfrak{F}'$  which from now on we identify with the space of 0-forms  $\Omega^0$ . According to Example 11 to obtain a complex it is sufficient to show that  $\Omega^0$  is a  $\mathfrak{g}$ -module. For this we first need to define the action of space  $\mathfrak{g}$  on the space of functionals  $\mathfrak{F}'$ . Based on relation (2.3.2) we can naturally define the action of  $\mathfrak{g}$  on  $\mathfrak{F}'$  as follows:

$$\mathbf{p} \cdot \int f := \int D_{\mathbf{p}}(f) = \int \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}, \alpha} S^{i}(p^{(\alpha)}) \frac{\partial f}{\partial u_{i}^{(\alpha)}}$$
$$= \int f_{*}(\mathbf{p}) \qquad \left( \int f \in \mathfrak{F}', \ \mathbf{p} \in \mathfrak{g} \right). \tag{3.2.1}$$

Then we have the following proposition [16].

**Proposition 2.** Let  $\Omega^0 = \mathfrak{F}'$  be the space of 0-forms. Then  $\Omega^0$  is a  $\mathfrak{g}$ -module.

*Proof.* To proof the statement we just need to show that

$$\mathbf{p}(\mathbf{q} \int f) - \mathbf{q}(\mathbf{p} \int f) = [\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{q}] \int f, \quad \mathbf{p}, \mathbf{q} \in \mathfrak{g}, f \in \mathfrak{F}.$$
 (3.2.2)

To do this we refer to the action of  $\mathfrak{g}$  on the space of functionals. Therefore (3.2.2) can equivalently written in the form

$$\int (f_*\mathbf{q})_*(\mathbf{p}) - \int (f_*\mathbf{p})_*(\mathbf{q}) = \int f_*(\mathbf{q}_*\mathbf{p}) - \int f_*(\mathbf{p}_*\mathbf{q}).$$

To prove the above relation we start with the left hand side as

$$(f_*\mathbf{q})_*(\mathbf{p}) - (f_*\mathbf{p})_*(\mathbf{q}) = \left(\sum_i \sum_{j=1}^m \frac{\partial f}{\partial u_i^{(j)}} \mathcal{S}^i(q^j)\right)_*(\mathbf{p}) - \left(\sum_i \sum_{j=1}^m \frac{\partial f}{\partial u_i^{(j)}} \mathcal{S}^i(p^j)\right)_*(\mathbf{q}).$$

Expanding and rearranging the terms, we can write it in matrix form as

$$\left( f_{*u^{(1)}} \ \cdots \ f_{*u^{(m)}} \right) \left( \begin{pmatrix} q_{*u^{(1)}}^1 & q_{*u^{(2)}}^1 & \cdots & q_{*u^{(m)}}^1 \\ q_{*u^{(1)}}^2 & q_{*u^{(2)}}^2 & \cdots & q_{*u^{(m)}}^2 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ q_{*u^{(1)}}^m & q_{*u^{(2)}}^m & \cdots & q_{*u^{(m)}}^m \end{pmatrix} \left( \begin{matrix} p^1 \\ p^2 \\ \vdots \\ p^m \end{matrix} \right) - \left( \begin{matrix} p_{*u^{(1)}}^1 & p_{*u^{(2)}}^1 & \cdots & p_{*u^{(m)}}^1 \\ p_{*u^{(1)}}^2 & p_{*u^{(2)}}^2 & \cdots & p_{*u^{(m)}}^2 \\ \vdots \\ p_{*u^{(1)}}^m & p_{*u^{(2)}}^m & \cdots & p_{*u^{(m)}}^m \end{pmatrix} \left( \begin{matrix} q^1 \\ q^2 \\ \vdots \\ q^m \end{matrix} \right).$$

Therefore we have

$$(f_*\mathbf{q})_*(\mathbf{p}) - (f_*\mathbf{p})_*(\mathbf{q}) = f_*(\mathbf{q}_*(\mathbf{p}) - \mathbf{p}_*(\mathbf{q})) = f_*(\mathbf{q}_*\mathbf{p}) - f_*(\mathbf{p}_*\mathbf{q}),$$

which is the desired conclusion.

After establishing the space of 0-forms now we shall proceed by introducing the elements of 1-forms  $\Omega^1$ . Every 1-form  $\omega \in \Omega^1$  is defined as

$$\omega = \int \sum_{\alpha,i} f^{(\alpha,i)} du_i^{(\alpha)}, \qquad f^{(\alpha,i)} \in \mathfrak{F},$$

where  $\sum$  is a finite sum and  $du_i^{(\alpha)}$ 's are generators of 1-forms and formal dual objects to  $\frac{\partial}{\partial u_i^{(\alpha)}}$  in the following sense:

$$du_i^{(\alpha)}(\frac{\partial}{\partial u_i^{(\beta)}}) = \delta_{ij}\delta_{\alpha\beta}.$$

As an example the following expression denotes a 1-form:

$$\omega = \int u_1^2 v_{-2} du_1 + u^3 v_1 dv + v u dv_{-1}$$
$$= \int f^{(1,1)} du_1 + f^{(2,0)} dv + f^{(2,-1)} dv_{-1}.$$

As we know each element of the Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}$  can be identified by an evolutionary vector field. Therefore the pairing between 1-forms and the Lie algebra is given

as [44, 92]:

$$\omega(\mathbf{p}) := <\omega, \mathbf{p}> = <\int \sum_{i,\alpha} f^{(\alpha,i)} du_i^{(\alpha)}, \int \sum_{j,\beta} \mathcal{S}^j(p^{(\beta)}) \frac{\partial}{\partial u_j^{(\beta)}} >$$

$$= \int \sum_{i,\alpha} f^{(\alpha,i)} \mathcal{S}^i(p^{(\alpha)})$$

$$= \int \sum_{i,\alpha} \mathcal{S}^{-i}(f^{(\alpha,i)}) p^{\alpha}. \tag{3.2.3}$$

In the last step we used the equivalent relation

$$f^{(\alpha,i)}\mathcal{S}^i(p^{(\alpha)}) \sim \mathcal{S}^{-i}(f^{(\alpha,i)})p^{\alpha}$$
.

**Example 12.** Consider the following elements of 1-forms and the Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}$ :

$$\omega = \int u_1^2 v_{-2} du_1 + u^3 v_1 dv + v u dv_{-1},$$
  
$$\mathbf{p} = (uv, u_1 + v_1),$$

then we have

$$<\omega, \mathbf{p}> = \int p^{1} \sum_{i} \mathcal{S}^{-i}(f^{(1,i)}) + p^{2} \sum_{i} \mathcal{S}^{-i}(f^{(2,i)})$$

$$= \int p^{1} \mathcal{S}^{-1}(f^{(1,1)}) + p^{2}(f^{(2,0)} + \mathcal{S}(f^{(2,-1)}))$$

$$= \int u^{3}(vv_{-3} + u_{1}v_{1}) + u_{1}^{2}v_{1} + v_{1}^{2}(u^{3} + u_{1}).$$

Relation (3.2.3) implies that any 1-form can be identified with an element of the Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}$ . In fact an arbitrary 1-form can be written in the form  $\int \sum_{i} \mathcal{S}^{-i}(f^{(\alpha,i)}) du^{(\alpha)}$ . So in the above example we have

$$<\omega, \mathbf{p}> = < (\mathcal{S}^{-1}(u_1^2 v_{-2}), u^3 v_1 + \mathcal{S}(uv)), (uv, u_1 + v_1) >$$
  
=  $\int u^3 (vv_{-3} + u_1 v_1) + u_1^2 v_1 + v_1^2 (u^3 + u_1).$ 

For the pairing (3.2.3) we have the following proposition [16].

#### Proposition 3. The pairing

$$< , >: \Omega^1 \times \mathfrak{g} \longrightarrow \Omega^0,$$

defined in (3.2.3) is non-degenerate.

Proof. To say the map  $<\ ,\ >$  is non-degenerate is equivalent to say that if

$$<\omega, \mathbf{p}> = \int \omega \cdot \mathbf{p} = 0, \quad \forall \omega \in \Omega^1,$$
 (3.2.4)

then  $\mathbf{p} = 0$ . The action of difference operator (2.1.6) is naturally extended to the Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}$  in the following way:

$$(S-1)\mathbf{p} = ((S-1)p^1, (S-1)p^2, \cdots, (S-1)p^m).$$

Now suppose (3.2.4) holds and assume  $\mathbf{p}$  is a non-zero element of  $\mathfrak{g}$ . Let  $\omega$  be an the identity element, namely  $\omega \cdot \mathbf{p} = \mathbf{p}$  then  $\mathbf{p} = (\mathcal{S} - 1)\mathbf{h}$  for some smooth difference function  $\mathbf{h}$ . Now pick the component  $p^{\alpha}(\mathbf{u}_{\ell}, \dots, \mathbf{u}_{\ell'})$  and without loss of generality we can assume for some  $1 \leq i, j \leq m$  we have

$$\frac{\partial p^{\alpha}}{\partial u_{\ell}^{(i)}} \neq 0, \qquad \frac{\partial p^{\alpha}}{\partial u_{\ell'}^{(j)}} \neq 0.$$

According to Theorem 2, since  $p^{\alpha}$  is a total difference  $\frac{\partial^2 p^{\alpha}}{\partial u_{\ell}^{(i)} u_{\ell'}^{(j)}}$  vanishes. On the other hand if we set  $\omega = \mathbf{u}_{\ell}$  then

$$\frac{\partial^2 p^{\alpha}}{\partial u_{\ell}^{(i)} u_{\ell'}^{(j)}} \neq 0.$$

So this contradiction shows that fact that  $\mathbf{p} \equiv 0$ .

In the following definition we present the action of exterior differential on an arbitrary element of 0-form.

**Definition 7.** For any 0-form  $\omega = \int f$  we define the action of exterior differential as

$$\langle d\omega, \boldsymbol{p} \rangle = \langle d \int f, \boldsymbol{p} \rangle = \int \sum \frac{\partial f}{\partial u_i^{(\alpha)}} \mathcal{S}^i(p^{\alpha})$$
$$= \int \sum \mathcal{S}^{-i} (\frac{\partial f}{\partial u_i^{(\alpha)}}) p^{\alpha} = \langle \frac{\delta f}{\delta \boldsymbol{u}}, \boldsymbol{p} \rangle . \tag{3.2.5}$$

where  $\frac{\delta f}{\delta u} = (\frac{\delta f}{\delta u^{(1)}}, \frac{\delta f}{\delta u^{(2)}}, \cdots, \frac{\delta f}{\delta u^{(m)}})^T$  and each component is defined

$$\frac{\delta f}{\delta u^{(\alpha)}} = \sum_{i=\ell'}^{\ell} \mathcal{S}^{-i}(\frac{\partial f}{\partial u_i^{(\alpha)}}) = \sum_{i=\ell'}^{\ell} (\frac{\partial f_{-i}}{\partial u^{(\alpha)}}) = \sum_{i=-\ell}^{-\ell'} \frac{\partial f_i}{\partial u^{(\alpha)}}.$$
 (3.2.6)

Here the symbol  $\frac{\delta}{\delta u^{(\alpha)}}$  is called variational derivative.

From the notion of variational derivative, given already in the above definition, we can deduce the Fréchet derivative of a 0-form  $\omega = \int f$  along an element  $\mathbf{p} \in \mathfrak{g}$ 

$$\omega_*(\mathbf{p}) = \int f_*(\mathbf{p}) = \int \sum_{i=1}^m \left( \sum_j \frac{\partial f}{\partial u^{(i)}_j} \mathcal{S}^j(p^i) \right) \sim \int \sum_{i=1}^m \left( \sum_j \mathcal{S}^{-j} \left( \frac{\partial f}{\partial u^{(i)}_j} \right) \right) p^{(i)}$$
$$= \langle \frac{\delta f}{\delta \mathbf{u}}, \mathbf{p} \rangle .$$

**Example 13.** Consider the following 0-form and the element  $p \in \mathfrak{g}$ :

$$\omega = \int u_1 v_{-1}, \qquad \boldsymbol{p} = (v_1, u_{-1}).$$

To obtain the action of the Fréchet derivative of  $\omega$  along p, we first need to compute

the variational derivative of f

$$\frac{\delta f}{\delta \boldsymbol{u}} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{\delta f}{\delta u} \\ \frac{\delta f}{\delta v} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{S}^{-1}(v_{-1}) \\ \mathcal{S}(u_1) \end{pmatrix}, \quad \boldsymbol{u} = (u, v).$$

Hence we have

$$\omega_*(\mathbf{p}) = \langle \frac{\delta f}{\delta(u,v)}, \mathbf{p} \rangle = \langle (v_{-2}, u_2), (v_1, u_{-1}) \rangle = v_1 v_{-2} + u_2 u_{-1}.$$

The following proposition shows the variational derivative does not depend on the choice of a representative f in the equivalence class  $\int f$ . We just give the sketch of proof, for further details one can read [95].

**Proposition 4.** For two elements  $f, g \in \mathfrak{g}$  if

$$f \sim q$$
,

then

$$\frac{\delta f}{\delta \boldsymbol{u}} = \frac{\delta g}{\delta \boldsymbol{u}}.$$

*Proof.* As f,g are two equivalent smooth difference function therefore for some  $h \in \mathfrak{F}$  we have

$$f - q = (\mathcal{S} - 1)h.$$

Then by direct calculation and considering the dependency of h we obtain

$$\frac{\delta(\mathcal{S}-1)h}{\delta \mathbf{u}}=0.$$

What is still lacking is an explicit description for the action of exterior differential on the space of 1-forms. To do this we need the concept of adjoint operator which will be discussed in the next section.

#### 3.3 Adjoint operator

Besides the elements of the Lie algebra and 1-forms we are interested in the operators acting between these two spaces. For any such operators we assign the notion of adjoint operator.

**Definition 8.** Let  $A: \mathfrak{g} \longrightarrow \mathfrak{g}$  be a linear operator. The corresponding adjoint operator is a map  $A^{\dagger}: \Omega^1 \longrightarrow \Omega^1$  such that

$$< A \mathbf{p}, \omega > = < \mathbf{p}, A^{\dagger} \omega >, \qquad \mathbf{p} \in \mathfrak{g}, \ \omega \in \Omega^{1}.$$

Through the similar way we can define the adjoint operators acting between 1-forms and  $\mathfrak g$  and vise versa. Then we call an operator anti-symmetric if and only if

$$A = -A^{\dagger}$$
.

In practice to obtain the explicit form of the adjoint operator one should notice since  $\langle A\mathbf{p}, \omega \rangle$  lies within the space of 0-forms we can use the equivalence classes to produce  $A^{\dagger}$ . Let us look how this works.

**Example 14.** Let  $\mathcal{H}:\Omega^1\longrightarrow\mathfrak{g}$  be the following operator:

$$\mathcal{H} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & u(\mathcal{S} - 1) \\ (1 - \mathcal{S}^{-1})u & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

according to the definition we have

$$<\mathcal{H}\xi,\omega>=<\xi,\mathcal{H}^{\dagger}\omega>$$
.

As we can identify any 1-form with an element of the Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}$  we can write

$$<\mathcal{H}\left( \begin{array}{c} \xi^1 \\ \xi^2 \end{array} \right), \left( \begin{array}{c} \omega^1 \\ \omega^2 \end{array} \right) > = <\left( \begin{array}{c} \xi^1 \\ \xi^2 \end{array} \right), \mathcal{H}^{\dagger}\left( \begin{array}{c} \omega^1 \\ \omega^2 \end{array} \right) > \ .$$

So expanding the left hand side we have

$$<\mathcal{H}\begin{pmatrix} \xi^{1} \\ \xi^{2} \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} \omega^{1} \\ \omega^{2} \end{pmatrix}> = \int (\xi_{1}^{2}u\omega^{2} - \xi^{2}u\omega^{2} + u\xi^{1}\omega^{1} - u_{-1}\xi_{-1}^{1}\omega^{1})$$

$$\sim \int (\xi^{2}u_{-1}\omega_{-1}^{2} - \xi^{2}u\omega^{2} + u\xi^{1}\omega^{1} - u\xi^{1}\omega_{1}^{1}).$$

Therefore

$$< \begin{pmatrix} \xi^1 \\ \xi^2 \end{pmatrix}, \mathcal{H}^{\dagger} \begin{pmatrix} \omega^1 \\ \omega^2 \end{pmatrix} > = \int (\xi^2 u_{-1} \omega_{-1}^1 - \xi^2 u \omega^2 + u \xi^1 \omega^1 - u \xi^1 \omega_1^1),$$

that means

$$\mathcal{H}^{\dagger} = \left( \begin{array}{cc} 0 & u(1-\mathcal{S}) \\ (\mathcal{S}^{-1}-1)u & 0 \end{array} \right) = -\mathcal{H}.$$

By the similar argument for the operator  $A = f\mathcal{S}^n$  where  $f \in \mathfrak{F}$  one can find that the adjoint operator is

$$A^{\dagger} = \mathcal{S}^{-n} \circ f .$$

Remark 3. If L is a local anti-symmetric scalar difference operator, then it takes the form

$$L = \sum_{i=1}^{N} (f^{(i)} \mathcal{S}^{i} - f_{-i}^{(i)} \mathcal{S}^{-i}).$$

Now we are ready to obtain the explicit formula for  $d\omega$  when  $\omega$  is an arbitrary 1-form. Consider relations (3.1.6) and (3.2.1) then we deduce

$$(d\omega)(\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{q}) = \mathbf{p}\omega(\mathbf{q}) - \mathbf{q}\omega(\mathbf{p}) - \omega([\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{q}])$$

$$= (\omega \cdot \mathbf{q})_*(\mathbf{p}) - (\omega \cdot \mathbf{p})_*(\mathbf{q}) - \omega(\mathbf{q}_*(\mathbf{p}) - \mathbf{p}_*(\mathbf{q}))$$

$$= \langle \omega_* \mathbf{p}, \mathbf{q} \rangle - \langle \mathbf{p}, \omega_* \mathbf{q} \rangle$$

$$= \langle (\omega_* - \omega_*^{\dagger}) \mathbf{p}, \mathbf{q} \rangle . \tag{3.3.1}$$

Notice that in the above computation we have used the following formula:

$$(\omega(\mathbf{q}))_{*}(\mathbf{p}) = \omega_{*}[\mathbf{p}](\mathbf{q}) + \omega(\mathbf{p}_{*}(\mathbf{q})), \qquad (3.3.2)$$

where  $\omega_*[\mathbf{p}]$  is an element of  $\Omega^1$  acting on  $\mathbf{q}$ . It is also worth to give the following remark.

Remark 4. Suppose W is one of the spaces  $\mathfrak{g}$ ,  $\Omega^1$  or the space of linear operators acting in  $\mathfrak{g}$  and  $\Omega^1$  and between these two spaces. For  $\Phi \in W$  the Fréchet derivative is the linear operator  $\Phi_* : \mathfrak{g} \longrightarrow W$  obtained according to the formula (2.4.1).

We say the 1-form  $\omega$  is closed if  $d\omega=0$  and is called exact if there exists  $\xi\in\Omega^0$  such that

$$\omega = d\xi. \tag{3.3.3}$$

Since for any arbitrary 0-form  $\xi$  we have  $d(d\xi) = 0$ , then an exact 1-form  $\omega$  satisfying (3.3.3) is always closed. The following proposition provides a necessary condition for a 1-form to be closed [16, 89].

**Proposition 5.** Let  $\omega \in \Omega^1$  be a 1-form. If  $\omega$  is closed then

$$\omega_* = \omega_*^{\dagger} .$$

*Proof.* As  $\omega$  is a closed 1-form we have

$$d\omega = 0$$
.

According to (3.3.1) for arbitrary  $\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{q} \in \mathfrak{g}$  we have

$$d\omega(\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{q}) = \langle (\omega_* - \omega_*^{\dagger})\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{q} \rangle = 0.$$

Due to arbitrariness of  $\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{q}$  we get the result  $\omega_* = \omega_*^{\dagger}$ .

#### 3.4 Lie derivatives

In this section we shall discuss another operator called the Lie derivative acting on the space of q-forms. This operator plays an essential role in the theory of integrability. In fact given an equation, we will define all the concepts of Hamiltonian structure, symmetries and conserved densities with respect to the Lie derivative.

**Definition 9.** For any element  $p \in \mathfrak{g}$ , the Lie derivative along that element is an element of the space  $Aut(\Omega^q)$  defined as

$$L_{\mathbf{p}} = i_{\mathbf{p}}d + di_{\mathbf{p}}. \tag{3.4.1}$$

According to the structure of the Lie derivative it sends q-forms to q-forms. We give two properties of Lie derivatives in the following proposition [16].

**Proposition 6.** Let  $p, q \in \mathfrak{g}$  be two arbitrary elements of the Lie algebra then we have

1. 
$$L_{p}d = dL_{p}$$
;

2. 
$$[L_p, L_q] = L_{[p,q]}$$
.

*Proof.* To prove the first formula, we calculate the bracket of the Lie derivative  $L_{\mathbf{p}}$  and d

$$[L_{\mathbf{p}}, d] = (i_{\mathbf{p}}d + di_{\mathbf{p}})d - d(i_{\mathbf{p}}d + di_{\mathbf{p}}) = 0.$$

For the second relation we expand the left hand side as

$$[L_{\mathbf{p}}, L_{\mathbf{q}}] = (i_{\mathbf{p}}di_{\mathbf{q}}d + di_{\mathbf{p}}i_{\mathbf{q}}d + di_{\mathbf{p}}di_{\mathbf{q}}) - (i_{\mathbf{q}}di_{\mathbf{p}}d + di_{\mathbf{q}}i_{\mathbf{p}}d + di_{\mathbf{q}}di_{\mathbf{p}})$$
$$= i_{[\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}]}d + di_{[\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}]} = L_{[\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}]}.$$

In the second line we used the property (3.1.5) to obtain the result.

Based on relation (3.4.1), Lie derivatives act on the space of q-forms. We also define Lie derivatives on the elements of the Lie algebra as

$$L_{\mathbf{p}}\mathbf{q} = [\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{q}] = \mathbf{q}_{*}(\mathbf{p}) - \mathbf{p}_{*}(\mathbf{q}), \quad \mathbf{p}, \mathbf{q} \in \mathfrak{g},$$
 (3.4.2)

which is consistent with the second formula in Proposition 6. Now by the property (3.1.5) we have

$$L_{\mathbf{p}}i_{\mathbf{q}} = i_{[\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}]} + i_{\mathbf{q}}L_{\mathbf{p}}$$

and thus the Lie derivative satisfies the Leibniz rule

$$L_{\mathbf{p}}(\omega(\mathbf{q})) = \omega(L_{\mathbf{p}}\mathbf{q}) + (L_{\mathbf{p}}\omega)(\mathbf{q}) \qquad \omega \in \Omega^{1}.$$

Similarly applying the same argument recursively we obtain the following formula for the space of 2-forms:

$$L_{\mathbf{p}}(\omega(\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{h})) = \omega(L_{\mathbf{p}}\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{h}) + \omega(\mathbf{q}, L_{\mathbf{p}}\mathbf{h}) + (L_{\mathbf{p}}\omega)(\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{h}) \qquad \omega \in \Omega^{2}.$$

In general if we extend the Lie derivative to linear operators acting on  $\Omega^0$ ,  $\Omega^1$  and  $\mathfrak{g}$  or between these three spaces, then by Leibniz rule we have the relation [15]

$$(L_{\mathbf{p}}T)\sigma = L_{\mathbf{p}}(T\sigma) - T(L_{\mathbf{p}}\sigma), \qquad (3.4.3)$$

where T is a linear operator and  $\sigma$  can be either an element of 0, 1-forms or the Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}$ . At the end of this section we give the theorem [16, 89] which provides the action of Lie derivative expressed in the Fréchet derivatives. The theorem presents some handy formulae that we shall use in the next chapter where we deal with differential-difference equations.

**Theorem 4.** Let  $p \in \mathfrak{g}$  be a vector field. The action of Lie derivative  $L_p$  is given by the formula

1. 
$$L_{\boldsymbol{p}} \int f = \int f_*(\boldsymbol{p}),$$
  $\int f \in \mathfrak{F}';$ 

2. 
$$L_{\boldsymbol{p}}\omega = \omega_{*}[\boldsymbol{p}] + \boldsymbol{p}_{*}^{\dagger}\omega$$
,  $\omega \in \Omega^{1}$ ;

3. 
$$L_{m p} \mathcal{H} = \mathcal{H}_*[m p] - m p_* \mathcal{H} - \mathcal{H} m p_*^\dagger$$
,  $\mathcal{H}: \Omega^1 o \mathfrak{g}$ ;

4. 
$$L_{m p} \mathcal{I} = \mathcal{I}_*[m p] + \mathcal{I} m p_* + m p_*^\dagger \mathcal{I}$$
,  $\mathcal{I}: \mathfrak{g} o \Omega^1$ ;

5. 
$$L_p \mathcal{R} = \mathcal{R}_*[p] - p_* \mathcal{R} + \mathcal{R} p_*, \qquad \mathcal{R}: \mathfrak{g} \to \mathfrak{g}.$$

*Proof.* The first formula can be obtained directly from the definition of Lie derivatives. For the second formula for an arbitrary  $\mathbf{q} \in \mathfrak{g}$  we have

$$(L_{\mathbf{p}}\omega)\mathbf{q} = L_{\mathbf{p}}(\omega(\mathbf{q})) - \omega(L_{\mathbf{p}}\mathbf{q}).$$

Since  $i_{\mathbf{p}}\omega(\mathbf{q}) = 0$  then the right hand side of the above relation is equal to

$$\omega_*[\mathbf{p}](\mathbf{q}) + \omega(\mathbf{p}_*(\mathbf{q})) = \omega_*[\mathbf{p}](\mathbf{q}) + \mathbf{p}_*^{\dagger}[\omega](\mathbf{q}).$$

Therefore the second property holds as  $\mathbf{q}$  is an arbitrary element. Notice that in the above proof we used Relation (3.3.2). To prove other relations, we take into account the Leibniz rule and follow the same method. So to prove the third formula for an arbitrary  $\omega \in \Omega^1$  we have

$$(L_{\mathbf{p}}\mathcal{H})\omega = L_{\mathbf{p}}(\mathcal{H}\omega) - \mathcal{H}(L_{\mathbf{p}}\omega)$$

$$= [\mathbf{p}, \mathcal{H}\omega] - \mathcal{H}(\omega_{*}\mathbf{p} + \mathbf{p}_{*}^{\dagger}\omega)$$

$$= (\mathcal{H}\omega)_{*}(\mathbf{p}) - \mathbf{p}_{*}(\mathcal{H}\omega) - \mathcal{H}(\omega_{*}\mathbf{p}) - \mathcal{H}(\mathbf{p}_{*}^{\dagger}\omega)$$

$$= \mathcal{H}_{*}[\mathbf{p}](\omega) + \mathcal{H}(\omega_{*}\mathbf{p}) - \mathbf{p}_{*}(\mathcal{H}\omega) - \mathcal{H}(\omega_{*}\mathbf{p}) - \mathcal{H}(\mathbf{p}_{*}^{\dagger}\omega).$$

Again due to the arbitrariness of  $\omega$  we obtain the formula

$$L_{\mathbf{p}}\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{H}_{*}\mathbf{p} - \mathbf{p}_{*}\mathcal{H} - \mathcal{H}\mathbf{p}_{*}^{\dagger}$$
.

For the next relation we calculate the action of the left hand side on some element  ${\bf q}$  in the Lie algebra  ${\mathfrak g}$ 

$$\begin{split} (L_{\mathbf{p}}\mathcal{I})\mathbf{q} &= L_{\mathbf{p}}(\mathcal{I}\mathbf{q}) - \mathcal{I}(L_{\mathbf{p}}\mathbf{q}) \\ &= (\mathcal{I}\mathbf{q})_{*}\mathbf{p} + \mathbf{p}_{*}^{\dagger}\mathcal{I}\mathbf{q} - \mathcal{I}(\mathbf{q}_{*}(\mathbf{p}) - \mathbf{p}_{*}(\mathbf{q})) \\ &= (\mathcal{I}_{*}\mathbf{p} + \mathcal{I}\mathbf{p}_{*} + \mathbf{p}_{*}^{\dagger}\mathcal{I})(\mathbf{q}) \,. \end{split}$$

Finally for the last formula we pick an arbitrary element of the Lie algebra  $\mathbf{q} \in \mathfrak{g}$ , then we have

$$(L_{\mathbf{p}}\mathcal{R})\mathbf{q} = L_{\mathbf{p}}(\mathcal{R}\mathbf{q}) - \mathcal{R}(L_{\mathbf{p}}\mathbf{q})$$

$$= (\mathcal{R}\mathbf{q})_{*}(\mathbf{p}) - \mathbf{p}_{*}(\mathcal{R}\mathbf{q}) - \mathcal{R}(\mathbf{q}_{*}(\mathbf{p}) - \mathbf{p}_{*}(\mathbf{q}))$$

$$= (\mathcal{R}_{*}[\mathbf{p}] - \mathbf{p}_{*}\mathcal{R} + \mathcal{R}\mathbf{p}_{*})(\mathbf{p}).$$

Therefore all the identities hold for a given  $p \in \mathfrak{g}$ .

**Definition 10.** Let  $\mathbf{q} \in \mathfrak{g}$ ,  $\omega \in \Omega^q$  (q = 0, 1, 2) and A be an operator acting in the space of  $\mathfrak{g}$  and  $\Omega^q$  or acting between these spaces. Then they are called invariant along the vector field  $\mathbf{p} \in \mathfrak{g}$  if

$$L_{p}q = 0, \quad L_{p}\omega = 0, \quad L_{p}A = 0.$$
 (3.4.4)

In the following section we discuss the operators acting between the space of 1-forms and the Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}$ .

## 3.5 Symplectic, Hamiltonian and Nijenhuis operators

This section is devoted to the concept of some crucial operators in the theory of integrability. Here we provide the algebraic structures of these operators based on the definitions and theorems given in previous sections. Later on we will show how these operators are related to some features of integrable systems such as symmetries and conserved densities.

For any anti-symmetric linear operator  $\mathcal{I}: \mathfrak{g} \longrightarrow \Omega^1$ , there is a 2-form  $\omega_{\mathcal{I}} \in \Omega^2$  uniquely defined by

$$\omega_{\mathcal{I}}(\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{q}) = \langle \mathcal{I}\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{q} \rangle = -\langle \mathcal{I}\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{p} \rangle.$$
 (3.5.1)

**Definition 11.** An anti-symmetric operator  $\mathcal{I}: \mathfrak{g} \longrightarrow \Omega^1$  is called symplectic iff the corresponding 2-form (3.5.1) is closed, that is,

$$d\omega_{\mathcal{I}} = 0. (3.5.2)$$

Here  $\omega_{\mathcal{I}}$  has the following canonical form:

$$\omega_{\mathcal{I}} = \frac{1}{2} \int du \wedge \mathcal{I} du \,. \tag{3.5.3}$$

**Remark 5.** Since there is a one-to-one correspondence between the symplectic operator  $\mathcal{I}: \mathfrak{g} \longrightarrow \Omega^1$  and 2-form  $\omega_{\mathcal{I}}$  we have

$$L_{\mathbf{p}}\mathcal{I} = (di_{\mathbf{p}} + i_{\mathbf{p}}d)\mathcal{I} = di_{\mathbf{p}}\mathcal{I}. \tag{3.5.4}$$

Notice that as  $\mathcal{I}$  can be treated as a 2-form, therefore  $di_{\mathbf{p}}\mathcal{I}$  is well defined and is equal to  $d\mathcal{I}(\mathbf{p})$ . Also from relation (3.5.2),  $d\mathcal{I} = 0$  which gives the above result. The following theorem [26] can be considered as an alternative equivalent definition of a symplectic operator.

**Theorem 5.** An anti-symmetric operator  $\mathcal{I}: \mathfrak{g} \longrightarrow \Omega^1$  is symplectic if and only if

$$<\mathcal{I}_*[p](q), h>+<\mathcal{I}_*[q](h), p>+<\mathcal{I}_*[h](p), q>=0, \qquad p, q, h \in \mathfrak{g}. (3.5.5)$$

*Proof.* The proof involves calculating the action of 3-form  $d\omega_{\mathcal{I}}$  on arbitrary elements  $\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{q}, \mathbf{h} \in \mathfrak{g}$ 

$$\begin{split} d\omega_{\mathcal{I}}(\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q},\mathbf{h}) &= \mathbf{p}\omega_{\mathcal{I}}(\mathbf{q},\mathbf{h}) - \omega_{\mathcal{I}}([\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}],\mathbf{h}) + cycl. \\ \\ &= \mathbf{p} < \mathcal{I}\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{h} > - < \mathcal{I}(\mathbf{q}_{*}(\mathbf{p}) - \mathbf{p}_{*}(\mathbf{q})), \mathbf{h} > + cycl. \\ \\ &= (\mathcal{I}\mathbf{q})_{*}[\mathbf{p}]\mathbf{h} + \mathbf{h}_{*}(\mathbf{p})\mathcal{I}\mathbf{q} - < \mathcal{I}(\mathbf{q}_{*}(\mathbf{p}) - \mathbf{p}_{*}(\mathbf{q})), \mathbf{h} > + cycl. \\ \\ &= < \mathcal{I}_{*}[\mathbf{p}](\mathbf{q}), \mathbf{h} > + < \mathcal{I}\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{h}_{*}(\mathbf{p}) > - < \mathcal{I}\mathbf{h}, \mathbf{p}_{*}(\mathbf{q}) > + cycl. \end{split}$$

If we write out all the terms we get

$$d\omega_{\mathcal{I}}(\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{q}, \mathbf{h}) = <\mathcal{I}_{*}[\mathbf{p}](\mathbf{q}), \mathbf{h}>+<\mathcal{I}_{*}[\mathbf{q}](\mathbf{h}), \mathbf{p}>+<\mathcal{I}_{*}[\mathbf{h}](\mathbf{p}), \mathbf{q}>,$$

which means  $\mathcal{I}$  is a symplectic operator iff (3.5.5) holds.

Using the Lie derivative one can write an equivalent formula for (3.5.5) as

$$< L_{\mathbf{p}}(\mathcal{I}\mathbf{q}), \mathbf{h}>+ < L_{\mathbf{q}}(\mathcal{I}\mathbf{h}), \mathbf{p}>+ < L_{\mathbf{h}}(\mathcal{I}\mathbf{p}), \mathbf{q}>= 0.$$

**Example 15.** Consider the  $2 \times 2$  matrix operator  $\mathcal{I} : \mathfrak{g} \longrightarrow \Omega^1$  as

$$\mathcal{I} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \frac{1}{1 - uv_1} \mathcal{S} - \frac{1}{1 + uv} \\ \frac{1}{1 + uv} - \mathcal{S}^{-1} \frac{1}{1 - uv_1} & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

According to Definition 8 one can see  $\mathcal{I}$  is an anti-symmetric operator. We can check that  $\mathcal{I}$  is a symplectic operator both based on Definition 11 and Theorem 5. To prove regarding Theorem 5, we should take into account the following relation:

$$\mathcal{I}_*[\mathbf{p}] = \frac{d}{d\epsilon} \mathcal{I}[(u+p^1, v+p^2)] \bigg|_{\epsilon=0}.$$

Also we can show  $\mathcal{I}$  is symplectic by using Definition 11. Then we have

$$\mathcal{I} \begin{pmatrix} du \\ dv \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{dv_1}{1 - uv_1} - \frac{dv}{1 + uv} \\ \frac{du}{1 + uv} - \frac{du_{-1}}{1 - u_{-1}v} \end{pmatrix}.$$

This leads to

$$\begin{split} &\omega_{I} = \frac{1}{2} \int \begin{pmatrix} du \\ dv \end{pmatrix} \wedge \begin{pmatrix} \frac{dv_{1}}{1 - uv_{1}} - \frac{dv}{1 + uv} \\ \frac{du}{1 + uv} - \frac{du_{-1}}{1 - u_{-1}v} \end{pmatrix} \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \int (\frac{1}{1 - uv_{1}} du \wedge dv_{1} - \frac{1}{1 + uv} du \wedge dv + \frac{1}{1 + uv} dv \wedge du - \frac{1}{1 - u_{-1}v} dv \wedge du_{-1}) \\ &= \int (\frac{1}{1 - uv_{1}} du \wedge dv_{1} + \frac{1}{1 + uv} dv \wedge du) \,. \end{split}$$

Since  $dv_1 \wedge dv_1$ ,  $dv \wedge dv$ ,  $du \wedge du$  and  $du_{-1} \wedge du_{-1}$  all vanishes, clearly  $d\omega_{\mathcal{I}} = 0$ 

and  $\mathcal{I}$  is a symplectic operator.

For an operator  $\mathcal{H}:\Omega^1\longrightarrow\mathfrak{g}$  we define the following bracket on the space of functionals:

$$\{ \int f, \int g \}_{\mathcal{H}} = \langle d \int g, \mathcal{H}(d \int f) \rangle = \langle \frac{\delta g}{\delta u}, \mathcal{H}(\frac{\delta f}{\delta u}) \rangle = \int \frac{\delta g}{\delta u} \mathcal{H}(\frac{\delta f}{\delta u}). \quad (3.5.6)$$

Consider the formulae given in Theorem 4 and set  $\xi_1 = \int f, \xi_2 = \int g$  then this bracket can be expressed in terms of the Lie derivative as

$$\{\int f, \int g\}_{\mathcal{H}} = L_{\mathcal{H}(d\xi_1)}\xi_2.$$

Now we define a Hamiltonian operator with respect to the Poisson bracket as follows.

**Definition 12.** An anti-symmetric operator  $\mathcal{H}:\Omega^1\longrightarrow\mathfrak{g}$  is called Hamiltonian if and only if the bracket (3.5.6) is a Poisson bracket, that is

$$\{ \int f, \{ \int g, \int h \}_{\mathcal{H}} \}_{\mathcal{H}} + \{ \int g, \{ \int h, \int f \}_{\mathcal{H}} \}_{\mathcal{H}} + \{ \int h, \{ \int f, \int g \}_{\mathcal{H}} \}_{\mathcal{H}} = 0.$$

The definition of Hamiltonian operators can be rewritten in terms of Fréchet derivative. In the following theorem [5] we give an alternative relation by which one can check if a given operator  $\mathcal{H}:\Omega^1\longrightarrow\mathfrak{g}$  is Hamiltonian.

**Theorem 6.** An anti-symmetric operator  $\mathcal{H}: \Omega^1 \longrightarrow \mathfrak{g}$  is Hamiltonian if and only if for any  $\omega_1, \omega_2, \omega_3 \in \Omega^1$ 

$$<\mathcal{H}_{*}[\mathcal{H}\omega_{2}](\omega_{3}), \omega_{1}>+<\mathcal{H}_{*}[\mathcal{H}\omega_{3}](\omega_{1}), \omega_{2}>+<\mathcal{H}_{*}[\mathcal{H}\omega_{1}](\omega_{2}), \omega_{3}>=0.$$
 (3.5.7)

The main idea of the proof is similar to the process given in the proof of Theorem 5. For the detailed proof we refer the reader to [5, 68, 91]. Relation

(3.5.7) can be expressed in terms of the Lie derivative as

$$< L_{\mathcal{H}\omega_1}\omega_2, \mathcal{H}\omega_3 > + < L_{\mathcal{H}\omega_2}\omega_3, \mathcal{H}\omega_1 > + < L_{\mathcal{H}\omega_3}\omega_1, \mathcal{H}\omega_2 > = 0.$$
 (3.5.8)

Example 16. Consider the difference operator

$$\mathcal{H} = uu_1 \mathcal{S} - uu_{-1} \mathcal{S}^{-1}.$$

It is easy to check that  $\mathcal{H} = -\mathcal{H}^{\dagger}$ . Then relation (3.5.7) can be obtained through direct calculation, by substituting equivalent terms. Here we expand the last term  $\langle \mathcal{H}_*[\mathcal{H}\omega_1](\omega_2), \omega_3 \rangle$  as

$$<\mathcal{H}_{*}[\mathcal{H}\omega_{1}](\omega_{2}), \omega_{3}> = u\mathcal{S}(\mathcal{H}(\omega_{1}))\mathcal{S}(\omega_{2})\omega_{3} + u_{1}\mathcal{H}(\omega_{1})\mathcal{S}(\omega_{2})\omega_{3}$$

$$-u\mathcal{S}^{-1}(\mathcal{H}(\omega_{1}))\mathcal{S}^{-1}(\omega_{2})\omega_{3} - u_{-1}\mathcal{H}(\omega_{1})\mathcal{S}^{-1}(\omega_{2})\omega_{3} = uu_{1}u_{2}\mathcal{S}^{2}(\omega_{1})\mathcal{S}(\omega_{2})\omega_{3}$$

$$-u^{2}u_{1}\omega_{1}\mathcal{S}(\omega_{2})\omega_{3} + uu_{1}^{2}\mathcal{S}(\omega_{1})\mathcal{S}(\omega_{2})\omega_{3} - uu_{-1}u_{1}\mathcal{S}^{-1}(\omega_{1})\mathcal{S}(\omega_{2})\omega_{3}$$

$$-u^{2}u_{-1}\omega_{1}\mathcal{S}^{-1}(\omega_{2})\omega_{3} + uu_{-1}u_{-2}\mathcal{S}^{-2}(\omega_{1})\mathcal{S}^{-1}(\omega_{2})\omega_{3}$$

$$-uu_{-1}u_{1}\mathcal{S}(\omega_{1})\mathcal{S}^{-1}(\omega_{2})\omega_{3} + u_{-1}u_{2}\mathcal{S}^{-1}(\omega_{1})\mathcal{S}^{-1}(\omega_{2})\omega_{3}.$$

Now if we substitute the cyclic permutations of  $\{\omega_1, \omega_2, \omega_3\}$ , all terms cancel and we get the result.

**Proposition 7.** Let  $\mathcal{H}: \Omega^1 \longrightarrow \mathfrak{g}$  be a Hamiltonian operator then for some 1-form  $\omega \in \Omega^1$  we have

$$L_{\mathcal{H}(\omega)}\mathcal{H} = -\mathcal{H} \circ d\omega \circ \mathcal{H}. \tag{3.5.9}$$

The idea of the proof is to consider  $\langle \xi_1, (L_{\mathcal{H}(\omega)}\mathcal{H})\xi_2 \rangle + \langle \xi_1, (\mathcal{H} \circ d\omega \circ \mathcal{H})\xi_2 \rangle$ and use the property of adjoint operator and the fact that  $\mathcal{H}$  is a Hamiltonian operator. Notice that we treat  $d\omega$  as an operator from  $\mathfrak{g}$  to  $\Omega^1$  and according to relation (3.3.1) we have  $d\omega = \omega_* - \omega_*^{\dagger}$ . The complete proof can be found in [5]. As we can see to check whether an anti-symmetric operator  $\mathcal{H}$  satisfies condition (3.5.7) is sometimes a cumbersome task. In [68] relation (3.5.7) is formulated in terms of a tri-vector which makes the calculation much easier.

In general if  $\mathcal{H}_1$  and  $\mathcal{H}_2$  are two Hamiltonian operators there is no guarantee that the linear combination is again a Hamiltonian operator.

**Definition 13.** Let  $\mathcal{H}_1$  and  $\mathcal{H}_2$  be two Hamiltonian operators. They are called a compatible pair if  $\mathcal{H}_1 + \lambda \mathcal{H}_2$  is a Hamiltonian operator for an arbitrary constant  $\lambda$ .

For a symplectic and Hamiltonian operators we have the following definition as a compatible pair.

**Definition 14.** Let  $\mathcal{H}$  and  $\mathcal{I}$  be respectively a Hamiltonian and a symplectic operator. We say that the pair  $(\mathcal{H}, \mathcal{I})$  is compatible if  $\mathcal{IHI}$  is also a symplectic operator.

There is an equivalent definition for compatibility of Hamiltonian and symplectic operators which involves the notion of Nijenhuis operator which will be introduced in the next definition. In Theorem 8 we show how these two definition are related.

**Remark 6.** Let  $\mathcal{H}_1$  and  $\mathcal{H}_2$  form a compatible Hamiltonian pair. If  $\mathcal{H}_2$  is invertible then  $(\mathcal{H}_1, \mathcal{H}_2^{-1})$  is also a compatible pair.

In what follows we introduce and analyze the properties of another important operator in the theory of integrability called Nijenhuis or hereditary operators. The name was first given by Fuchssteiner in [23]. In [30] also the Nijenhuis operator is discussed under the name of regular operators. More details and properties

of Nijenhuis operators and the interrelations between Hamiltonian pairs can be found in series of articles and books [16, 20, 26, 30].

**Definition 15.** A linear map  $\mathcal{R}: \mathfrak{g} \longrightarrow \mathfrak{g}$  is called Nijenhuis if it satisfies the condition

$$[\mathcal{R}\boldsymbol{p}, \mathcal{R}\boldsymbol{q}] - \mathcal{R}[\mathcal{R}\boldsymbol{p}, \boldsymbol{q}] - \mathcal{R}[\boldsymbol{p}, \mathcal{R}\boldsymbol{q}] + \mathcal{R}^2[\boldsymbol{p}, \boldsymbol{q}] = 0, \qquad \boldsymbol{p}, \boldsymbol{q} \in \mathfrak{g}. \quad (3.5.10)$$

This relation can be expressed in terms of Lie derivatives as

$$L_{\mathcal{R}_{\mathbf{p}}}\mathcal{R}\mathbf{q} - \mathcal{R}L_{\mathcal{R}_{\mathbf{p}}}\mathbf{q} - \mathcal{R}L_{\mathbf{p}}\mathcal{R} \cdot \mathbf{q} + \mathcal{R}^{2}L_{\mathbf{p}}\mathbf{q} = 0$$
.

Now if we consider the left hand side as an action of some operator on a vector field  $\mathbf{q} \in \mathfrak{g}$  then it is equivalent to

$$L_{\mathcal{R}\mathbf{p}}\mathcal{R} = \mathcal{R}L_{\mathbf{p}}\mathcal{R}, \qquad \mathbf{p} \in \mathfrak{g}.$$
 (3.5.11)

In the next chapter we will study one of the main feature of integrable systems namely generalised symmetries. Here the next theorem build up the basis of producing infinite number of such quantities (i.e. symmetries)[15].

**Theorem 7.** Let  $\mathcal{R}$  be a Nijenhuis operator and  $\mathbf{p} \in \mathfrak{g}$  be an element such that  $L_{\mathbf{p}}\mathcal{R} = 0$ . Moreover consider infinite elements of  $\mathfrak{g}$  obtained by  $\mathcal{R}^{i}\mathbf{p}$  for  $i \geq 0$ . Then the following conditions hold:

1.  $\mathcal{R}$  is invariant along the vector field  $\mathcal{R}^i p$  which is equivalent to say

$$L_{\mathcal{R}^i p} \mathcal{R} = 0$$
;

2. For arbitrary  $i, j \geq 0$  the bracket  $[\mathcal{R}^i(\boldsymbol{p}), \mathcal{R}^j(\boldsymbol{p})]$  vanishes which in terms of

the Lie derivative can be written as

$$L_{\mathcal{R}^i p} \mathcal{R}^j p = 0$$
.

*Proof.* The first statement follows simply by induction on i and the definition of Nijenhuis operator. For the second part, using Leibniz rule of the Lie derivative (3.4.3) we have

$$[\mathcal{R}^i \mathbf{p}, \mathcal{R}^j \mathbf{p}] = L_{\mathcal{R}^i \mathbf{p}}(\mathcal{R}^j \mathbf{p}) = (L_{\mathcal{R}^i \mathbf{p}} \mathcal{R}^j) \mathbf{p} + \mathcal{R}^j (L_{\mathcal{R}^i \mathbf{p}} \mathbf{p}).$$

According to the first part of theorem  $L_{\mathcal{R}^i\mathbf{p}}\mathcal{R}^j$  vanishes and we get

$$[\mathcal{R}^i \mathbf{p}, \mathcal{R}^j \mathbf{p}] = -\mathcal{R}^j (L_{\mathbf{p}} \mathcal{R}^i \mathbf{p}),$$

where clearly is equal to zero as  $\mathcal{R}^{j}(L_{\mathbf{p}}\mathcal{R}^{i}\mathbf{p}) = \mathcal{R}^{j+i}(L_{\mathbf{p}}\mathbf{p}) = 0.$ 

The relation between compatible pairs and Nijenhuis operator is presented in the following theorem [5, 26]. Later on this theorem provide the criteria for the construction of the recursion operators.

**Theorem 8.** Suppose a symplectic operator  $\mathcal{I}$  and a Hamiltonian operator  $\mathcal{H}$  form the compatible pair. Then the operator  $\mathcal{R} = \mathcal{H}\mathcal{I}$  is a Nijenhuis operator.

*Proof.* To prove the theorem it is sufficient to show that

$$L_{\mathcal{R}\mathbf{p}}\mathcal{R} = \mathcal{R}L_{\mathbf{p}}\mathcal{R}, \qquad \mathcal{R} = \mathcal{H}\mathcal{I}, \ \mathbf{p} \in \mathfrak{g}.$$

From (3.4.3) we have

$$L_{\mathcal{R}\mathbf{p}}(\mathcal{H}\mathcal{I}) - \mathcal{R}L_{\mathbf{p}}\mathcal{R} = \mathcal{H}(L_{\mathcal{H}\mathcal{I}(\mathbf{p})}\mathcal{I}) + (L_{\mathcal{H}\mathcal{I}(\mathbf{p})}\mathcal{H})\mathcal{I} - \mathcal{R}L_{\mathbf{p}}\mathcal{R}.$$

The second term on the right hand side can be written in an equivalent way by considering relations (3.5.4) and (3.5.9)

$$L_{\mathcal{R}\mathbf{p}}(\mathcal{H}\mathcal{I}) - \mathcal{R}L_{\mathbf{p}}\mathcal{R} = \mathcal{H}(L_{\mathcal{H}\mathcal{I}(\mathbf{p})}\mathcal{I}) - (\mathcal{H} \circ d\mathcal{I}\mathbf{p} \circ \mathcal{H})\mathcal{I} - \mathcal{R}L_{\mathbf{p}}\mathcal{R}$$

$$= \mathcal{H}(L_{\mathcal{H}\mathcal{I}(\mathbf{p})}\mathcal{I}) - \mathcal{H}(L_{\mathbf{p}}\mathcal{I})\mathcal{H}\mathcal{I} - \mathcal{R}L_{\mathbf{p}}\mathcal{R}$$

$$= \mathcal{H}\left(L_{\mathcal{R}(\mathbf{p})}\mathcal{I} - (L_{\mathbf{p}}\mathcal{I})\mathcal{R} - \mathcal{I}L_{\mathbf{p}}\mathcal{R}\right)$$

$$= \mathcal{H}\left(L_{\mathcal{R}(\mathbf{p})}\mathcal{I} - L_{\mathbf{p}}(\mathcal{I}\mathcal{R})\right).$$

From (3.5.4) and the fact that  $\mathcal{IR} = \mathcal{IHI}$  is a symplectic operator the left hand side is equal to

$$\mathcal{H}\left(d\mathcal{I}\mathcal{R}(\mathbf{p}) - L_{\mathbf{p}}(\mathcal{I}\mathcal{R})\right) = 0$$
,

which proves the theorem.

To summarize these two chapters: we have constructed the ring of differential-difference functions and the corresponding quotient space as the space of 0-forms. The concepts of Hamiltonian, symplectic and Nijenhuis operators were also discussed in terms of Lie derivatives and Fréchet derivative. In the next chapter we will see the application of these algebraic structures to differential-difference equations.

### Chapter 4

## **Evolutionary**

## differential-difference equations

This chapter is basically devoted to the integrable differential-difference equations in (1+1)-dimension. As it is known, there is not a unique definition for the integrability of nonlinear evolutionary equations. For instance equations which are solvable through the inverse scattering method are usually called S-integrable [10, 94]. Also equations that are linearizable or in other words can be transformed to a linear equations are called C-integrable. In this chapter we will define integrability based on the concept of generalised symmetries. The common feature of C-integrable and S-integrable equations is that these equations possess infinitely many generalised symmetries.

## 4.1 (1+1)-dimensional differential-difference equations

A (1+1)-dimensional evolutionary differential-difference equation has the following general form:

$$\mathbf{u}_t = (K^1[\mathbf{u}], K^2[\mathbf{u}], \cdots, K^m[\mathbf{u}]) = \mathbf{K} [\mathbf{u}], \qquad (4.1.1)$$

where  $\mathbf{u}=(u^{(1)},u^{(2)},\cdots,u^{(m)})^T$  ,  $K^i\in\mathfrak{F}$  and the time derivative is naturally denoted as

$$\frac{\partial \mathbf{u}}{\partial t} = \mathbf{u}_t = (u_t^{(1)}, u_t^{(2)}, \cdots, u_t^{(m)})^T.$$

In fact to each element  $\mathbf{K} \in \mathfrak{g}$  one can associate an equation (4.1.1) and the derivation

$$D_t = \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{\alpha=1}^m S^i(K^\alpha) \frac{\partial}{\partial u_i^{(\alpha)}}.$$
 (4.1.2)

If m = 1 then (4.1.1) is called the scalar equation. A well-known example of scalar differential-difference equation is the Volterra equation [88]

$$u_t = u(u_1 - u_{-1}). (4.1.3)$$

In the case that  $m \geq 2$  we have system of equations called m-component differential-difference equations. Toda is an example of two component differential-difference equation [85]

$$\begin{cases} u_t = u(v_1 - v), \\ v_t = u - u_{-1}. \end{cases}$$
 (4.1.4)

It is known that the above equations possess rich mathematical structures associated with integrability such as infinitely many generalised symmetries and conserved densities, recursion operators and master symmetries. In the following sections we explain these properties and provide more examples.

#### 4.2 Generalised symmetries and integrability

Traditionally symmetries of equations are defined as transformations which map solutions of the equation into solutions [54]. Symmetries that are function of both dependent and independent variables are called point symmetries. The following two examples are examples of point symmetries (i.e. scaling symmetry) respectively for the Volterra (4.1.3) and the Toda (5.2.6) equations:

$$(u,t) \longmapsto (\lambda \ u, \lambda^{-1}t) = (\hat{u}, \hat{t}), \tag{4.2.1}$$

$$(u, v, t) \longmapsto (\lambda \ u, \lambda^2 v, \lambda^{-1} t) = (\hat{u}, \hat{v}, \hat{t}). \tag{4.2.2}$$

In fact one can easily check that  $(\hat{u}, \hat{t})$  and  $(\hat{u}, \hat{v}, \hat{t})$  satisfy the same relations as (4.1.3) and (4.1.4). We are interested in other type of symmetries which depend only on the dependent variable and its shifts. These kind of symmetries are known as generalised symmetries. Before we give more precise definition of the generalised symmetry we discussed the steps that clarify our definition. Suppose

$$\mathbf{u}_{\tau} = (G^1[\mathbf{u}], G^2[\mathbf{u}], \cdots, G^m[\mathbf{u}]) = \mathbf{G}[\mathbf{u}],$$

is an equation which has a common solution with the differential-difference equation (4.1.1). Therefore we have

$$u_{\tau t}^{(i)} = G_t^i[\mathbf{u}] = \sum_{\beta=1}^m \sum_{j_\beta} u_{j_\beta t}^{(\beta)} \frac{\partial G^i}{\partial u_{j_\beta}^{(\beta)}} = \sum_{\beta=1}^m \sum_{j_\beta} \mathcal{S}^{j_\beta}(K^\beta) \frac{\partial G^i}{\partial u_{j_\beta}^{(\beta)}} = \sum_{\beta=1}^m G_{*u^{(\beta)}}^i(K^\beta).$$

On the other hand in a similar way we can obtain

$$u_{t\tau}^{(i)} = \sum_{\beta=1}^{m} K_{*u^{(\beta)}}^{i}(G^{\beta}).$$

If we calculate all components as above we get

$$\mathbf{u}_{t\tau} - \mathbf{u}_{\tau t} = \begin{pmatrix} K_{*u^{(1)}}^{1} & \cdots & K_{*u^{(m)}}^{1} \\ K_{*u^{(1)}}^{2} & \cdots & K_{*u^{(m)}}^{2} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ K_{*u^{(1)}}^{m} & \cdots & K_{*u^{(m)}}^{m} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} G^{1} \\ G^{2} \\ \vdots \\ G^{m} \end{pmatrix} - \begin{pmatrix} G_{*u^{(1)}}^{1} & \cdots & G_{*u^{(m)}}^{1} \\ G_{*u^{(1)}}^{2} & \cdots & G_{*u^{(m)}}^{2} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ G^{m} & \cdots & G_{*u^{(n)}}^{m} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} K^{1} \\ K^{2} \\ \vdots \\ K^{m} \end{pmatrix} = 0.$$

This procedure can be formulated more compact in the following definition.

**Definition 16.** Let  $G[\mathbf{u}] = (G^1[\mathbf{u}], G^2[\mathbf{u}], \dots, G^m[\mathbf{u}])$  be an element of  $\mathfrak{g}$ . It is called a generalised symmetry of equation (4.1.1) if and only if

$$[K, G] = G_*(K) - K_*(G) = 0.$$
 (4.2.3)

Thus according to above definition one can easily check that the following expressions G and G' are respectively generalised symmetry of the scalar Volterra and the two component Toda equations:

$$\mathbf{G} = uu_1(u_2 + u_1 + u) - uu_{-1}(u + u_{-1} + u_{-2}),$$

$$\mathbf{G}' = \begin{cases} u(v_1^2 - v^2 + u_1 - u_{-1}), \\ u(v_1 + v) - u_{-1}(v_{-1} + v). \end{cases}$$

Definition 16 can be written in an equivalent way with respect to Lie derivatives. In fact  $G \in \mathfrak{g}$  is a generalised symmetry for differential-difference equation (4.1.1) if and only if

$$L_{\mathbf{K}}\mathbf{G} = 0. \tag{4.2.4}$$

Now we are ready to give the concept of integrability based on generalised symmetries.

**Definition 17.** Differential-difference equation (4.1.1) is called integrable iff it possesses infinitely many commuting generalised symmetries.

According to this definition we are motivated to find some methods or tools by which one can construct infinite series of generalised symmetries and consequently guarantee the integrability. In section (4.4) we introduce one of these tools called recursion operators. The next section discusses another feature of integrable systems namely conserved densities.

#### 4.3 Conserved densities and co-symmetries

Here we define the notion of conservation laws regarding some differential-difference equation (4.1.1). As given in [95], by introducing the canonical conservation laws one can obtain integrability conditions for a differential-difference equation (4.1.1). In fact they are necessary conditions for the existence of infinitely many generalised symmetries which guarantees integrability.

**Definition 18.** Let  $\int \rho$  be an element of  $\mathfrak{F}'$ . We call  $\int \rho$  a conserved density of equation (4.1.1) if it is invariant along the vector field  $\mathbf{K}$ , i.e.

$$L_K \int \rho = 0. \tag{4.3.1}$$

According the formulae in Theorem 4 if we expand Relation (4.3.1) we get

$$L_{\mathbf{K}} \int \rho = \int \rho_{*}(\mathbf{K}) = \langle d \int \rho, \mathbf{K} \rangle = \langle \frac{\delta \rho}{\delta u}, \mathbf{K} \rangle = 0.$$
 (4.3.2)

So based on the above relation in order to check if a given  $\int \rho$  is a conserved density we first calculate the variational derivative of  $\rho$  and then multiplying by the equation **K** should produce some expression which is a total difference.

**Example 17.** Functionals  $\int \ln u$  and  $\int (u + \frac{1}{2}v^2)$  are respectively the conserved densities of the Volterra and the Toda equations with the following conservation laws:

$$(\frac{\delta \ln u}{\delta u}) u(u_1 - u_{-1}) = (\mathcal{S} - 1)(u + u_{-1}),$$

$$\frac{\delta (\int u + \frac{1}{2} v^2)}{\delta u} \cdot (u(v_1 - v), u - u_{-1}) = (\mathcal{S} - 1)u_{-1}v.$$

In fact relation (4.3.1) can be expressed in terms of the difference operator as follows:

$$L_{\mathbf{K}} \int \rho = (S-1)J, \qquad J \in \mathfrak{F}.$$

In this relation J is known as the corresponding flux for the conserved density  $\int \rho$ . In [32, 35] one can find the algorithmic process of constructing the conserved densities and their corresponding fluxes which are polynomial on their variables. We proceed by introducing the so-called **co-symmetries** that are closely related to conserved densities.

**Definition 19.** A 1-form  $\omega \in \Omega^1$  is called a co-symmetry of differential-difference equation (4.1.1) if

$$L_{\mathbf{K}}\omega = 0. \tag{4.3.3}$$

**Example 18.** Consider the 1-form  $\omega = \int (u_{-1} + u + u_1) du$ . From (3.2.3) we can identify  $\omega$  with the vector field  $(u_{-1} + u + u_1)$ . Using the formula in Theorem 4 we can show

that  $\omega$  is invariant along the Volterra equation

$$L_{u(u_1-u_{-1})}\omega = (\mathcal{S}^{-1}+1+\mathcal{S})(u(u_1-u_{-1})) + (u_1-u_{-1})\omega + u_{-1}\mathcal{S}^{-1}(\omega) - u_1\mathcal{S}(\omega) = 0.$$

If we look more closely at the structure of  $\omega$  we can see that it is the variational derivative of the 0-form

$$\int (uu_1 + \frac{1}{2}u^2),$$

where  $\int (uu_1 + \frac{1}{2}u^2)$  itself is a conserved density of the Volterra equation. Actually it is not an exception and we have the following proposition [89] for the relation between conserved densities and co-symmetries.

**Proposition 8.** Consider the differential-difference equation (4.1.1). If  $\int \rho \in \Omega^0$  is a conserved density then  $\frac{\delta \rho}{\delta u}$  is its co-symmetry.

*Proof.* Consider an element of 0-forms  $\int \rho \in \Omega^0$ . Then we have

$$L_{\mathbf{K}}d\int \rho = L_{\mathbf{K}}\frac{\delta\rho}{\delta u}.$$

On the other hand according to Proposition 6 that  $[L_{\mathbf{K}}, d] = 0$  we have

$$L_{\mathbf{K}}d\int \rho = dL_{\mathbf{K}}\int \rho = 0$$
.

Since  $\rho$  is a conserved density, we have

$$L_{\mathbf{K}} \frac{\delta \rho}{\delta u} = 0.$$

In the next section we discuss operators that are closely related to the integrability of differential-difference equations. In fact they provide a tool to produce the series of generalised symmetries.

## 4.4 Hamiltonian, symplectic and recursion operators

In this section we employ the concepts of Hamiltonian, symplectic and recursion operators for a differential-difference equation (4.1.1). We will also provide the definition of Hamiltonian systems which guarantees the integrability of the system.

**Definition 20.** Hamiltonian operator  $\mathcal{H}:\Omega^1\longrightarrow \mathfrak{g}$  is a Hamiltonian operator for equation (4.1.1) if and only if

$$L_{K}\mathcal{H} = 0. \tag{4.4.1}$$

As we saw earlier in Example 16, the difference operator

$$\mathcal{H} = uu_1 \mathcal{S} - uu_{-1} \mathcal{S}^{-1} \,, \tag{4.4.2}$$

is a Hamiltonian operator. Now one can check that it is the Hamiltonian operator for the Volterra equation (4.1.3) indeed we have

$$\mathcal{H}_{*}[\mathbf{K}] = (u_{1}\mathbf{K} + u\mathcal{S}(\mathbf{K})) \,\mathcal{S} - (u_{-1}\mathbf{K} + u\mathcal{S}^{-1}(\mathbf{K}))\mathcal{S}^{-1} ,$$

$$\mathbf{K}_{*} = (u_{1} - u_{-1}) + u\mathcal{S} - u\mathcal{S}^{-1} ,$$

$$\mathbf{K}_{*}^{\dagger} = (u_{1} - u_{-1}) + u_{-1}\mathcal{S}^{-1} - u_{1}\mathcal{S} .$$

Therefore

$$L_{\mathbf{K}}\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{H}_{*}[\mathbf{K}] - \mathbf{K}_{*}\mathcal{H} - \mathcal{H}\mathbf{K}_{*}^{\dagger} = (uu_{1}(u_{1} - u_{-1}) + uu_{1}(u_{2} - u))\mathcal{S}$$

$$-(uu_{-1}(u_{1} - u_{-1}) + uu_{-1}(u - u_{-2}))\mathcal{S}^{-1} - uu_{1}(u_{1} - u_{-1})\mathcal{S} + uu_{-1}(u_{1} - u_{-1})\mathcal{S}^{-1}$$

$$-uu_{1}u_{2}\mathcal{S}^{2} + u^{2}u_{1} + u^{2}u_{-1} - uu_{-1}u_{-2}\mathcal{S}^{-2} - uu_{1}(u_{2} - u)\mathcal{S} - u^{2}u_{1} + uu_{1}u_{2}\mathcal{S}^{2}$$

$$+uu_{-1}(u - u_{-2})\mathcal{S}^{-1} + uu_{-1}u_{-2}\mathcal{S}^{-2} - u^{2}u_{-1} = 0.$$

We can define Hamiltonian equation as follows.

**Definition 21.** A differential-difference equation (4.1.1) is called Hamiltonian if there exists a Hamiltonian operator  $\mathcal{H}$  and a functional  $\int f$  called Hamiltonian density such that

$$u_t = \mathcal{H}(\frac{\delta f}{\delta u}) = K.$$

The reason that we refer to  $\int f$  as a Hamiltonian density is simply due to the fact that it is a conserved density of equation (4.1.1)

$$L_{\mathbf{K}} \int f = \langle d \int f, \mathbf{K} \rangle = \langle d \int f, \mathcal{H}(\frac{\delta f}{\delta u}) \rangle = \{ \int f, \int f \}_{\mathcal{H}} = 0.$$

Therefore in practice to claim that equation (4.1.1) is a Hamiltonian vector field we shall look for a Hamiltonian operator  $\mathcal{H}$  satisfying (4.4.1) and an appropriate conserved density. For instance the Volterra equation is a Hamiltonian equation with the Hamiltonian operator (4.4.2) and Hamiltonian density  $\int u$  since

$$u_t = \mathcal{H}(\frac{\delta u}{\delta u}) = u(u_1 - u_{-1}).$$

Moreover if  $\mathcal{H}$  is a Hamiltonian operator of equation (4.1.1), we can see that  $\mathcal{H}$  maps a co-symmetry to a symmetry. Let  $\omega \in \Omega^1$  be a co-symmetry then

$$L_{\mathbf{K}}(\mathcal{H}\omega) = (L_{\mathbf{K}}\mathcal{H})\omega + \mathcal{H}(L_{\mathbf{K}}\omega) = 0.$$

Naturally we call (4.1.1) a bi-Hamiltonian equation if there exist two Hamiltonian operators  $\mathcal{H}_1$  and  $\mathcal{H}_2$  and two Hamiltonians  $\int f_1$  and  $\int f_2$  such that

$$\mathbf{u}_t = \mathcal{H}_1(\frac{\delta f_1}{\delta u}) = \mathcal{H}_2(\frac{\delta f_2}{\delta u}).$$

Example 19. The Volterra equation (4.1.3) is a bi-Hamiltonian equation with

$$\mathcal{H}_1 = u(\mathcal{S} - \mathcal{S}^{-1})u, \qquad f_1 = u,$$

$$\mathcal{H}_2 = u(\mathcal{S}u\mathcal{S} + u\mathcal{S} + \mathcal{S}u - u\mathcal{S}^{-1} - \mathcal{S}^{-1}u - \mathcal{S}^{-1}u\mathcal{S}^{-1})u, \qquad f_2 = \frac{1}{2}\ln u.$$

**Definition 22.** Symplectic operator  $\mathcal{I}: \mathfrak{g} \longrightarrow \Omega^1$  is a symplectic operator for equation (4.1.1) if and only if

$$L_{\mathbf{K}}\mathcal{I} = 0. \tag{4.4.3}$$

**Example 20.** The anti-symmetric operator  $\mathcal{I} = \frac{1}{u}(\mathcal{S} - \mathcal{S}^{-1})^{-1}\frac{1}{u}$  is a symplectic operator for (4.1.3) since

$$\mathcal{I}_{*}[\mathbf{K}] = -\frac{1}{u}(\mathcal{S} - \mathcal{S}^{-1})^{-1} \frac{\mathbf{K}}{u^{2}} - \frac{\mathbf{K}}{u^{2}} (\mathcal{S} - \mathcal{S}^{-1})^{-1} \frac{1}{u} 
= -\frac{1}{u} (\mathcal{S} - \mathcal{S}^{-1})^{-1} \frac{(u_{1} - u_{-1})}{u} - \frac{(u_{1} - u_{-1})}{u} (\mathcal{S} - \mathcal{S}^{-1})^{-1} \frac{1}{u};$$

$$\mathcal{I}K_* = \frac{1}{u}(S - S^{-1})^{-1} \frac{(u_1 - u_{-1})}{u} + \frac{1}{u}(S - S^{-1})^{-1}S - \frac{1}{u}(S - S^{-1})^{-1}S^{-1} \\
= \frac{1}{u}(S - S^{-1})^{-1} \frac{(u_1 - u_{-1})}{u} + \frac{1}{u};$$

$$K_*\mathcal{I} = \frac{(u_1 - u_{-1})}{u} (\mathcal{S} - \mathcal{S}^{-1})^{-1} \frac{1}{u} - \frac{1}{u}.$$

The next definition is the main concept of this chapter. We will define the notion of recursion operator and shows the importance of having this tool.

**Definition 23.** An operator  $\mathcal{R}: \mathfrak{g} \longrightarrow \mathfrak{g}$  is called recursion operator for equation (4.1.1) if and only if

$$L_{\mathbf{K}}\mathcal{R} = 0. \tag{4.4.4}$$

From the definitions of Hamiltonian and symplectic operators one can prove that  $\mathcal{HI}$  is a recursion operator when  $\mathcal{H}$  and  $\mathcal{I}$  are respectively the Hamiltonian and the symplectic operators for a given differential-difference equation.

$$\begin{split} (L_{\mathbf{K}}\mathcal{H}\mathcal{I})\mathbf{p} &= L_{\mathbf{K}}(\mathcal{H}(\mathcal{I}\mathbf{p})) - \mathcal{H}\mathcal{I}(L_{\mathbf{K}}\mathbf{p}) \quad \forall \mathbf{p} \in \mathfrak{g} \\ \\ &= (L_{\mathbf{K}}\mathcal{H})(\mathcal{I}\mathbf{p}) + \mathcal{H}(L_{\mathbf{K}}\mathcal{I}\mathbf{p}) - \mathcal{H}\mathcal{I}(L_{\mathbf{K}}\mathbf{p}) \\ \\ &= (\mathcal{H}_{*}[\mathbf{K}] - \mathbf{K}_{*}\mathcal{H} - \mathcal{H}\mathbf{K}_{*}^{\dagger})(\mathcal{I}\mathbf{p}) + \mathcal{H}((L_{\mathbf{K}})\mathbf{p} + \mathcal{I}(L_{\mathbf{K}\mathbf{p}})) - \mathcal{H}\mathcal{I}(\mathbf{p}_{*}\mathbf{K} - \mathbf{K}_{*}\mathbf{p}) \\ \\ &= (\mathcal{H}\mathcal{I})_{*}[\mathbf{K}](\mathbf{p}) - (\mathbf{K}_{*}\mathcal{H}\mathcal{I})\mathbf{p} + (\mathcal{H}\mathcal{I}\mathbf{K}_{*})\mathbf{p} \,. \end{split}$$

For more details regarding factorization of recursion operators into composition of Hamiltonian and symplectic operator one can read [5, 15, 48, 77, 91]. For the recursion operator of a given differential -difference equation we have the following significant proposition [5, 95].

**Proposition 9.** Suppose  $\mathcal{R}: \mathfrak{g} \longrightarrow \mathfrak{g}$  is a recursion operator for equation (4.1.1), then  $\mathcal{R}$  maps a symmetry of (4.1.1) to a symmetry.

*Proof.* Let  $G \in \mathfrak{g}$  be a generalised symmetry of equation (4.1.1). We have

$$L_{\mathbf{K}}(\mathcal{R}\mathbf{G}) = (L_{\mathbf{K}}\mathcal{R})\mathbf{G} + \mathcal{R}(L_{\mathbf{K}}\mathbf{G}) = 0.$$

As we mentioned earlier in the previous chapter the above proposition shows the significant role of recursion operators in the theory of integrability. In fact if we can find the recursion operator of some differential-difference equation and starting from one symmetry  $\mathbf{G} \in \mathfrak{g}$  then we can generate the hierarchy of generalised symmetries according to the formula

$$\mathbf{G}_n = \mathcal{R}^n(\mathbf{G})$$
.

It is not always an easy task to check if a given recursion operator satisfies the Nijenhuis

property. According to Theorem 8 in the case that the recursion operator is the composition of a compatible Hamiltonian and symplectic operator it satisfies the Nijenhuis property. In fact being a Nijenhuis operator is the key point which shows the power of recursion operators. Suppose  $\mathcal{R}$  is a recursion operator which is also a Nijenhuis operator, then from Theorem 7 for a given symmetry  $\mathbf{G}$  as a seed point we can produce the following commuting generalised symmetries:

$$[\mathcal{R}^i \mathbf{G}, \mathcal{R}^j \mathbf{G}], \quad i, j \ge 0.$$

If we look at the recursion operator of the Volterra equation we see that it contains a weakly nonlocal term  $u(u_1 - u_{-1})(S - 1)^{-1}\frac{1}{u}$ . In fact this is the case that contains most of the known recursion operators. The weakly nonlocal term has the form

$$\mathbf{p} \otimes (\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} \omega \,, \tag{4.4.5}$$

where  $\mathbf{p}$  and  $\omega$  are respectively the symmetry and the co-symmetry of the equation and  $\otimes$  denotes the outer product of two  $m \times 1$  and  $1 \times m$  matrices defined as

$$\begin{pmatrix} p^1 \\ p^2 \\ \vdots \\ p^m \end{pmatrix} \otimes (\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} \omega^1 & \omega^2 & \dots & \omega^m \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} p^1 (\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} \omega^1 & \dots & p^1 (\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} \omega^m \\ p^2 (\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} \omega^1 & \dots & p^2 (\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} \omega^m \\ \vdots & & & & \\ p^m (\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} \omega^1 & \dots & p^m (\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} \omega^m \end{pmatrix}.$$

More details about the structure of weakly nonlocal terms can be found in [73, 76, 89, 91].

Example 21. Consider the Two component Volterra lattice [66]

$$\begin{cases} u_t = u(v_1 - v), \\ v_t = v(u - u_{-1}). \end{cases}$$
(4.4.6)

Its recursion operator has the form

$$\mathcal{R} = \left(\begin{array}{cc} u + v_1 & u\mathcal{S} + \frac{uv_1}{v} \\ v + v\mathcal{S}^{-1} & u + v \end{array}\right) + \left(\begin{array}{c} u(v_1 - v) \\ v(u - u_{-1}) \end{array}\right) \otimes (\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} \left(\begin{array}{cc} \frac{1}{u} & \frac{1}{v} \end{array}\right),$$

where p is the equation itself and the co-symmetry is obtained by

$$\left(\begin{array}{cc} \frac{1}{u} & \frac{1}{v} \end{array}\right) = \frac{\delta}{\delta(u,v)} (\ln u + \ln v) \, .$$

An important concern regarding the recursion operator is whether the action of recursion operators with weakly nonlocal terms of the from (4.4.5) on some local symmetry produces a new local symmetry. In the next theorem [76] we discuss the case where a recursion operator contains one weakly nonlocal terms. For more general cases one can read [58, 76, 89, 91].

**Theorem 9.** Let for a differential-difference equation (4.1.1),  $\mathcal{R}$  be a recursion operator of the form

$$\mathcal{R} = \mathfrak{M} + \boldsymbol{p} \otimes (\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} \omega$$
,

where  $\mathfrak{M}$  is an element of  $M_{\ell \times \ell}(\mathfrak{U})$ . Furthermore assume  $\mathcal{R}$  is a Nijenhuis and both  $\omega$  and  $\mathcal{R}^{\dagger}(\omega)$  are closed. Then all  $\mathbf{K}^{(i)} = \mathcal{R}^{i}(\mathbf{K})$ ,  $i = 1, 2, \cdots$  are local; i.e. elements of the Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}$ .

*Proof.* Notice that the variational derivative satisfies

$$\frac{\delta(\omega(\mathbf{K}))}{\delta u} = \mathbf{K}_*^{\dagger}(\omega) + \omega_*^{\dagger}[\mathbf{K}].$$

On the other hand since  $\omega_*^{\dagger} = \omega_*$  we get

$$L_{\mathbf{K}}\omega = \frac{\delta(\omega(\mathbf{K}))}{\delta u}$$
.

Now we prove the theorem by induction on i. For i = 1 since  $\omega$  is a co-symmetry we

have

$$L_{\mathbf{K}}\omega = \frac{\delta(\mathbf{K} \cdot \omega)}{\delta u} = 0.$$

Therefore from Proposition 4 the element  $\mathbf{K} \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}$  is a total difference and according to the structure of  $\mathcal{R}$  it yields that

$$\mathcal{R}(\mathbf{K}) \in \mathfrak{g}$$
 .

Now assume that  $\mathbf{K}^{(i)} = \mathcal{R}(\mathbf{K}^{(i-1)})$  is a local expression then due to the structure of  $\mathcal{R}$  it implies that

$$\mathbf{K}^{(i-1)} \cdot \omega \in Im(\mathcal{S}-1)$$
.

Now to prove that  $\mathbf{K}^{(i+1)}$  is a local expression we have to show that  $\omega(\mathbf{K}^{(i)})$  is also a total difference. We calculate  $L_{\mathbf{K}^{(i)}}\omega$  as

$$\begin{split} L_{\mathbf{K}^{(i)}}\omega &= L_{\mathcal{R}(\mathbf{K}^{(i-1)})}\omega \\ &= \frac{\delta\left(\mathcal{R}(\mathbf{K}^{(i-1)})\cdot\omega\right)}{\delta u} = \frac{\delta\left(\mathbf{K}^{(i-1)}\cdot\mathcal{R}^{\dagger}(\omega)\right)}{\delta u} \\ &= L_{\mathbf{K}^{(i-1)}}\mathcal{R}^{\dagger}(\omega)\,. \end{split}$$

In the second line we used the property of adjoint operators. Now as the Lie derivative satisfies Leibniz rule we get

$$\begin{split} L_{\mathbf{K}^{(i-1)}} \mathcal{R}^{\dagger}(\omega) &= (L_{\mathbf{K}^{(i-1)}} \mathcal{R}^{\dagger}) \omega + \mathcal{R}^{\dagger}(L_{\mathbf{K}} \omega) \\ &= (L_{\mathbf{K}^{(i-1)}} \mathcal{R}^{\dagger}) \omega \\ &= (L_{\mathbf{K}^{(i-1)}} \mathcal{R})^{\dagger} \omega \end{split}$$

and since R is a Nijenhuis operator we end up with the desired result that is

$$L_{\mathbf{K}^{(i)}}\omega_{\alpha}=0$$
.

We use this relation to show that  $\mathcal{R}^i(\mathbf{K})$  is an element of the Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}$ . We have

$$\frac{\delta(\mathbf{K}^{(i)} \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega})}{\delta \boldsymbol{u}} = L_{\mathbf{K}^{(i)}} \boldsymbol{\omega} = 0 \,,$$

which again according to the property of variational derivatives, the pairing of  $\mathbf{K}^{(i)}$  and 1-forms  $\omega$  lies in the image of the difference operator and therefore

$$\mathbf{K}^{(i+1)} = \mathcal{R}(\mathbf{K}^{(i)}) \in \mathfrak{g}$$
 ,

which proves the claim.

#### 4.5 Construction of recursion operators

There exists no general algorithmic process by which one can always obtain the corresponding recursion operator. In [34] one can find the construction of recursion operators based on a given Lax representation. In [91] the construction of recursion operators based on the composition of Hamiltonian and symplectic operator for the two dimensional periodic Volterra chain is discussed. Another method is starting from a proper candidate for the recursion operator and using relation (4.4.4) to derive the explicit form. This method is proposed in [33, 35] for number of differential-difference equations. In particular the authors discuss in details the algorithm to obtain the recursion operator of the Toda system 4.1.4. This method involves the concept of homogeneous equations and the candidate for the recursion operator is based on the scaling point symmetry. Here we basically employ the methods given in [33, 35, 91]. Using relation (4.4.4) it is important to find the order of the ansazt with which we shall start. To do this we need to look at the structure of the equation itself and its non-trivial generalised symmetry.

In this section we take the Merola-Ragnisco-Tu lattice and explain the process through which we can obtain its recursion operator. In fact we obtain the recursion operator through several steps. In the first step we try to find a proper candidate for the co-symmetry. Then we will find the maximum and minimum order of the shift operator that can appear in the recursion operator. After that we determine the coefficients with the help of relation (4.4.4) and the structure of the non-trivial symmetry. Notice that for different differential-difference equations one might need to consider different methods or more information and analysis of the form of known recursion operators.

Now let us start the process of finding the recursion operator for a concrete example. As we mentioned in the previous section, most of recursion operators contain finite number of terms of the form (4.4.5) where  $\mathbf{p}$  and  $\omega$  are respectively the symmetry and the co-symmetry of the given equation. In many cases  $\mathbf{p}$  is the equation itself although it is not a general rule. Consider the Merola-Ragnisco-Tu lattice given in Section 5.2.16

$$\mathbf{K} = \begin{cases} u_t = u_1 - u^2 v, \\ v_t = -v_{-1} + v^2 u. \end{cases}$$

The following element of  $\mathfrak{g}$  is a non-trivial generalised symmetry:

$$\mathbf{G} = \begin{cases} u_{\tau} = u_2 - u_1^2 v_1 - u^2 v_{-1} - 2uvu_1 + u^3 v^2, \\ v_{\tau} = -v_{-2} + v_{-1}^2 u_{-1} + v^2 u_1 + 2uvv_{-1} - u^2 v^3. \end{cases}$$

As we know for the weakly nonlocal terms  $\omega$  is a co-symmetry. To find a proper co-symmetry, we should note that the action of the recursion operator produces local symmetries. Therefore we should consider the pairing between  $\omega$  and the equation  $\mathbf{K}$ . In fact this pairing should vanish or in other words it must lie in the image of the difference operator. Therefore looking more closely at the equation, an appropriate candidate for the co-symmetry  $\omega$  can be  $\omega = \begin{pmatrix} v & u \end{pmatrix}$  since

$$<\omega, \mathbf{K}> = vu_1 - uv_{-1} = (S-1)uv_{-1}.$$

In fact  $\omega = \begin{pmatrix} v & u \end{pmatrix}$  is the variational derivative of the conserved density

$$\rho = uv$$
.

From Theorem 9 we know that recursion operators can be split into local and weakly nonlocal parts. Let us start with the following generic ansatz in which just  $\omega$  is specified:

$$\mathcal{R} = \begin{pmatrix} R_{11} & R_{12} \\ R_{21} & R_{22} \end{pmatrix} + \mathbf{p} \otimes (\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} v & u \end{pmatrix}.$$

For the next step we find the order of shift operators for the local part. To do this we compare the terms in the equation to the terms with highest and lowest length of the shift in the symmetry  $\mathbf{G}$ . Since the action of  $\mathcal{R}$  on  $\mathbf{K}$  should give the symmetry  $\mathbf{G}$ ,  $R_{11}u_t + R_{12}v_t$  and  $R_{21}u_t + R_{22}v_t$  respectively produce the term with the highest shift  $u_2$  and lowest shift  $v_{-2}$ . Thus we can split the above expression into the sum of shift operators of order 1,0 and -1 as

$$\mathcal{R} = \begin{pmatrix} R_{11}^{(1)} & R_{12}^{(1)} \\ R_{21}^{(1)} & R_{22}^{(1)} \end{pmatrix} \mathcal{S} + \begin{pmatrix} R_{11}^{(0)} & R_{12}^{(0)} \\ R_{21}^{(0)} & R_{22}^{(0)} \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} R_{11}^{(-1)} & R_{12}^{(-1)} \\ R_{21}^{(-1)} & R_{22}^{(-1)} \end{pmatrix} \mathcal{S}^{-1} + \mathbf{p} \otimes (\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} v & u \end{pmatrix}.$$

To obtain the coefficients we consider relation (4.4.4) and formulae in Theorem 4 from which we can obtain the following relation:

$$\mathcal{R}_*(\mathbf{K}) = [\mathbf{K}_*, \mathcal{R}], \tag{4.5.1}$$

where  $\mathbf{K}_*$  is of the form

$$\mathbf{K}_* = \left( \begin{array}{cc} \mathcal{S} - 2uv & -u^2 \\ v^2 & 2uv - \mathcal{S}^{-1} \end{array} \right) .$$

Notice that in  $\mathcal{R}_*(\mathbf{K})$  the coefficient of  $\mathcal{S}^2$  is zero and on the right hand side we have

$$\begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{S} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} R_{11}^{(1)} & R_{12}^{(1)} \\ R_{21}^{(1)} & R_{22}^{(1)} \end{pmatrix} \mathcal{S} - \begin{pmatrix} R_{11}^{(1)} \mathcal{S} & R_{12}^{(1)} \mathcal{S} \\ R_{21}^{(1)} \mathcal{S} & R_{22}^{(1)} \mathcal{S} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{S} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

which gives the relations

$$S(R_{11}^{(1)}) - R_{11}^{(1)} = 0, \qquad S(R_{12}^{(1)}) = R_{21}^{(1)} = 0.$$

Thus  $R_{12}^{(1)} = R_{21}^{(1)} = 0$  and  $\mathcal{R}_{11}^{(1)} = \alpha$  where  $\alpha$  is a constant. Furthermore since  $v_{\tau}$  does not contain  $v_1$  we have  $R_{22}^{(1)} = 0$ . In a similar way as  $u_{-1}$  does not appear in  $u_{\tau}$ , if we solve relation (4.5.1) for  $\mathcal{S}^{-2}$  we get

$$R_{21}^{(-1)} = R_{12}^{(-1)} = R_{11}^{(-1)} = 0, \qquad R_{22}^{(-1)} = \beta,$$

where  $\beta$  is an arbitrary constant. The constants  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  can be determined by looking at the coefficients of  $u_2$  and  $v_{-2}$  respectively in  $u_{\tau}$  and  $v_{\tau}$ . Hence we find  $\alpha = \beta = 1$ . To obtain the matrix  $\begin{pmatrix} R_{11}^{(0)} & R_{12}^{(0)} \\ R_{21}^{(0)} & R_{22}^{(0)} \end{pmatrix}$  we collect the coefficients of  $\mathcal{S}$  and set to zero. Expanding the right hand side of relation (4.5.1) for  $\mathcal{S}$  gives

$$\begin{pmatrix}
\mathcal{S} & 0 \\
0 & 0
\end{pmatrix}
\begin{pmatrix}
R_{11}^{(0)} & R_{12}^{(0)} \\
R_{21}^{(0)} & R_{22}^{(0)}
\end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix}
-2uv & -u^2 \\
v^2 & 2uv
\end{pmatrix}
\begin{pmatrix}
\alpha & 0 \\
0 & R_{22}^{(1)}
\end{pmatrix} \mathcal{S}$$

$$- \begin{pmatrix}
\alpha \mathcal{S} & 0 \\
0 & R_{22}^{(1)} \mathcal{S}
\end{pmatrix}
\begin{pmatrix}
-2uv & -u^2 \\
v^2 & 2uv
\end{pmatrix} - \begin{pmatrix}
R_{11}^{(0)} & R_{12}^{(0)} \\
R_{21}^{(0)} & R_{22}^{(0)}
\end{pmatrix}
\begin{pmatrix}
\mathcal{S} & 0 \\
0 & 0
\end{pmatrix},$$

which provides the following relations:

$$(S-1)(R_{11}^{(0)} + 2uv) = 0,$$
  
 $S(R_{11}^{(0)}) + u_1^2 = 0,$   
 $v^2 - R_{21}^{(0)} = 0.$ 

Therefore we have

$$R_{11}^{(0)} = -2uv, \ R_{11}^{(0)} = -u^2, \ R_{21}^{(0)} = v^2.$$

Now we can rewrite R in a more precise form as

$$\mathcal{R} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{S} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} -2uv & -u^2 \\ v^2 & R_{22}^{(0)} \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \mathcal{S}^{-1} \end{pmatrix} + \mathbf{p} \otimes (\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} v & u \end{pmatrix},$$

To determine the rest of coefficients we need to calculate the action of  $\mathcal{R}$  on  $\mathbf{K}$  and compare the result to the terms appearing in the symmetry  $\mathbf{G}$ . Notice that since

$$<\omega, \mathbf{K}>=(\mathcal{S}-1)uv_{-1}$$
,

therefore the action of quasi-local term  $\mathbf{K}$  produces the following local term:

$$p^{1}(S-1)^{-1}vu_{t} + p^{1}(S-1)^{-1}uv_{t} = p^{1}(S-1)^{-1}(vu_{t} + uv_{t})$$
$$= p^{1}(S-1)^{-1} < \omega, \mathbf{K} >$$
$$= p^{1}uv_{-1}.$$

By the similar calculation we get the term  $p^2uv_{-1}$ . Now if we compute  $\mathcal{R}(\mathbf{K})$  and equate to  $\mathbf{G}$ , the following equalities hold:

$$u^2v_{-1} + p^1uv_{-1} = -u^2v_{-1}, (4.5.2)$$

$$-R_{22}^{(0)}v_{-1} + R_{22}^{(0)}v^2u + p^2uv_{-1} = 2uvv_{-1}. (4.5.3)$$

Equation (4.5.2) simply gives  $p^1 = -2u$  and from relation (4.5.3) we get the system

$$\left\{ \begin{array}{l} -R_{22}^{(0)}v_{-1}+p^2uv_{-1}=2uvv_{-1}\,, \\ \\ R_{22}^{(0)}v_2u=0\,. \end{array} \right. \label{eq:continuous}$$

Hence coefficients  ${\cal R}_{22}^{(0)}$  and  $p^2$  are determined as

$$R_{22}^{(0)} = 0, \qquad p^2 = 2v.$$

Now that all coefficients of  $\mathcal{R}$  are obtained, we can write it as the following explicit form:

$$\mathcal{R} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{S} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} -2uv & -u^2 \\ v^2 & 0 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \mathcal{S}^{-1} \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} -2u \\ 2v \end{pmatrix} \otimes (\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} v & u \end{pmatrix}.$$

But still the last step remains. In fact since some coefficients are obtained just by the action of  $\mathcal{R}$  on  $\mathbf{K}$ , we have to prove  $\mathcal{R}$  is indeed a recursion operator. This means we have to show that it satisfies relation (4.5.1). As we have the explicit form of  $\mathcal{R}$  and  $\mathbf{K}$ , we can compute  $\mathbf{K}_*\mathcal{R} - \mathcal{R}\mathbf{K}_*$  and equate to  $R_*(\mathbf{K})$ . Notice that in computing  $\mathcal{R}\mathbf{K}_*$  we come up with expressions such as

$$2u(\mathcal{S}-1)^{-1}v\mathcal{S}, \qquad 2u(\mathcal{S}-1)^{-1}u\mathcal{S}^{-1}.$$

To simplify these terms we use the following identities:

$$f(S-1)^{-1}g_1S = fS(S-1)^{-1}g = fg + f(S-1)^{-1}g,$$
  
$$f(S-1)^{-1}g_{-1}S^{-1} = fS^{-1}(S-1)^{-1}g = -fg_{-1}S^{-1} + f(S-1)^{-1}g.$$

To summarize this section, we tried to obtain the recursion operator through the direct method using relation (4.5.1). We also were looking closely at the structure of the given equation and the terms appearing in the symmetry. This helped us to specify the order of local terms and the coefficients of constant terms.

As we mentioned, recursion operators are not obtained through straightforward processes and there exists no general algorithm to apply on a given equation and produce its recursion operator. For recursion operators which are the product of Hamiltonian and symplectic operators we use some similar logic to construct appropriate Hamiltonian and symplectic or two Hamiltonian operators. Notice that the structure of weakly nonlocal

terms in Hamiltonian and symplectic operators are respectively as follows:

$$\mathbf{p}_1(\mathcal{S}-1)^{-1}\mathbf{p}_2$$
,  
 $\omega_1(\mathcal{S}-1)^{-1}\omega_2$ ,

where  $\mathbf{p}_1, \mathbf{p}_2$  are symmetries and  $\omega_1$  and  $\omega_2$  are co-symmetries of the given equation. A thorough treatment of this structure is discussed in [91]. The recursion operator of Merola-Ragnisco-Tu system has also an weakly nonlocal inverse as follows:

$$\mathcal{R}^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{(u_{-1}v+1)^2} \mathcal{S}^{-1} & \frac{u_{-1}^2}{(u_{-1}v+1)^2} \\ -\frac{v_1^2}{(uv_1+1)^2} & \frac{1}{(uv_1+1)^2} \mathcal{S} - \frac{2u_{-1}v_1}{(u_{-1}v+1)(uv_1+1)} \end{pmatrix} + 2\begin{pmatrix} \frac{u_{-1}}{u_{-1}v+1} \\ -\frac{v_1}{uv_1+1} \end{pmatrix} \otimes (\mathcal{S}-1)^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{v_1}{uv_1+1} & \frac{u_{-1}}{u_{-1}v+1} \end{pmatrix}.$$

This does not happen for all recursion operators. In fact it is still an open problem if for a given recursion operator its inverse exists.

The next chapter provides the list of integrable differential-difference equations along with the quantities and operators defined in this chapter. There are several new results on the Hamiltonian, symplectic and recursion operators. We also give the inverse of the recursion operator in the case if it exists.

# Chapter 5

# List of integrable differential-difference equations

#### 5.1 Introduction

In this chapter we apply definitions and theorems provided in the last three chapters. To do so, a long list of integrable differential-difference equations is given. The list contains equations themselves, their Hamiltonian structures, recursion operators and non-trivial generalised symmetries. We not only put in an effort to compute all the objects in the list, but also include some new results. In fact this chapter forms the main part of the result of the paper [42]. We mainly refer to the source where we learned about each system although some attempt has been made to track the historical origins. In fact scalar equations are coming mainly from the review paper [95] and articles [12, 13, 56, 58, 66, 92]. For multi component equations we first tried to find equations from different sources such as [62, 66, 81] and then looking for other known properties form references therein. The new results of the list are also obtained from [86] in which equations and in some cases the simple form of Hamiltonian operators are given.

We also include partial results on master symmetries of equations. Roughly speaking, a master symmetry for an integrable differential-difference equation is a vector field which maps a symmetry to a new symmetry. Results on master symmetries are closely related to scaling symmetries of the corresponding equations. A scaling symmetry for a differential-difference equation  $\mathbf{K}$  is a vector field  $\mathfrak{Q} \in \mathfrak{g}$  which satisfies the following relation:

$$L_{\mathfrak{O}}\mathbf{K} = \lambda \mathbf{K}$$
,

where  $\lambda$  is a scalar. Then the action of recursion operators, which also satisfy the Nijenhuis property, on a scaling symmetry produces a master symmetry. In fact we have to show that the action of  $\mathcal{R}(\mathfrak{Q})$  on  $\mathbf{K}$  produces a symmetry. This can be seen through the following calculation:

$$[\mathcal{R}(\mathfrak{Q}), \mathbf{K}] = L_{\mathcal{R}(\mathfrak{Q})} \mathbf{K} = \mathcal{R}(L_{\mathfrak{Q}} \mathbf{K}) = \lambda \mathcal{R}(\mathbf{K}),$$

where as  $\mathcal{R}$  is a recursion operator  $\mathcal{R}(\mathbf{K})$  gives a symmetry. The thorough study of master symmetries is done in the next chapter. For some equations we add further notes on their links with other known equations and the weakly nonlocal inverses of recursion operators if existing. This list is far from being complete.

As we mentioned in the previous chapter the majority of pseudo-difference operators we studied are weakly nonlocal, that is, according to Definition 4 they are pseudo-difference operators with only a finite number of nonlocal terms of the form

$$\mathbf{p} \otimes (\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} \omega$$
.

We should note that while dealing with the above weakly nonlocal terms the action of the recursion operator is not uniquely determined. In fact since the field of scalars are the kernel of the difference operator (S-1), for the action of  $(S-1)^{-1}$  we should also consider a constant term. For example consider the recursion operator of the Volterra

equation

$$\mathcal{R} = u\mathcal{S} + u + u_1 + u\mathcal{S}^{-1} + u(u_1 - u_{-1})(\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1}\frac{1}{u}$$

The action of  $\mathcal{R}$  on  $u(u_1 - u_{-1})$  gives

$$u(u_1u_2 + uu_1 + u_1^2 - uu_{-1} - u_{-1}^2 - u_{-1}u_{-2}) + \alpha u(u_1 - u_{-1}),$$

where  $\alpha$  is an arbitrary constant. For some weakly nonlocal recursion operators of multicomponent integrable differential-difference equations, there exists a weakly nonlocal inverse recursion operator. This also enables us to generate infinitely many inverse symmetry flows. The Ablowitz-Ladik lattice (cf. Section 5.2.12 for more algebraic properties of this equation)

$$\begin{cases} u_t = (1 - uv)(\alpha u_1 - \beta u_{-1}), \\ v_t = (1 - uv)(\beta v_1 - \alpha v_{-1}). \end{cases}$$

possesses a recursion operator

$$\mathcal{R} = \begin{pmatrix} (1 - uv) \ \mathcal{S} - u_1 v - uv_{-1} & -uu_1 \\ vv_{-1} & (1 - uv) \ \mathcal{S}^{-1} \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} -u \\ v \end{pmatrix} \otimes (\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} v_{-1} & u_1 \end{pmatrix} - \begin{pmatrix} (1 - uv)u_1 \\ -(1 - uv)v_{-1} \end{pmatrix} \otimes (\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{v}{1 - uv} & \frac{u}{1 - uv} \end{pmatrix}.$$

We usually do not explicitly write out  $\otimes$  if this causes no confusion.

The operator  $\mathcal{R}$  is weakly nonlocal and it has a weakly nonlocal inverse

$$\mathcal{R}^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} (1 - uv) \ \mathcal{S}^{-1} & uu_{-1} \\ -vv_{1} & (1 - uv) \ \mathcal{S} - uv_{1} - u_{-1}v \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} u \\ -v \end{pmatrix} (\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} v_{1} & u_{-1} \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} (1 - uv)u_{-1} \\ -(1 - uv)v_{1} \end{pmatrix} (\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{v}{1 - uv} & \frac{u}{1 - uv} \end{pmatrix}.$$

The phenomenon has been explored for the Bruschi-Ragnisco lattice in [62]. In this chapter, we compute the weakly nonlocal inverse recursion operators for all multi component integrable differential-difference equations if existing. For a given weakly nonlocal difference operator, to answer whether there exists a weakly nonlocal inverse operator is still an open problem.

To the best of our knowledge, the following results are new:

- The Hamiltonian operators, symplectic operators and recursion operators given in section 5.2.4 for equation (5.2.3).
- The Hamiltonian operators, symplectic operators and recursion operators for the Kaup-Newell lattice (section 5.2.14), the Chen-Lee-Liu lattice (section 5.2.15) and the Ablowitz-Ramani-Segur (Gerdjikov-Ivanov) lattice (section 5.2.16);
- The weakly nonlocal inverse recursion operators, if they exist, except for the Ablowitz-Ladik lattice and the Bruschi-Ragnisco lattice.

# 5.2 A list of integrable differential-difference equations

#### 5.2.1 The Volterra chain

• Equation [88]:

$$u_t = u(u_1 - u_{-1}) (5.2.1)$$

• Hamiltonian structure [12, 66]:

$$\mathcal{H}_1 = u(\mathcal{S} - \mathcal{S}^{-1})u, \qquad f_1 = u$$

$$\mathcal{H}_2 = u(\mathcal{S}u\mathcal{S} + u\mathcal{S} + \mathcal{S}u - u\mathcal{S}^{-1} - \mathcal{S}^{-1}u - \mathcal{S}^{-1}u\mathcal{S}^{-1})u, \qquad f_2 = \frac{1}{2}\ln u$$

• Recursion operator:

$$\mathcal{R} = \mathcal{H}_2 \mathcal{H}_1^{-1} = u \mathcal{S} + u + u_1 + u \mathcal{S}^{-1} + u(u_1 - u_{-1})(\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} \frac{1}{u}$$

• Non-trivial symmetry [12, 95]:

$$\mathcal{R}(u_t) = u \left( u_1 u_2 + u_1^2 + u u_1 - u u_{-1} - u_{-1}^2 - u_{-1} u_{-2} \right)$$

• Master symmetry [12, 13, 46]:

$$\mathcal{R}(u) = nu_t + u(2u_1 + u + u_{-1})$$

This equation is also known as the Lotka-Volterra model, the Kac-van Moerbeke lattice or the Langmuir lattice. The so-called Kac-van Moerbeke-Langmuir equation [66]

$$w_{\tau} = w(w_1^{\epsilon} - w_{-1}^{\epsilon}), \qquad \epsilon \neq 0 \text{ is a constant.}$$

is related to (5.2.1) by the point transformation  $u=w^{\epsilon}$  and  $t=\epsilon\tau$ . This equation is also written as

$$w_t = \exp(w + w_1) - \exp(w + w_{-1}),$$

which can be transformed into (5.2.1) by the transformation  $u = \exp(w + w_1)$ .

#### 5.2.2 Modified Volterra equation

• Equation [37, 95]:

$$u_t = u^2(u_1 - u_{-1})$$

• Hamiltonian structure [87, 95]:

$$\mathcal{H}_1 = u(S-1)(S+1)^{-1}u, \qquad f_1 = uu_1$$
  
 $\mathcal{H}_2 = u^2(S-S^{-1})u^2, \qquad f_2 = \ln u$ 

• Recursion operator:

$$\mathcal{R} = \mathcal{H}_2 \mathcal{H}_1^{-1} = u^2 \mathcal{S} + 2uu_1 + u^2 \mathcal{S}^{-1} + 2u^2 (u_1 - u_{-1})(\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} \frac{1}{u}$$

• Non-trivial symmetry [95]:

$$\mathcal{R}(u_t) = u^2 u_1^2(u_2 + u) - u^2 u_{-1}^2(u + u_{-2})$$

• Master symmetry [95]:

$$\mathcal{R}(\frac{u}{2}) = nu_t + \frac{u^2}{2}(3u_1 + u_{-1})$$

The Modified Volterra equation is also known as the discrete modified Korteweg-de Vries equation. Under the Miura transformation  $w = uu_1$  it can be transformed into the Volterra Chain  $w_t = w(w_1 - w_{-1})$  as in section 5.2.1.

## 5.2.3 Yamilov's discretisation of the Krichever-Novikov equation

• Equation [94]:

$$u_t = \frac{R(u_1, u, u_{-1})}{u_1 - u_{-1}} := K^{(1)},$$

where R is the polynomial with constant coefficients  $\alpha, \beta, \gamma, \delta, \epsilon$  defined by

$$R(u, v, w) = (\alpha v^{2} + 2\beta v + \gamma)uw + (\beta v^{2} + \lambda v + \delta)(u + w) + \gamma v^{2} + 2\delta v + \epsilon \quad (5.2.2)$$

• Two non-trivial symmetries [58, 56, 78, 93]:

$$\begin{split} K^{(2)} &= \frac{R(u, u_{-1}, u)R(u_{1}, u, u_{1})}{(u_{1} - u_{-1})^{2}} \left(\frac{1}{u_{2} - u} + \frac{1}{u - u_{-2}}\right); \\ K^{(3)} &= \frac{R(u_{1}, u, u_{1})R(u, u_{-1}, u)}{(u_{1} - u_{-1})^{2}} \left(\frac{\mathcal{S}^{2}K^{(1)}}{(u_{2} - u)^{2}} + \frac{\mathcal{S}^{-2}K^{(1)}}{(u - u_{-2})^{2}}\right) \\ &+ K^{(1)}K^{(2)} \left(\frac{1}{u_{2} - u} + \frac{1}{u - u_{-2}}\right) \end{split}$$

• Hamiltonian structure [55, 58]:

$$\mathcal{H} = A \, \mathcal{S} - \mathcal{S}^{-1} \, A + 2 \, K^{(1)} \, (\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} \mathcal{S} K^{(2)} + 2 \, K^{(2)} \, (\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} K^{(1)};$$

$$\hat{\mathcal{H}} = \hat{A} \, \mathcal{S}^2 - \mathcal{S}^{-2} \hat{A} + \hat{B} \mathcal{S} - \mathcal{S}^{-1} \hat{B} + K^{(2)} \, (\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} (\mathcal{S} + 1) K^{(2)}$$

$$+ 2 \, K^{(1)} \, (\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} \mathcal{S} K^{(3)} + 2 \, K^{(3)} \, (\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} K^{(1)} \, ,$$

where

$$\begin{split} A &= \frac{R(u_2, u_1, u_2) R(u_1, u, u_1) R(u, u_{-1}, u)}{(u_1 - u_{-1})^2 (u_2 - u)^2}; \\ \hat{A} &= \frac{R(u_3, u_2, u_3) R(u_2, u_1, u_2) R(u_1, u, u_1) R(u, u_{-1}, u)}{(u_1 - u_{-1})^2 (u_2 - u)^2 (u_3 - u_1)^2}; \\ \hat{B} &= 2A \left( \frac{K^{(1)}}{u - u_{-2}} - \frac{\partial_u R(u_1, u, u_1)}{2(u_1 - u_{-1})} + \frac{\partial^2 R(u_1, u, u_1)}{4 \partial u \partial u_1} \right) \\ &+ \frac{2R(u, u_{-1}, u)}{(u_1 - u_{-1})^2} \mathcal{S}\left(K^{(1)} K^{(2)}\right) \end{split}$$

• Symplectic operator [58]:

$$\mathcal{I} = \frac{1}{R(u_1, u, u_1)} \mathcal{S} - \mathcal{S}^{-1} \frac{1}{R(u_1, u, u_1)}$$

• Recursion operator [55, 58]:

$$\mathcal{R} = \mathcal{H} \mathcal{I}$$
 and  $\hat{\mathcal{R}} = \hat{\mathcal{H}} \mathcal{I}$ 

#### 5.2.4 Integrable Volterra type equations

The classification of integrable Volterra type equations of the form

$$u_t = f(u_{-1}, u, u_1),$$

where f is a smooth function of all its variables was obtained by Yamilov using the symmetry approach. In his remarkable review paper [95], he presented the following complete list of integrable Volterra type equations (with higher order conservation laws) up to point transformations:

$$V1 u_t = P(u)(u_1 - u_{-1}) (5.2.3)$$

V2 
$$u_t = P(u^2) \left( \frac{1}{u_1 + u} - \frac{1}{u + u_{-1}} \right)$$
 (5.2.4)

V3 
$$u_t = Q(u) \left( \frac{1}{u_1 - u} + \frac{1}{u - u_{-1}} \right)$$
 (5.2.5)

V4 
$$u_t = \frac{R(u_1, u, u_{-1}) + \nu R(u_1, u, u_1)^{1/2} R(u_{-1}, u, u_{-1})^{1/2}}{u_1 - u_{-1}}$$
 (5.2.6)

V5 
$$u_t = y(u_1 - u) + y(u - u_{-1}), y' = P(y)$$
 (5.2.7)

V6 
$$u_t = y(u_1 - u) \ y(u - u_{-1}) + \mu, \qquad y' = \frac{P(y)}{y}$$
 (5.2.8)

V7 
$$u_t = \frac{1}{y(u_1 - u) + y(u - u_{-1})} + \mu, \quad y' = P(y^2)$$
 (5.2.9)

V8 
$$u_t = \frac{1}{y(u_1 + u) - y(u + u_{-1})}, \quad y' = Q(y)$$
 (5.2.10)

V9 
$$u_t = \frac{y(u_1 + u) - y(u + u_{-1})}{y(u_1 + u) + y(u + u_{-1})}, \quad y' = \frac{P(y^2)}{y}$$
 (5.2.11)

V10 
$$u_t = \frac{y(u_1 + u) + y(u + u_{-1})}{y(u_1 + u) - y(u + u_{-1})}, \quad y' = \frac{Q(y)}{y}$$
 (5.2.12)

V11 
$$u_t = \frac{(1 - y(u_1 - u))(1 - y(u - u_{-1}))}{y(u_1 - u) + y(u - u_{-1})} + \mu, \quad y' = \frac{P(y^2)}{1 - y^2}$$
 (5.2.13)

where  $\mu \in \mathbb{C}$ ,  $\nu \in \{0, \pm 1\}$  and P and Q are polynomials with constant coefficients  $\alpha, \beta, \gamma, \delta, \epsilon$  defined by

$$P(u) = \alpha u^2 + \beta u + \gamma, \tag{5.2.14}$$

$$Q(u) = \alpha u^4 + \beta u^3 + \gamma u^2 + \delta u + \epsilon, \qquad (5.2.15)$$

and the polynomial R is defined by (5.2.2). As stated in the paper [95], the problem of constructing the generalised symmetries for all equations (V1)–(V11) remains open although the master symmetries for some forms of equations in the list are known [12, 13]. We know that the Miura transformation  $\tilde{u} = y(u_1 - u)$  transforms equations (V5) and (V6) to (V1) and equations (V7) and (V11) into (V2), and the Miura transformation  $\tilde{u} = y(u_1 + u)$  transforms equation (V9) to (V2) and equations (V8) and (V10) into (V3) [95]. In what follows we just provide the new Hamiltonian, symplectic and recursion operators for (V1). For new results on (V2), (V3) and (V4) one can read [42]. For other equations one can obtain the corresponding Hamiltonian, symplectic and recursion operators via Miura transformations.

#### V1 equation (5.2.3)

• Hamiltonian structure [95]:

$$\mathcal{H} = P(u)(S - S^{-1})P(u), \qquad f = \int \frac{u}{P(u)} du$$

• Symplectic operator:

$$\mathcal{I} = \alpha(\mathcal{S} - \mathcal{S}^{-1}) + (\alpha u_1 + \beta + \alpha u_{-1})\mathcal{S}(\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} \frac{P'(u)}{P(u)} + \frac{P'(u)}{P(u)} (\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} (\alpha u_1 + \beta + \alpha u_{-1})$$

• Recursion operator:

$$\mathcal{R} = P(u)\mathcal{S} + 2\alpha u u_1 + \beta(u + u_1) + P(u)\mathcal{S}^{-1} + u_t(\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} \frac{P'(u)}{P(u)}$$

• Non-trivial symmetry:

$$\mathcal{R}(u_t) = P(u) \left( P(u_1)u_2 + \alpha u u_1^2 + \beta(u + u_1)u_1 - P(u_{-1})u_{-2} - \alpha u u_{-1}^2 - \beta(u + u_{-1})u_{-1} \right)$$

• Master symmetry:

$$nu_t + P(u)(cu_1 + \frac{\beta}{\alpha} + (2 - c)u_{-1}), \quad c \in \mathbb{C}, \text{ when } \alpha \neq 0$$
  
 $nu_t + P(u)(cu_1 + u + (3 - c)u_{-1}), \quad c \in \mathbb{C}, \text{ when } \alpha = 0$ 

This equation includes both the Volterra chain in section 5.2.1 and the modified Volterra equation in section 5.2.2.

#### 5.2.5 The Narita-Itoh-Bogoyavlensky lattice

• Equation [8, 39, 60]:

$$u_t = u(\sum_{k=1}^{p} u_k - \sum_{k=1}^{p} u_{-k}), \qquad p \in \mathbb{N}$$

• Hamiltonian structure [62]:

$$\mathcal{H} = u(\sum_{i=1}^{p} \mathcal{S}^{i} - \sum_{i=1}^{p} \mathcal{S}^{-i})u, \qquad f = u$$

• Recursion operator [92]:

$$\mathcal{R} = u(S - S^{-p})(S - 1)^{-1} \prod_{i=1}^{p} (S^{p+1-i}u - uS^{-i})(S^{p-i}u - uS^{-i})^{-1} ,$$

where the notation  $\prod_{i=1}^{p}$  is denoted the order of the value i, from 1 to p, that is,  $\prod_{i=1}^{p} a_i = a_1 a_2 \cdots a_p$ .

• Non-trivial symmetry:

$$\mathcal{R}(u_t) = u(1 - \mathcal{S}^{-(p+1)})\mathcal{S}^{1-p} \sum_{0 \le i \le j \le 2p-1} u_j u_{i+p}$$

• Master symmetry [92]:  $\mathcal{R}(u)$ 

For p=1,2 or 3, a few higher order symmetries are explicitly given in [62], where the authors also studied their Hamiltonian operator, recursion operator and master symmetry for p=1,2. The Narita-Itoh-Bogoyavlensky lattice is known as an integrable discretisation for the Korteweg-de Vries equation. It can also be presented as

$$v_t = v(\prod_{k=1}^p v_k - \prod_{k=1}^p v_{-k}),$$

which is related to the Narita-Itoh-Bogoyavlensky lattice via the transformation  $u = \prod_{k=0}^{p-1} v_k$  for fixed p. Taking p = 1, we get the well-known Volterra chain in section 5.2.1. Thus they can be regarded as the generalisation of the Volterra chain.

Let  $u = \prod_{k=0}^p w_k$ . Then w satisfies the so-called the modified Bogoyavlensky chain

$$w_t = w^2 (\prod_{k=1}^p w_k - \prod_{k=1}^p w_{-k}).$$

The recursion operator given above for the Narita-Itoh-Bogoyavlensky lattice is highly nonlocal (so is the master symmetry). Recently, Svinin [83] derived the explicit formulas for its generalised symmetries in terms of a family of homogeneous difference polynomials.

#### 5.2.6 The Toda lattice

• Equation [85]:

$$q_{tt} = \exp(q_1 - q) - \exp(q - q_{-1})$$

In the Manakov-Flaschka coordinates [18, 50] defined by  $u = \exp(q_1 - q)$ ,  $v = q_t$ , it can be rewritten as two component evolution system:

$$\begin{pmatrix} u_t \\ v_t \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} u(v_1 - v) \\ u - u_{-1} \end{pmatrix}$$
 (5.2.16)

• Hamiltonian structure [13, 44, 66]:

$$\mathcal{H}_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & u(\mathcal{S} - 1) \\ (1 - \mathcal{S}^{-1})u & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad f_1 = u + \frac{v^2}{2}$$

$$\mathcal{H}_2 = \begin{pmatrix} u(\mathcal{S} - \mathcal{S}^{-1})u & u(\mathcal{S} - 1)v \\ v(1 - \mathcal{S}^{-1})u & u\mathcal{S} - \mathcal{S}^{-1}u \end{pmatrix}, \qquad f_2 = v$$

• Recursion operator:

$$\mathcal{R} = \mathcal{H}_2 \mathcal{H}_1^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} v_1 + u(v_1 - v)(\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} \frac{1}{u} & u\mathcal{S} + u \\ 1 + \mathcal{S}^{-1} + (u - u_{-1})(\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} \frac{1}{u} & v \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= \begin{pmatrix} v_1 & u\mathcal{S} + u \\ 1 + \mathcal{S}^{-1} & v \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} u(v_1 - v) \\ u - u_{-1} \end{pmatrix} (\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{u} & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

• Non-trivial symmetry:

$$\mathcal{R}\begin{pmatrix} u_t \\ v_t \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} u(v_1^2 - v^2 + u_1 - u_{-1}) \\ u(v_1 + v) - u_{-1}(v_{-1} + v) \end{pmatrix}$$

• Master symmetry [13]:

$$\mathcal{R} \left( \begin{array}{c} u \\ \frac{v}{2} \end{array} \right) = \left( \begin{array}{c} nu_t + \frac{3}{2}uv_1 + \frac{1}{2}uv \\ nv_t + u + u_{-1} + \frac{v^2}{2} \end{array} \right)$$

The Hirota nonlinear Lumped Network equation [36]

$$\left(\begin{array}{c} u_t \\ v_t \end{array}\right) = \left(\begin{array}{c} v_1 - v \\ v(u - u_{-1}) \end{array}\right)$$

is related to the Toda lattice (5.2.16) by a simple invertible transformation. Namely, let u = q and  $v = p_{-1}$ . Then the variables p and q satisfy the Toda equation. All its properties can be obtained via those for the Toda lattice.

#### 5.2.7 The Relativistic Toda system

• Equation [69]:

$$q_{tt} = q_t q_{-1t} \frac{\exp(q_{-1} - q)}{1 + \exp(q_{-1} - q)} - q_t q_{1t} \frac{\exp(q - q_1)}{1 + \exp(q - q_1)}$$

Let us introduce the following dependent variables [80, 28]:

$$u = \frac{q_t \exp(q - q_1)}{1 + \exp(q - q_1)}, \qquad v = \frac{q_t}{1 + \exp(q - q_1)}.$$

Then the equation can be written as

$$\begin{pmatrix} u_t \\ v_t \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} u(u_{-1} - u_1 + v - v_1) \\ v(u_{-1} - u) \end{pmatrix}$$
 (5.2.17)

• Hamiltonian structure [28]:

$$\mathcal{H}_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & u(1-\mathcal{S}) \\ (\mathcal{S}^{-1}-1)u & u\mathcal{S}-\mathcal{S}^{-1}u \end{pmatrix}, \qquad f_{1} = \frac{1}{2}(u^{2}+v^{2}) + uv + u_{1}u + uv_{1}$$

$$\mathcal{H}_{2} = \begin{pmatrix} u(\mathcal{S}^{-1}-\mathcal{S})u & u(1-\mathcal{S})v \\ v(\mathcal{S}^{-1}-1)u & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad f_{2} = u + v$$

• Recursion operator [28]:

$$\mathcal{R} = \begin{pmatrix} u\mathcal{S} + u + v_1 + u_1 + u\mathcal{S}^{-1} & u\mathcal{S} + u \\ v + v\mathcal{S}^{-1} & v \end{pmatrix} - \begin{pmatrix} u_t \\ v_t \end{pmatrix} (\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{u} & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

• Non-trivial symmetry:

$$\mathcal{R}\left(egin{array}{c} u_t \ v_t \end{array}
ight) = \left(egin{array}{c} G_1 \ G_2 \end{array}
ight) \, ,$$

where

$$G_1 = uu_{-1}(u + u_{-1} + u_{-2} + 2v + v_{-1}) - uu_1(u_2 + u_1 + u + 2v_1 + v_2)$$

$$+ u^2(v - v_1) + u(v^2 - v_1^2)$$

$$G_2 = vu_{-1}(u_{-2} + u_{-1} + v + v_{-1}) - uv(u_1 + u + v_1 + v)$$

• Master symmetry [28]:

$$\mathcal{R}\begin{pmatrix} u \\ v \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} -nu_t + u(v + 2v_1 + u + 2u_1 + u_{-1}) \\ -nv_t + v(u + v + u_{-1}) \end{pmatrix}, \quad ((\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1}1 = n)$$

As noticed in [28], the inverse of this recursion operator  $\mathcal{R}$  is also weakly nonlocal:

$$\mathcal{R}^{-1} = \mathcal{H}_1 \mathcal{H}_2^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{v_1} & -\frac{u}{v_1^2} \mathcal{S} + \frac{u}{v^2} - \frac{2u}{vv_1} \\ -\mathcal{S}^{-1} \frac{1}{v} - \frac{1}{v_1} & \frac{u}{v_1^2} \mathcal{S} + \mathcal{S}^{-1} \frac{u}{v^2} + \frac{2u}{vv_1} + \frac{1}{v} \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} \frac{u}{v_1} - \frac{u}{v} \\ \frac{u-1}{v-1} - \frac{u}{v_1} \end{pmatrix} (\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{u} & -\frac{2}{v} \end{pmatrix}.$$

However, recursion operators  $\mathcal{R}$  and  $\mathcal{R}^{-1}$  have different starting point, i.e., seeds. For  $\mathcal{R}$ , it starts with acting on the right hand of the equation while the seed for  $\mathcal{R}^{-1}$  is  $\sigma = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{u}{v_1} - \frac{u}{v} \\ \frac{u-1}{v-1} - \frac{u}{v_1} \end{pmatrix}$ . Moreover,  $\mathcal{R}$  acting on  $\sigma$  and  $\mathcal{R}^{-1}$  acting on the right hand of the equation do not give rise to new symmetries.

#### 5.2.8 Two component Volterra lattice

• Equation [66]:

$$\begin{pmatrix} u_t \\ v_t \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} u(v_1 - v) \\ v(u - u_{-1}) \end{pmatrix}$$
 (5.2.18)

• Hamiltonian structure [66]:

$$\mathcal{H}_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & u(\mathcal{S} - 1)v \\ v(1 - \mathcal{S}^{-1})u & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad f_1 = u + v$$

$$\mathcal{H}_2 = \begin{pmatrix} u(\mathcal{S}v - v\mathcal{S}^{-1})u & u(u\mathcal{S} - u + \mathcal{S}v - v)v \\ v(u - \mathcal{S}^{-1}u + v - v\mathcal{S}^{-1})u & v(u\mathcal{S} - \mathcal{S}^{-1}u)v \end{pmatrix}, \qquad f_2 = \ln u$$

• Recursion operator:

$$\mathcal{R} = \mathcal{H}_2 \mathcal{H}_1^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} u + v_1 & u\mathcal{S} + \frac{uv_1}{v} \\ v + v\mathcal{S}^{-1} & u + v \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} u(v_1 - v) \\ v(u - u_{-1}) \end{pmatrix} (\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{u} & \frac{1}{v} \end{pmatrix}$$

• Non-trivial symmetry:

$$\mathcal{R}\begin{pmatrix} u_t \\ v_t \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} u^2(v_1 - v) + u(v_1^2 - v^2 + v_1u_1 - vu_{-1}) \\ v^2(u - u_{-1}) + v(u^2 - u_{-1}^2 + uv_1 - u_{-1}v_{-1}) \end{pmatrix}$$

• Master symmetry [13]:

$$\mathcal{R} \begin{pmatrix} u \\ v \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 2nu_t + u^2 + 3uv_1 \\ 2nv_t + vu_{-1} + 2uv + v^2 \end{pmatrix}$$

This system comes from the Volterra chain in section 5.2.1 written in the variable w, that is,

$$w_t = w(w_1 - w_{-1}), (5.2.19)$$

by renaming u(n,t)=w(2n,t) and v(n,t)=w(2n-1,t). It is related to the Toda equation (5.2.16), written in variables  $\bar{u}$  and  $\bar{v}$ , by the Miura transformation [82]

$$\bar{u} = uv \quad \text{and} \quad \bar{v} = u_{-1} + v.$$
 (5.2.20)

#### 5.2.9 The Relativistic Volterra lattice

• Equation [43, 81, 82]:

$$\begin{pmatrix} u_t \\ v_t \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} u(v - v_{-1} + uv - u_{-1}v_{-1}) \\ v(u_1 - u + u_1v_1 - uv) \end{pmatrix}$$

• Hamiltonian structure [81]:

$$\mathcal{H}_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & u(1 - \mathcal{S}^{-1})v \\ v(\mathcal{S} - 1)u & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad f_1 = u + v + uv$$

$$\mathcal{H}_2 = \begin{pmatrix} h_{11} & h_{12} \\ h_{21} & h_{22} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad f_2 = \ln u \text{ or } f_2 = \ln v$$

where

$$h_{11} = uv(1+u)Su - uS^{-1}uv(1+u)$$

$$h_{12} = uv(u+v+uv) - u(S^{-1}uvS^{-1} + uS^{-1} + S^{-1}v)v$$

$$h_{21} = v(SuvS + vS + Su)u - uv(u+v+uv)$$

$$h_{22} = vSuv(1+v) - uv(1+v)S^{-1}v$$

• Recursion operator:

$$\mathcal{R} = \mathcal{H}_2 \mathcal{H}_1^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} uv_{-1}\mathcal{S}^{-1} + u + v + uv & u(1+u_{-1})\mathcal{S}^{-1} + u(1+u) \\ v(1+v_1)\mathcal{S} + \frac{u_1v(1+v_1)}{u} & u_1v\mathcal{S} + u_1 + v + u_1v_1 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} u(v-v_{-1} + uv - u_{-1}v_{-1}) \\ v(u_1 - u + u_1v_1 - uv) \end{pmatrix} (\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{u} & \frac{1}{v} \end{pmatrix}$$

• Non-trivial symmetry:

$$\mathcal{R}\begin{pmatrix} u_t \\ v_t \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} uv(1+u)(u+u_1+u_1v_1) + uv^2(1+u)^2 - uv_{-1}^2(1+u_{-1})^2 - u^2v_{-1} \\ -u_{-1}uv_{-1}(1+u+v_{-2}+u_{-1}+u_{-2}v_{-2}); \\ u_1vv_1(1+2u_1+u_2v_2+u_2) + u_1^2v + u_1vv_1^2(1+u_1) + v^2u_1(1+v_1) \\ -uv(1+v)(v+v_{-1}+u_{-1}v_{-1}) - u^2v(1+v)^2 \end{pmatrix}$$

It is related to the Relativistic Toda equation (5.2.17), written in variables  $\bar{u}$  and  $\bar{v}$ , by the Miura transformation  $\bar{u} = -uv$  and  $\bar{v} = -(u+v_{-1}+1)$  [82]. This transformation is similar to (5.2.20), which explains the name of this equation.

#### 5.2.10 The Merola-Ragnisco-Tu lattice

• Equation [51, 62]:

$$\begin{pmatrix} u_t \\ v_t \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} u_1 - u^2 v \\ -v_{-1} + v^2 u \end{pmatrix}$$

• Hamiltonian structure [62]:

$$\mathcal{H} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad f = u_1 v - \frac{u^2 v^2}{2}$$

• Recursion operator [62]:

$$\mathcal{R} = \left( \begin{array}{cc} \mathcal{S} - 2uv & -u^2 \\ v^2 & \mathcal{S}^{-1} \end{array} \right) + 2 \left( \begin{array}{c} -u \\ v \end{array} \right) (\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} \left( \begin{array}{cc} v & u \end{array} \right)$$

• Non-trivial symmetry [62]:

$$\mathcal{R}\begin{pmatrix} u_t \\ v_t \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} u_2 - u_1^2 v_1 - u^2 v_{-1} - 2uvu_1 + u^3 v^2 \\ -v_{-2} + v_{-1}^2 u_{-1} + v^2 u_1 + 2uvv_{-1} - u^2 v^3 \end{pmatrix}$$

• Master symmetry [62]:

$$\mathcal{R}\begin{pmatrix} (n+1)u \\ -nv \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} nu_t + 2u_1 - 2u^2v - 2u(\mathcal{S}-1)^{-1}uv \\ nv_t + v_{-1} + uv^2 + 2v(\mathcal{S}-1)^{-1}uv \end{pmatrix}$$

The recursion operator  $\mathcal{R}$  has a weakly nonlocal inverse:

$$\mathcal{R}^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{(u_{-1}v+1)^2} \mathcal{S}^{-1} & \frac{u_{-1}^2}{(u_{-1}v+1)^2} \\ -\frac{v_1^2}{(uv_1+1)^2} & \frac{1}{(uv_1+1)^2} \mathcal{S} - \frac{2u_{-1}v_1}{(u_{-1}v+1)(uv_1+1)} \end{pmatrix} + 2\begin{pmatrix} \frac{u_{-1}}{u_{-1}v+1} \\ -\frac{v_1}{uv_1+1} \end{pmatrix} (\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{v_1}{uv_1+1} & \frac{u_{-1}}{u_{-1}v+1} \end{pmatrix}.$$

The symmetry  $(u, -v)^{\text{tr}}$  is a seed for both  $\mathcal{R}$  and  $\mathcal{R}^{-1}$ .

#### 5.2.11 The Kaup lattice

• Equation [3]:

$$\begin{pmatrix} u_t \\ v_t \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} (u+v)(u_1-u) \\ (u+v)(v-v_{-1}) \end{pmatrix}$$

• Hamiltonian structure [3]:

$$\mathcal{H}=\left(egin{array}{cc} 0 & u+v \ -(u+v) & 0 \end{array}
ight), \qquad f=u_1v-uv$$

• Recursion operator:

$$\mathcal{R} = \begin{pmatrix} (u+v)\mathcal{S} + u_1 - u & 0\\ 0 & (u+v)\mathcal{S}^{-1} + u_1 - u \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} u_t\\ v_t \end{pmatrix} (\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{u+v} & \frac{1}{u+v} \end{pmatrix}$$
$$+ \begin{pmatrix} 1\\ -1 \end{pmatrix} \mathcal{S}(\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} v_{-1} - v & u_1 - u \end{pmatrix}$$

• Non-trivial symmetry:

$$\mathcal{R} \begin{pmatrix} u_t \\ v_t \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} (u+v)(uu_1 + uv_{-1} + u_1v_1 - u_1u_2 - u_2v_1 - u_1v_{-1}) \\ (u+v)(u_{-1}v_{-2} + v_{-2}v_{-1} - u_1v - u_{-1}v_{-1} + u_1v_{-1} - v_{-1}v) \end{pmatrix}$$

There exists another weakly nonlocal recursion operator

$$\mathcal{R}' = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{u+v}{(u_{-1}+v)^2} \mathcal{S}^{-1} & -\frac{(u-u_{-1})}{(u_{-1}+v)^2} \\ -\frac{(v_1-v)}{(u+v_1)^2} & \frac{u+v}{(u+v_1)^2} \mathcal{S} + \frac{u-u_{-1}-v_1+v}{(u_{-1}+v)(u+v_1)} \end{pmatrix}$$

$$- \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ -1 \end{pmatrix} (\mathcal{S}-1)^{-1} \left( \frac{1}{u+v_1} - \frac{1}{u+v} & \frac{1}{u_{-1}+v} - \frac{1}{u+v} \right)$$

$$- \begin{pmatrix} \frac{u-u_{-1}}{u_{-1}+v} \\ \frac{v_1-v}{u+v_1} \end{pmatrix} (\mathcal{S}-1)^{-1} \left( \frac{2}{u+v_1} - \frac{1}{u+v} & \frac{2}{u_{-1}+v} - \frac{1}{u+v} \right).$$

The symmetry  $(1, -1)^{tr}$  is a seed for both  $\mathcal{R}$  and  $\mathcal{R}'$ . In fact, operator  $\mathcal{R}'$  is the inverse operator of  $\mathcal{R}$ .

#### 5.2.12 The Ablowitz-Ladik lattice

• Equation [2]:

$$\begin{pmatrix} u_t \\ v_t \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} (1 - uv)(\alpha u_1 - \beta u_{-1}) \\ (1 - uv)(\beta v_1 - \alpha v_{-1}) \end{pmatrix} =: \alpha K_1 + \beta K_{-1}$$

• Hamiltonian structure [62]:

$$\mathcal{H} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 - uv \\ -(1 - uv) & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad f = (\alpha u_1 - \beta u_{-1})v$$

• Recursion operator [33, 35, 62]

$$\mathcal{R} = \begin{pmatrix} (1 - uv)\mathcal{S} - u_1v - uv_{-1} & -uu_1 \\ vv_{-1} & (1 - uv)\mathcal{S}^{-1} \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} -u \\ v \end{pmatrix} (\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} v \\ v \end{pmatrix} - \begin{pmatrix} (1 - uv)u_1 \\ -(1 - uv)v_{-1} \end{pmatrix} (\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{v}{1 - uv} & \frac{u}{1 - uv} \end{pmatrix}$$

• Non-trivial symmetry [62]:

$$\mathcal{R}\left(\begin{array}{c} (1-uv)u_1 \\ -(1-uv)v_{-1} \end{array}\right) = \left(\begin{array}{c} (1-uv)\left((1-u_1v_1)u_2 - vu_1^2 - uu_1v_{-1}\right) \\ (1-uv)\left(-(1-u_{-1}v_{-1})v_{-2} + uv_{-1}^2 + u_1v_{-1}v\right) \end{array}\right)$$

• Master symmetry [62]:

$$\mathcal{R} \begin{pmatrix} nu \\ -nv \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} (n+1)(1-uv)u_1 - u^2v_{-1} - u(\mathcal{S}-1)^{-1}uv_{-1} \\ (1-n)(1-uv)v_{-1} + uvv_{-1} + v(\mathcal{S}-1)^{-1}uv_{-1} \end{pmatrix}$$

The coefficients for  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ , namely,  $K_1$  and  $K_{-1}$ , are commuting symmetries for the equation. The inverse of this recursion operator  $\mathcal{R}$  is of weakly nonlocal form:

$$\mathcal{R}^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} (1 - uv) \ \mathcal{S}^{-1} & uu_{-1} \\ -vv_1 & (1 - uv) \ \mathcal{S} - uv_1 - u_{-1}v \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} u \\ -v \end{pmatrix} (\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} v_1 & u_{-1} \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} (1 - uv)u_{-1} \\ -(1 - uv)v_1 \end{pmatrix} (\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{v}{1 - uv} & \frac{u}{1 - uv} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Both  $\mathcal{R}$  and  $\mathcal{R}^{-1}$  share a common the seed  $\sigma = \begin{pmatrix} u \\ -v \end{pmatrix}$ . Starting form it, we can generate the commuting symmetries  $\mathcal{R}^{-i}(\sigma)$  and  $\mathcal{R}^{i}(\sigma)$  for  $i \in \mathbb{N}$ .

#### 5.2.13 The Bruschi-Ragnisco lattice

• Equation [9, 66, 81]:

$$\left(\begin{array}{c} u_t \\ v_t \end{array}\right) = \left(\begin{array}{c} u_1 v - u v_{-1} \\ v(v - v_{-1}) \end{array}\right)$$

• Hamiltonian structure [9, 62]:

$$\mathcal{H}_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & (1 - \mathcal{S}^{-1})v \\ v(\mathcal{S} - 1) & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad f_1 = u_1 v$$

$$\mathcal{H}_2 = \begin{pmatrix} v\mathcal{S}u - u\mathcal{S}^{-1}v & v(\mathcal{S} - 1)v \\ v(1 - \mathcal{S}^{-1})v & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad f_2 = u$$

• Recursion operator [62, 66]:

$$\mathcal{R} = \mathcal{H}_2 \mathcal{H}_1^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} vS & u_1 + uS^{-1} + (u_1v - uv_{-1})(S - 1)^{-1}\frac{1}{v} \\ 0 & vS^{-1} + v(v - v_{-1})(S - 1)^{-1}\frac{1}{v} \end{pmatrix} \\
= \begin{pmatrix} vS & u_1 + uS^{-1} \\ 0 & vS^{-1} \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} u_t \\ v_t \end{pmatrix} (S - 1)^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \frac{1}{v} \end{pmatrix}$$

• Non-trivial symmetry [62]:

$$\mathcal{R} \left( \begin{array}{c} u_t \\ v_t \end{array} \right) = \left( \begin{array}{c} vv_1u_2 - v_{-2}v_{-1}u \\ v(vv_{-1} - v_{-1}v_{-2}) \end{array} \right)$$

• Master symmetry [62]:

$$\mathcal{R} \left( \begin{array}{c} u \\ v \end{array} \right) = \left( \begin{array}{c} nu_t + 2u_1v + u_{-1}u \\ nv_t + vv_{-1} \end{array} \right)$$

The recursion operator  $\mathcal{R}$  has a weakly nonlocal inverse:

$$\mathcal{R}^{-1} = \mathcal{H}_1 \mathcal{H}_2^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{S}^{-1} \frac{1}{v} & -\mathcal{S}^{-1} \frac{u}{v^2} - \frac{u}{v^2} + (\frac{u_{-1}}{v_{-1}} - \frac{u}{v})(\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} \frac{1}{v} \\ 0 & v \mathcal{S} \frac{1}{v^2} - \frac{1}{v} + \frac{1}{v_1} + (\frac{v}{v_1} - 1)(\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} \frac{1}{v} \end{pmatrix} \\
= \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{S}^{-1} \frac{1}{v} & -\mathcal{S}^{-1} \frac{u}{v^2} - \frac{u}{v^2} \\ 0 & v \mathcal{S} \frac{1}{v^2} - \frac{1}{v} + \frac{1}{v_1} \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} \frac{u_{-1}}{v_{-1}} - \frac{u}{v} \\ \frac{v}{v_1} - 1 \end{pmatrix} (\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \frac{1}{v} \end{pmatrix}.$$

However, recursion operators  $\mathcal{R}$  and  $\mathcal{R}^{-1}$  have different seeds similar to the Relativistic Toda system in section 5.2.7. The starting point for operator  $\mathcal{R}$  is the equation itself while the seed for  $\mathcal{R}^{-1}$  is  $\sigma = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{u_{-1}}{v_{-1}} - \frac{u}{v} \\ \frac{v}{v_1} - 1 \end{pmatrix}$ . Operator  $\mathcal{R}^{-1}$  acting on the equation itself and  $\mathcal{R}$  on  $\sigma$  do not generate new symmetries. Notice that the scalar lattice  $v_t = v(v - v_{-1})$  can be linearised into  $w_t = w_{-1}$  by the transformation  $v = -\frac{w_{-1}}{w}$ .

#### 5.2.14 The Kaup-Newell lattice

• Equation [86]:

$$\begin{pmatrix} u_t \\ v_t \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} a\left(\frac{u_1}{1-u_1v_1} - \frac{u}{1-uv}\right) + b\left(\frac{u}{1+uv_1} - \frac{u_{-1}}{1+u_{-1}v}\right) \\ a\left(\frac{v}{1-uv} - \frac{v_{-1}}{1-u_{-1}v_{-1}}\right) + b\left(\frac{v_1}{1+uv_1} - \frac{v}{1+u_{-1}v}\right) \end{pmatrix} =: aK_1 + bK_{-1}$$

• Symplectic operator:

$$\mathcal{I} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \frac{1}{1-uv} \\ -\frac{1}{1-uv} & 0 \end{pmatrix} - \begin{pmatrix} \frac{v}{1-uv} \\ \frac{u}{1-uv} \end{pmatrix} (\mathcal{S}+1)(\mathcal{S}-1)^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{v}{1-uv} & \frac{u}{1-uv} \end{pmatrix}$$

• Hamiltonian structure [86]:

$$\mathcal{H}=\left(egin{array}{cc} 0 & \mathcal{S}-1 \ 1-\mathcal{S}^{-1} & 0 \end{array}
ight), \qquad f=-a\ln(1-uv)+b\ln(1+uv_1)$$

• Recursion operator:

$$\mathcal{R} = \mathcal{H} \mathcal{I} = \begin{pmatrix} R_{11} & R_{12} \\ R_{21} & R_{22} \end{pmatrix} - 2K_1(\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{v}{1 - uv} & \frac{u}{1 - uv} \end{pmatrix},$$

where

$$R_{11} = -\frac{1}{(1 - u_1 v_1)^2} \mathcal{S} + \frac{1}{(1 - u v)^2} - \frac{2u_1 v}{(1 - u_1 v_1)(1 - u v)}$$

$$R_{12} = -\frac{u_1^2}{(1 - u_1 v_1)^2} \mathcal{S} + \frac{u^2}{(1 - u v)^2} - \frac{2u u_1}{(1 - u v)(1 - u_1 v_1)}$$

$$R_{21} = -\frac{v_{-1}^2}{(1 - u_{-1} v_{-1})^2} \mathcal{S}^{-1} - \frac{v^2}{(1 - u v)^2}$$

$$R_{22} = -\frac{1}{(1 - u_{-1} v_{-1})^2} \mathcal{S}^{-1} + \frac{1 - 2u v}{(1 - u v)^2}$$

• Non-trivial symmetry:

$$\mathcal{R}\left(K_{1}\right) = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{(1-u_{1}v_{1})^{2}}\left(u_{1} - \frac{u_{2}}{1-u_{2}v_{2}} - \frac{u_{1}^{2}v}{1-uv}\right) - \frac{1}{(1-uv)^{2}}\left(u - \frac{u_{1}}{1-u_{1}v_{1}} - \frac{u^{2}v_{-1}}{1-u_{-1}v_{-1}}\right) \\ \frac{1}{(1-uv)^{2}}\left(v - \frac{u_{1}v^{2}}{1-u_{1}v_{1}} - \frac{v_{-1}}{1-u_{-1}v_{-1}}\right) - \frac{1}{(1-u_{-1}v_{-1})^{2}}\left(v_{-1} - \frac{uv_{-1}^{2}}{1-uv} - \frac{v_{-2}}{1-u_{-2}v_{-2}}\right) \end{pmatrix}$$

The recursion operator  $\mathcal{R}$  has a seed  $\sigma = \begin{pmatrix} -u \\ v \end{pmatrix}$  and  $\mathcal{R}(\sigma) = K_1$ . Similar to the Ablowitz-Ladik Lattice in section 5.2.12, the coefficients for a and b, namely,  $K_1$  and  $K_{-1}$ , are commuting symmetries for the equation. Indeed, there exists another weakly nonlocal recursion operator

$$\mathcal{R}' = \mathcal{H}\mathcal{I}' = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{(1+u_{-1}v)^2} \mathcal{S}^{-1} - \frac{1+2uv_1}{(1+uv_1)^2} & -\frac{u^2}{(1+uv_1)^2} \mathcal{S} + \frac{u_{-1}^2}{(1+u_{-1}v)^2} - \frac{2uu_{-1}}{(1+u_{-1}v)(1+uv_1)} \\ -\frac{v^2}{(1+u_{-1}v)^2} \mathcal{S}^{-1} - \frac{v_1^2}{(1+uv_1)^2} & \frac{1}{(1+uv_1)^2} \mathcal{S} - \frac{1}{(1+u_{-1}v)^2} - \frac{2u_{-1}v_1}{(1+u_{-1}v)(1+uv_1)} \end{pmatrix} \\ -2K_{-1}(\mathcal{S}-1)^{-1} \left( \begin{array}{cc} \frac{v_1}{1+uv_1} & \frac{u_{-1}}{1+u_{-1}v} \end{array} \right),$$

where the symplectic operator  $\mathcal{I}'$  is

$$\mathcal{I}' = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \frac{1}{1+uv_1} (\mathcal{S} - u_{-1}v_1) \frac{1}{1+u_{-1}v} \\ \frac{1}{1+u-1v} (u_{-1}v_1 - \mathcal{S}^{-1}) \frac{1}{1+uv_1} & 0 \end{pmatrix} \\
- \begin{pmatrix} \frac{v_1}{1+uv_1} \\ \frac{u_{-1}}{1+u-1v} \end{pmatrix} (\mathcal{S} + 1)(\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{v_1}{1+uv_1} & \frac{u_{-1}}{1+u_{-1}v} \end{pmatrix}$$

#### 5.2.15 The Chen-Lee-Liu lattice

• Equation [86]:

$$\begin{pmatrix} u_t \\ v_t \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} a(1+uv)(u_1-u) + b(1+u_{-1}v)^{-1}(u-u_{-1}) \\ a(1+uv)(v-v_{-1}) + b(1+uv_1)^{-1}(v_1-v) \end{pmatrix} =: aK_1 + bK_{-1}$$

• Hamiltonian structure:

$$\mathcal{H}=\left(egin{array}{cc} 0 & 1+uv \ -(1+uv) & 0 \end{array}
ight), \qquad f=a(uv_{-1}-uv)+b\lnrac{1+uv}{1+uv_{1}}$$

• Recursion operator:

$$\mathcal{R} = \mathcal{H}_2 \mathcal{H}^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} (1+uv)\mathcal{S} - 2uv + u_1v + uv_{-1} & uu_1 - u^2 \\ v^2 - vv_{-1} & (1+uv)\mathcal{S}^{-1} \end{pmatrix} + K_1(\mathcal{S}-1)^{-1} \left( \frac{v}{1+uv} & \frac{u}{1+uv} \right) - \begin{pmatrix} u \\ -v \end{pmatrix} (\mathcal{S}-1)^{-1} \left( v - v_{-1} & u - u_1 \right),$$

where Hamiltonian operator  $\mathcal{H}_2$  is given by

$$\mathcal{H}_2 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & (1+uv)\left(\mathcal{S}(1+uv)-uv+u_1v\right) \\ \left(uv-u_1v-(1+uv)\mathcal{S}^{-1}\right)\left(1+uv\right) & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
$$-K_1(\mathcal{S}-1)^{-1}\begin{pmatrix} u & -v \end{pmatrix} - \begin{pmatrix} u \\ -v \end{pmatrix} \mathcal{S}(\mathcal{S}-1)^{-1}K_1^{\text{tr}}.$$

• Non-trivial symmetry:

$$\mathcal{R}\left(K_{1}
ight)=\left(egin{array}{c} G_{1} \ G_{2} \end{array}
ight)$$

where

$$G_1 = (1 + uv)(u_1u_2v_1 + u_2 + u_1^2v + uu_1v_{-1} + u^2v - u_1 - u^2v_{-1} - 2uu_1v - u_1^2v_1),$$

$$G_2 = (1 + uv)(u_1v^2 + 2uv_{-1}v + u_{-1}v_{-1}^2 + v_{-1} - v_{-2} - uv^2 - uv_{-1}^2)$$

$$- u_1v_{-1}v - u_{-1}v_{-2}v_{-1}).$$

The coefficients for a and b, namely,  $K_1$  and  $K_{-1}$ , are commuting symmetries for the equation. The above recursion operator  $\mathcal{R}$  has a seed  $\sigma = \begin{pmatrix} -u \\ v \end{pmatrix}$  and  $\mathcal{R}(\sigma) = K_1$ .

There exists another weakly nonlocal recursion operator

$$\mathcal{R}' = \mathcal{H}_2' \mathcal{H}^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1+uv}{(1+u_{-1}v)^2} \mathcal{S}^{-1} & -\frac{u_{-1}(u-u_{-1})}{(1+u_{-1}v)^2} \\ -\frac{v_1(v_1-v)}{(1+uv_1)^2} & \frac{1+uv}{(1+uv_1)^2} \mathcal{S} + \frac{v_1u-2u_{-1}v_1+u_{-1}v}{(1+u_{-1}v)(1+uv_1)} \end{pmatrix}$$
$$-K_{-1}(\mathcal{S}-1)^{-1} \left( \frac{2v_1}{1+uv_1} - \frac{v}{1+uv} & \frac{2u_{-1}}{1+u_{-1}v} - \frac{u}{1+uv} \right)$$
$$-\begin{pmatrix} -u \\ v \end{pmatrix} (\mathcal{S}-1)^{-1} \left( \frac{v_1}{1+uv_1} - \frac{v}{1+uv} & \frac{u_{-1}}{1+u_{-1}v} - \frac{u}{1+uv} \right),$$

where the Hamiltonian operator  $\mathcal{H}'_2$  is

$$\mathcal{H}'_{2} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \frac{1+uv}{1+u-1v} \left( \mathcal{S}^{-1} \frac{1+uv}{1+uv_{1}} + \frac{v_{1}(u-u_{-1})}{1+uv_{1}} \right) \\ -\left( \frac{1+uv}{1+uv_{1}} \mathcal{S} + \frac{v_{1}(u-u_{-1})}{1+uv_{1}} \right) \frac{1+uv}{1+u-1v} & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
$$-K_{-1}(\mathcal{S}+1)(\mathcal{S}-1)^{-1} K_{-1}^{tr} - K_{-1} \mathcal{S}(\mathcal{S}-1)^{-1} \left( -u \quad v \right) - \begin{pmatrix} -u \\ v \end{pmatrix} (\mathcal{S}-1)^{-1} K_{-1}^{tr} .$$

Again  $\sigma$  is a seed for  $\mathcal{R}'$ . In fact, operator  $\mathcal{R}'$  is the inverse operator of  $\mathcal{R}$ .

## 5.2.16 The Ablowitz-Ramani-Segur (Gerdjikov-Ivanov) lattice

• Equation [86]:

$$\begin{pmatrix} u_t \\ v_t \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} (au_1 - bu_{-1})(1 + uv)(1 - uv_1) \\ (bv_1 - av_{-1})(1 + uv)(1 - u_{-1}v) \end{pmatrix} =: aK_1 + bK_{-1}$$

The equation given in [86] is

$$\begin{pmatrix} u_t \\ v_t \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} (b-a)u \\ (a-b)v \end{pmatrix} + aK_1 + bK_{-1}.$$

Since the vector  $\sigma = \begin{pmatrix} -u \\ v \end{pmatrix}$  commutes with both  $K_1$  and  $K_{-1}$ , we removed this term in our consideration.

• Symplectic operator:

$$\mathcal{I} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \frac{1}{1 - uv_1} \mathcal{S} - \frac{1}{1 + uv} \\ \frac{1}{1 + uv} - \mathcal{S}^{-1} \frac{1}{1 - uv_1} & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

and we have

$$\mathcal{I}(aK_1 + bK_{-1}) = \delta_{(u,v)} \left( a(uv_{-1} - uv - uvu_1v_1) + b(u_{-1}v_1 - uv_1 + u_{-1}uvv_1) \right) .$$

• Hamiltonian structure:

$$\mathcal{H} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & h_{12} \\ h_{21} & 0 \end{pmatrix} - K_1 \mathcal{S} (\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} u & -v \end{pmatrix} - \begin{pmatrix} u \\ -v \end{pmatrix} (\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} K_1^{\operatorname{tr}},$$

where

$$h_{12} = (1 + uv)(\mathcal{S}(1 + uv) + uv_{-1})(1 - u_{-1}v)$$
  
$$h_{21} = -(1 - u_{-1}v)((1 + uv)\mathcal{S}^{-1} + uv_{-1})(1 + uv)$$

### • Recursion operator:

$$\mathcal{R} = \begin{pmatrix}
(1+uv)(1-uv_1)\mathcal{S} + u_1v - u_1v_1 & -uu_1(1+uv)\mathcal{S} - u^2(1+u_{-1}v_{-1}) \\
+uv_{-1} - uv(1+u_{-1}v_{-1} + 2u_1v_1) & +\frac{1-uv_1}{1-u_{-1}v}u_1(u-u_{-1} - 2uu_{-1}v) \\
-(1-u_{-1}v)v_{-1}v - (1+uv)v_{-1}v\mathcal{S}^{-1} & (1+uv)(1-u_{-1}v)\mathcal{S}^{-1} + uvu_{-1}v_{-1}
\end{pmatrix}$$

$$+ \begin{pmatrix}
u_1(1+uv)(1-uv_1) \\
-v_{-1}(1+uv)(1-u_{-1}v)
\end{pmatrix} (\mathcal{S}-1)^{-1} \begin{pmatrix}
\frac{v}{1+uv} - \frac{v_1}{1-uv_1} & \frac{u}{1+uv} - \frac{u_{-1}}{1-u_{-1}v}
\end{pmatrix}$$

$$- \begin{pmatrix}
u \\
-v
\end{pmatrix} (\mathcal{S}-1)^{-1} \begin{pmatrix}
v - v_{-1} + u_{-1}v_{-1}v + u_{1}vv_{1} & u - u_{1} + uu_{-1}v_{-1} + uu_{1}v_{1}
\end{pmatrix}$$

$$= \mathcal{H}\mathcal{I} + \begin{pmatrix}
1 & 0 \\
0 & 1
\end{pmatrix}$$

• Non-trivial symmetry  $\mathcal{R}(K_1)$ :

$$\mathcal{R}(K_1) = \left(egin{array}{c} G_1 \ G_2 \end{array}
ight) \, ,$$

where

$$G_{1} = (1 + uv)(1 - uv_{1})[(1 + u_{1}v_{1})(1 - u_{1}v_{2})u_{2} - u_{1}^{2}v_{1}(1 + uv) + uu_{1}v_{-1}(1 - u_{-1}v)$$

$$-u_{1}v(u - u_{1})],$$

$$G_{2} = (1 + uv)(u_{-1}v - 1)[(1 + u_{-1}v_{-1})(1 - u_{-2}v_{-1})v_{-2} - u_{-1}v_{-1}^{2}(1 + uv)$$

$$+u_{1}v_{-1}v(1 - uv_{1}) + uv_{-1}(v_{-1} - v)].$$



There exists another weakly nonlocal recursion operator

$$\mathcal{R}' = \begin{pmatrix} (1+uv)(1-uv_1)\mathcal{S}^{-1} + uvu_{-1}v_1 & uu_{-1}(1+uv)\mathcal{S} + uu_{-2}(1+u_{-1}v_{-1}) \\ -\frac{1-uv_1}{1-u_{-1}v}u_{-1}(u-u_{-1}-2uu_{-1}v) \end{pmatrix}$$

$$-\frac{1-uv_1}{1-u_{-1}v}u_{-1}(u-u_{-1}-2uu_{-1}v)$$

$$(1+uv)(1-u_{-1}v)\mathcal{S} + uv_1 - 2u_{-1}uvv_1 \\ -u_{-1}v_1 + u_{-1}v - u_{-2}v(1+u_{-1}v_{-1}) \end{pmatrix}$$

$$+ \begin{pmatrix} -u_{-1}(1+uv)(1-uv_1) \\ v_1(1+uv)(1-u_{-1}v) \end{pmatrix} (\mathcal{S}-1)^{-1} \left( \frac{v}{1+uv} - \frac{v_1}{1-uv_1} - \frac{u}{1+uv} - \frac{u_{-1}}{1-u_{-1}v} \right)$$

$$+ \begin{pmatrix} u \\ -v \end{pmatrix} (\mathcal{S}-1)^{-1} \left( v_2(1+u_1v_1) + v_1(u_{-1}v-1) - u_{-2}(1+u_{-1}v_{-1}) + u_{-1}(uv_1-1) \right)$$

$$= \mathcal{H}'\mathcal{I} + \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} ,$$

where the Hamiltonian operator  $\mathcal{H}'$  is

$$\mathcal{H}' = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -(1+uv)(1-u_{-1}v) \\ (1+uv)(1-u_{-1}v) & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
$$-K_{-1}\mathcal{S}(\mathcal{S}-1)^{-1}\begin{pmatrix} u & -v \end{pmatrix} - \begin{pmatrix} u \\ -v \end{pmatrix} (\mathcal{S}-1)^{-1}K_{-1}^{\mathrm{tr}}.$$

Operator  $\mathcal{R}'$  is the inverse operator of  $\mathcal{R}$ . The vector  $\sigma$  is them seed for both of them and  $\mathcal{R}'(K_{-1})$  is

$$\mathcal{R}'(K_{-1}) = \left(\begin{array}{c} G_1' \\ G_2' \end{array}\right) ,$$

where

$$\begin{split} G_1' &= (1-uv_1)(1+uv)[(1+u_{-1}v_{-1})(1-u_{-1}v)u_{-2}-uu_{-1}v_2(1+u_1v_1)-u_{-1}^2v_1(1+uv)\\ &+u_{-1}(u_{-1}v+uv_1)]\;,\\ G_2' &= (1-u_{-1}v)(1+uv)[-(1+u_1v_1)(1-uv_1)v_2+u_{-2}vv_1(1+u_{-1}v_{-1})\\ &+u_{-1}v_1(v_1vu+v_1-v)-uv_1^2]\;. \end{split}$$

### 5.2.17 The Heisenberg ferromagnet lattice

• Equation [79]:

$$\begin{pmatrix} u_t \\ v_t \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} (u-v)(u-u_1)(u_1-v)^{-1} \\ (u-v)(v_{-1}-v)(u-v_{-1})^{-1} \end{pmatrix}$$

• Hamiltonian structure:

$$\mathcal{H} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & (u-v)^2 \\ -(u-v)^2 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad f = \ln(u-v) - \ln(u-v_{-1})$$

• Symplectic operator:

$$\mathcal{I} = \begin{pmatrix}
0 & -(u-v_{-1})^{-2} \mathcal{S}^{-1} + \frac{(u-u_{1})(v-v_{-1})}{(u-v)^{2}(u-v_{-1})(u_{1}-v)} \\
(u_{1}-v)^{-2} \mathcal{S} - \frac{(u-u_{1})(v-v_{-1})}{(u-v)^{2}(u-v_{-1})(u_{1}-v)} & 0
\end{pmatrix}$$

$$- \begin{pmatrix}
\frac{v-v_{-1}}{(u-v)(u-v_{-1})} \\
\frac{u-u_{1}}{(u-v)(u_{1}-v)}
\end{pmatrix} (\mathcal{S}+1)(\mathcal{S}-1)^{-1} \begin{pmatrix}
\frac{v-v_{-1}}{(u-v)(u-v_{-1})} & \frac{u-u_{1}}{(u-v)(u_{1}-v)}
\end{pmatrix}$$

• Recursion operator:

$$\mathcal{R} = \mathcal{H}\mathcal{I} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{(u-v)^2}{(u_1-v)^2} \mathcal{S} - \frac{2(u-u_1)(v-v_{-1})}{(u-v_{-1})(u_1-v)} & -\frac{(u-u_1)^2}{(u_1-v)^2} \\ \frac{(v-v_{-1})^2}{(u-v_{-1})^2} & \frac{(u-v)^2}{(u-v_{-1})^2} \mathcal{S}^{-1} \end{pmatrix}$$

$$-2 \begin{pmatrix} u_t \\ v_t \end{pmatrix} (\mathcal{S} - 1)^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{v-v_{-1}}{(u-v)(u-v_{-1})} & \frac{u-u_1}{(u-v)(u_1-v)} \end{pmatrix}$$

• Non-trivial symmetry:

$$\mathcal{R} \begin{pmatrix} u_t \\ v_t \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{(u-v)}{(u_1-v)^2} \left( \frac{(u-v)(u_1-v_1)(u_1-u_2)}{(u_2-v_1)} + \frac{(u-u_1)^2(v_{-1}-v)}{(u-v_{-1})} \right) \\ \frac{(u-v)}{(u-v_{-1})^2} \left( \frac{(u-v)(u_{-1}-v_{-1})(v_{-2}-v_{-1})}{(u_{-1}-v_{-2})} + \frac{(v-v_{-1})^2(u-u_1)}{(u_1-v)} \right) \end{pmatrix}$$

The recursion operator  $\mathcal{R}$  has a weakly nonlocal inverse:

$$\mathcal{R}^{-1} = \mathcal{H} \mathcal{I}' = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{(u-v)^2}{(u_{-1}-v)^2} \mathcal{S}^{-1} & \frac{(u-u_{-1})^2}{(u_{-1}-v)^2} \\ -\frac{(v-v_1)^2}{(u-v_1)^2} & \frac{(u-v)^2}{(u-v_1)^2} \mathcal{S} - \frac{2(u-u_{-1})(v-v_1)}{(u-v_1)(u_{-1}-v)} \end{pmatrix}$$

$$-2 \begin{pmatrix} \frac{(u-v)(u_{-1}-u)}{u_{-1}-v} \\ \frac{(u-v)(v-v_1)}{u-v_1} \end{pmatrix} (\mathcal{S}-1)^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{v-v_1}{(u-v)(u-v_1)} & \frac{u-u_{-1}}{(u-v)(u-v_1)} \end{pmatrix},$$

where the symplectic operator  $\mathcal{I}'$  is given by

$$\mathcal{I}' = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -(u-v_1)^{-2}\mathcal{S} + \frac{(u-u_{-1})(v-v_1)}{(u-v)^2(u-v_1)(u_{-1}-v)} \\ (u_{-1}-v)^{-2}\mathcal{S}^{-1} - \frac{(u-u_{-1})(v-v_1)}{(u-v)^2(u-v_1)(u_{-1}-v)} & 0 \end{pmatrix} \\
+ \begin{pmatrix} \frac{v-v_1}{(u-v)(u-v_1)} \\ \frac{u-u_{-1}}{(u-v)(u_{-1}-v)} \end{pmatrix} (\mathcal{S}+1)(\mathcal{S}-1)^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{v-v_1}{(u-v)(u-v_1)} & \frac{u-u_{-1}}{(u-v)(u-1-v)} \end{pmatrix}.$$

### 5.2.18 The Belov-Chaltikian lattice

• Equation [4]:

$$\begin{pmatrix} u_t \\ v_t \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} u(v_2 - v_{-1}) \\ u_{-1} - u + v(v_1 - v_{-1}) \end{pmatrix}$$

• Hamiltonian structure [4]:

$$\mathcal{H}_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} u(\mathcal{S} - \mathcal{S}^{-1})(\mathcal{S} + 1 + \mathcal{S}^{-1})u & u(\mathcal{S} - 1)(\mathcal{S} + 1 + \mathcal{S}^{-1})v \\ v(1 - \mathcal{S}^{-1})(\mathcal{S} + 1 + \mathcal{S}^{-1})u & v(\mathcal{S} - \mathcal{S}^{-1})v + \mathcal{S}^{-1}u - u\mathcal{S} \end{pmatrix}, \quad f_{1} = v$$

$$\mathcal{H}_{2} = \begin{pmatrix} h_{11} & h_{12} \\ h_{21} & h_{22} \end{pmatrix}, \quad f_{2} = -\frac{1}{3}\ln u$$

$$h_{11} = u(1 + S + S^{2})(S^{-1}v - vS)(1 + S^{-1} + S^{-2})u$$

$$h_{12} = u(1 + S + S^{2})(uS - S^{-2}u) + u(1 + S + S^{2})(S^{-1}v - vS)(1 + S^{-1})v$$

$$h_{21} = (uS^{2} - S^{-1}u)(1 + S^{-1} + S^{-2})u + v(1 + S)(S^{-1}v - vS)(1 + S^{-1} + S^{-2})u$$

$$h_{22} = v(1 + S)(uS - S^{-2}u) + (uS^{2} - S^{-1}u)(1 + S^{-1})v$$

$$+v(1 + S)(S^{-1}v - vS)(1 + S^{-1})v$$

• Non-trivial symmetry :

$$\mathcal{H}_2 \delta f_1 = \begin{pmatrix} uv_{-1} \left( v + v_{-1} + v_{-2} \right) - uv_2 \left( v_1 + v_2 + v_3 \right) + u \left( u_1 + u_2 - u_{-1} - u_{-2} \right) \\ \left( u - vv_1 \right) \left( v + v_1 + v_2 \right) + \left( vv_{-1} - u_{-1} \right) \left( v + v_{-1} + v_{-2} \right) - v \left( u_{-2} - u_1 \right) \end{pmatrix}$$

• Master symmetry [70]:

$$\left(\begin{array}{c}
nu_t + uv_1 + 4uv_{-1} + uv \\
nv_t + u - vv_1 - 4u_{-1} + 4vv_{-1} + v^2
\end{array}\right)$$

#### 5.2.19 The Blaszak-Marciniak lattice

• Equation [6]:

$$\begin{pmatrix} u_t \\ v_t \\ w_t \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} w_1 - w_{-1} \\ u_{-1}w_{-1} - uw \\ w(v - v_1) \end{pmatrix}$$

• Hamiltonian structure [6]:

$$\mathcal{H}_1 = \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{S} - \mathcal{S}^{-1} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & (\mathcal{S}^{-1} - 1)w \\ 0 & -w(\mathcal{S} - 1) & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad f_1 = uw + \frac{1}{2}v^2$$

$$\mathcal{H}_2 = \begin{pmatrix} h_{11} & h_{12} & h_{13} \\ h_{21} & h_{22} & h_{23} \\ h_{31} & h_{32} & h_{33} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad f_2 = v$$

where

$$h_{11} = Sv - vS^{-1} - u(S+1)^{-1}(1-S)u$$

$$h_{12} = SwS - S^{-1}w$$

$$h_{13} = u(S+1)^{-1}(1-S)w$$

$$h_{21} = wS - S^{-1}wS^{-1}$$

$$h_{22} = S^{-1}uw - uwS$$

$$h_{23} = v(S^{-1} - 1)w$$

$$h_{31} = w(S+1)^{-1}(1-S)u$$

$$h_{32} = -w(S-1)v$$

$$h_{33} = w(S^{-1} - S)w - w(S+1)^{-1}(1-S)w$$

• Recursion operator:

$$\mathcal{R} = \mathcal{H}_2 \mathcal{H}_1^{-1},$$

where

$$\mathcal{H}_{1}^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{2}(\mathcal{S}-1)^{-1} + \frac{1}{2}(\mathcal{S}+1)^{-1} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & -(\mathcal{S}-1)^{-1}\frac{1}{w}\\ 0 & -\frac{1}{w}\mathcal{S}(\mathcal{S}-1)^{-1} & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

• Non-trivial symmetry:

$$\mathcal{H}_2 \delta f_1 = \mathcal{H}_2 \begin{pmatrix} w \\ v \\ u \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} w_1(v_1 + v_2) - w_{-1}(v + v_{-1}) \\ u_{-1}w_{-1}(v + v_{-1}) - uw(v + v_1) - w_{-1}w_{-2} + ww_1 \\ w(v^2 - v_1^2) + w(w_{-1}u_{-1} - w_1u_1) \end{pmatrix}$$

• Master symmetry:

$$\mathcal{R}\left(\begin{array}{c} u/2\\v\\3w/2\end{array}\right)$$

We do not explicitly write out its recursion operator, which is no longer weakly nonlocal although both operators  $\mathcal{H}_2$  and  $\mathcal{H}_1^{-1}$  are weakly nonlocal. The statement that such recursion operator generates local symmetries can be proved in the same way as in [91], for weakly nonlocal differential recursion operators. Its master symmetry, which is highly nonlocal, is explicitly given in [70].

### 5.3 Conclusion

In this chapter we presented a list of integrable differential-difference equations containing equations themselves, Hamiltonian structures, recursion operators and a nontrivial generalised symmetry. First of all we should note that the list is not complete. We tried to collect as many integrable equations as we could, along with their properties, from known references. Also for most equations, we provided the corresponding weakly nonlocal inverse recursion operator. To say whether there exists an inverse recursion operator for a given equation is still an open problem.

## Chapter 6

Master symmetries and representation theory of the differential-difference KP equation

### 6.1 Introduction

As we mentioned earlier in the introduction of the thesis, both integrable linearizable evolution PDEs and the evolution partial differential equations solvable by inverse scattering method (S-integrable) enjoy having the infinite series of higher generalised symmetries. This property can be used as an integrability criteria for both S-integrable and C-integrable equations. In recent years there have been works exploring the similar feature for the differential-difference and lattice equations [47, 95, 94].

It is quite desirable to find methods in order to generate the explicit form of generalised symmetries. As we saw in previous chapters, recursion operators which map a symmetry to a new symmetry can be used to produce an infinite hierarchy of generalised

symmetries [41, 67]. Finding the recursion operator for a given equation is not a trivial task. Master symmetries are an effective tool by which one can generate the hierarchy of generalised symmetries. The concept of master symmetry was first introduced in [21].

Master symmetries for (1+1)-dimensional differential equations and differential difference equations are not always local. For example for the KdV

$$u_t = u_{xxx} + 6uu_x,$$

the master symmetry has the form [15, 19, 63]

$$\tau = x(6uu_x + u_{xxx}) + 4u_{xx} + 8u^2 + 2u_x D_x^{-1} u, \qquad (6.1.1)$$

where  $D_x^{-1}$  is the right inverse of total x-derivative. The efficiency of master symmetries can be clearly seen in the (2+1)-dimensional integrable systems for which the recursion operators have more complicated structure than in (1+1)-dimension [22, 75]. For the Kadomtsev-Petviashvili equation, which can be viewed as the two-dimensional KdV, that is

$$u_t = 6uu_x - u_{xxx} - 3\alpha^2 D^{-1}u_{yy} = K(u)$$
,

the master symmetry is given in [65] as follows:

$$\tau(u) = yK(u) - 2\alpha^2 x u_y - 4\alpha^2 D_x^{-1} u_y.$$
(6.1.2)

The nonlinear partial integro-differential Benjamin-Ono equation

$$u_t = Hu_{xx} + 2uu_x = K(u),$$
 (6.1.3)

where H stands for the Hilbert transform

$$(Hf)(x) = \frac{1}{\pi} \int \frac{f(\xi)}{\xi - x} dx,$$

has the master symmetry given in [21] as

$$\tau(u) = xK(u) + u^2 + \frac{3}{2}Hu_x. (6.1.4)$$

Master symmetries are also used to obtain the t-dependent symmetries. In [24, 74] this relation is discussed and some examples are given. It is shown that if one has a master symmetry of evolution equation, then one can produce an infinite number of t-dependent symmetries which are polynomials in time.

Unlike partial differential equations many differential-difference equations possess local master symmetries. For more details regarding local master symmetries of discrete equations see [95] and the references therein. As we saw in the previous chapter the well-known Volterra chain (5.2.1) has the following master symmetry:

$$u_t = nu(u_1 - u_{-1}) + u(2u_1 + u + u_{-1}).$$

Comparing the works done on (1+1)-dimensional case with (2+1)-dimensional differential-difference equations, less research has been devoted to the latter. In Section 6.4 we will construct the master symmetry of the differential-difference KP (DDKP) equation

$$u_t = u_{xx} + 2uu_x + 2\Delta^{-1}D_x(u_x)$$
.

This chapter is structured as follows. In section 6.2 we shall give the definition of quasilocal terms and define the ring extension with respect to these terms. Section 6.3 first introduces the structure of (2+1)-dimensional differential-difference evolution equations and later discusses the notion of K-generators and K-master symmetries and theorems that we employ through the arguments. In the two last sections 6.4 and 6.5 respectively we obtain the master symmetry of the DDKP equation and employ the method in [74] to make the irreducible representations of the equation. In section 6.5 we also construct the generators of t-dependent symmetries of this equation.

## 6.2 Quasi-local difference polynomials

The concept of quasi-locality was first introduced in [57]. In [57] the main feature of integrable equations in (2+1)-dimension is pointed out. In fact evolutionary integrable (2+1)-dimensional equations along with their higher symmetries and conservation laws are not local anymore which means they are not only polynomials in  $u_m, u_{m,x}, u_{m,xx}$ , etc. They provide a new concept of quasi-local functions. In [90] one can find the proof for the symmetry structure of integrable (2+1)-dimensional equations. It is proved through the method called the symbolic representation. In this section we discuss an analogous concept of quasi-local terms for integrable (2+1)-dimensional differential-difference equations.

Let u(n, t, x) be a function of discrete variable  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$  and be analytic in two variables (t, x) where t and x are varying over the complex numbers. Analogue to the first chapter by writing  $u_{m,j}$  we mean m steps shift in the discrete variable and the second index stands for the derivative of u with respect to x. For example  $u_{1,2}$  shows one step shift in the discrete variable and second derivative with respect to x. When j is not very big (i.e. less that 4) we may also show it by the x index. So in this case we can write as  $u_{1xx}$ . A monomial of degree  $\ell$  has the following form:

$$u_{m_1,i_1}^{\alpha_1} u_{m_2,i_2}^{\alpha_2} \cdots u_{m_k,i_k}^{\alpha_k}, \qquad \sum_{j=1}^k \alpha_j = \ell.$$

Naturally the difference operator (2.1.6) acts on the discrete variable as

$$\Delta(u_{mj}) = u_{m+1,j} - u_{mj}.$$

To proceed we need to define the so-called quasi-local terms and consequently the concept of quasi-local polynomials. Consider  $\hat{\mathfrak{R}}^{\ell}$  be the ring of polynomials generated by all monomials of degree  $\ell$  as

$$\hat{\mathfrak{R}}^{\ell} = \langle u_{m_1,i_1}^{\alpha_1} u_{m_2,i_2}^{\alpha_2} \cdots u_{m_k,i_k}^{\alpha_k} | \sum_{j=1}^k \alpha_j = \ell \rangle .$$

Let  $\mathfrak{R}^{\ell}$  also contains the combination of monomials of degree  $\ell$  where the coefficients are polynomials in n and x. Then suppose we define  $\hat{\mathfrak{R}}$  and  $\mathfrak{R}$  such that their elements are linear combination of elements in  $\hat{\mathfrak{R}}^{\ell}$  and  $\mathfrak{R}^{\ell}$  for different values of  $\ell$ . Therefore  $\hat{\mathfrak{R}}$  and  $\mathfrak{R}$  can be expressed as the following direct sums:

$$\hat{\mathfrak{R}} = \bigoplus_{\ell \geq 1} \hat{\mathfrak{R}}^{\ell} ,$$
 $\mathfrak{R} = \bigoplus_{\ell > 1} \mathfrak{R}^{\ell} .$ 

Now let us consider two new operators  $\Theta$  and  $\Theta^{-1}$  defined as

$$\Theta = (S - 1)^{-1} D_x = \Delta^{-1} D_x, \tag{6.2.1}$$

$$\Theta^{-1} = (S - 1)D_x^{-1} = \Delta D_x^{-1}, \qquad (6.2.2)$$

where  $D_x$  denotes derivative with respect to x. To introduce the concept of quasi-local polynomials we need to extend the ring  $\hat{\mathfrak{R}}$  with respect to the new operators  $\Theta^{\pm 1}$ . Let

$$\hat{\mathfrak{R}}_{k+1}(\Theta) = \hat{\mathfrak{R}}_k(\Theta) \cup \Theta \hat{\mathfrak{R}}_k(\Theta) \cup \Theta^{-1} \hat{\mathfrak{R}}_k(\Theta), \qquad k \ge 0,$$

where  $\hat{\mathfrak{R}}_0(\Theta) = \hat{\mathfrak{R}}$  and we have

$$\begin{split} \Theta \hat{\mathfrak{R}}_k(\Theta) &= \left\{ \Theta(P) \mid P \in \hat{\mathfrak{R}}_k(\Theta) \right\}, \\ \Theta^{-1} \hat{\mathfrak{R}}_k(\Theta) &= \left\{ \Theta^{-1}(P) \mid P \in \hat{\mathfrak{R}}_k(\Theta) \right\}. \end{split}$$

According to the structure of  $\hat{\mathfrak{R}}_k(\Theta)$ , index k shows the maximal number of the nesting for  $\Theta^{\pm 1}$  in an expression. For example the following expressions lie respectively in  $\hat{\mathfrak{R}}_2(\Theta)$  and  $\hat{\mathfrak{R}}_3(\Theta)$ :

$$u_{1xx} + \Theta^{2}(u_{-1}) + \Theta(u_{x}\Theta^{-1}(u^{2}u_{1x})),$$
  
$$\Theta^{2}(u_{-1x}\Theta(u_{3xx})) + \Theta(u_{1x}^{2}u_{-2}\Theta^{-1}(u\Theta(u^{3}u_{1xx}))).$$

Now we define two ring extensions when k reaches infinity. First consider  $\hat{\mathfrak{G}}$  defined as

the following limit:

$$\hat{\mathfrak{G}} = \lim_{k \to \infty} \hat{\mathfrak{R}}_k(\Theta)$$
.

In a similar way we can have the ring extension

$$\mathfrak{G} = \lim_{k \to \infty} \mathfrak{R}_k(\Theta) \,.$$

In fact  $\mathfrak{G}$  is a ring containing all elements of  $\hat{\mathfrak{G}}$  along with the ones that also have dependency on x and n. For example we have

$$u_{1x}\Theta(u_{xx}) + \Theta(u\Theta(u_x)) \in \hat{\mathfrak{G}},$$

$$nu_{xx} + x^2\Theta(u_1\Theta(u_{2xxx})) \in \mathfrak{G}$$
.

According to the concept of Fréchet derivative defined in Section 2.4, for two elements F and G in  $\mathfrak{G}$  we define the Lie bracket of two elements as

$$[F,G] = F_*(G) - G_*(F)$$
.

The anti-symmetric axiom is clear and bilinearity also is deduced from the linearity of derivations and the shift operator. For the Jacobi identity it can be obtained through direct calculation and taking into account the following symmetry property:

$$(H_*)_*[G](F) = (H_*)_*[F](G), \qquad F, G, H \in \mathfrak{G}.$$

If we use the chain rule the explicit formula for the Fréchet derivative of elements in  $\mathfrak G$  is given as

$$F_* = \sum_{i=-\infty}^{N} \sum_{j\geq 0} \frac{\partial F}{\partial u_{i,j}} \mathcal{S}^i D_x^j. \tag{6.2.3}$$

**Example 22.** Let  $F \in \mathfrak{G}$  be the following expression:

$$nu_{1xx} + \Theta(xuu_x)$$
,

then for the element  $G = \Theta(u)$  we get

$$F_*(G) = nSD_x^2(G) + \Theta(xu_xG) + \Theta(xuD_x(G))$$
$$= n\Theta(u_{1xx}) + \Theta(xu_x\Theta(u)) + \Theta(xu\Theta(u_x)).$$

# 6.3 (2+1)-dimensional differential-difference equations and master symmetries

A (2+1)-dimensional differential-difference equation is defined as an evolutionary equation of the following form:

$$u_t = K, \qquad K \in \hat{\mathfrak{G}}$$
 (6.3.1)

Equation (6.3.1) is also known as a lattice field equation. Through this chapter we shall discuss the master symmetry of the differential-difference KP (DDKP) equation [11, 14, 61, 84]

$$u_t = u_{xx} + 2uu_x + 2\Theta(u_x) = K. (6.3.2)$$

This equation is also derived in [7, 40]. In [7] it is constructed through the procedure of central extension and the author refers to the equation as the lattice field Benjamin-Ono equation. Naturally we call an element  $G \in \hat{\mathfrak{G}}$  a generalised symmetry for equation (6.3.1) if and only if the following bracket vanishes:

$$[K,G] = 0. (6.3.3)$$

One can simply check that  $u_x$  is a symmetry of the DDKP equation (6.3.2).

For the concept of master symmetry we basically follow the notions given in [21, 24, 25, 27, 64, 65]. Consider equation (6.3.1), a K-generator of degree m is an element  $T \in \mathfrak{G}$  which satisfies the following relation:

$$ad_K^{m+1}T := \underbrace{[K\cdots,[K,[K,T]]]}_{(m+1)-times} = 0.$$

Obviously if T is a K-generator of degree zero and an element of  $\hat{\mathfrak{G}}$ , then it is a generalised symmetry of equation (6.3.1), i.e.

$$m = 0,$$
  $ad_K^1 T = [K, T] = 0.$ 

**Example 23.** For the DDKP equation (6.3.2), the constant 1 is a K-generator of degree one since

$$[u_{xx} + 2uu_x + 2\Theta(u_x), 1] = 2u_x$$

and

$$[u_{xx} + 2uu_x + 2\Theta(u_x), 2u_x] = 0.$$

Notice that when we say T is a K-generator of degree one the only information we get is that [T, K] commutes with K. If it also is an element of  $\hat{\mathfrak{G}}$  then it produces a symmetry for the given equation. In fact we are interested in such generators where  $[T, K] \in \hat{\mathfrak{G}}$ . This property is the main part of the notion of master symmetry.

**Definition 24.** An element  $W \in \mathfrak{G}$  is called master symmetry if it is a K-generator of degree one and  $[W, K] \in \hat{\mathfrak{G}}$ . i.e

$$[K, [K, W]] = 0,$$
  $[W, K] \in \hat{\mathfrak{G}}.$  (6.3.4)

In practice we are interested to find a W such that its recursive action on K is well-defined and produces a new element in  $\hat{\mathfrak{G}}$ .

To do this let us see what we really need to show. Let  $[W, K] = G_1 \in \hat{\mathfrak{G}}$  and  $[K, G_1] = 0$ . If we continue this procedure, in each step we get  $[W, G_m] = G_{m+1}$ . One can use the Jacobi identity to show that  $G_2$  is a symmetry for K which means  $[K, G_2] = 0$ . Now for  $G_2$  we have

$$[K, G_3] = [K, [W, G_2]] = [W, [K, G_2]] + [G_2, [W, K]] = [G_1, G_2].$$

This vanishes if  $G_1$  and  $G_2$  are commuting elements. In general to show that an element W is a master symmetry we refer to the following theorem by I. Dorfman [16].

**Theorem 10.** Let L be a Lie algebra and fix an element  $a_0 \in L$ . Suppose  $\tau \in L$  is an element by which one can obtain an infinite series of elements  $a_n \in L$  according to the following recurrence relation:

$$[\tau, a_m] = a_{m+1}, \qquad m \ge 0.$$

Furthermore suppose for some  $N \ge 1$  and  $M \ge 2$  there exist elements  $\tau_{-N}, \tau_{-N+1}, \cdots, \tau_0, \tau_1 \in L$  such that the following conditions hold:

1. 
$$\tau_{s+1} = [\tau, \tau_s], \quad s = -N, \dots, 0,$$
  
 $\tau_1 = [\tau, \tau_0] = \lambda \tau, \quad \lambda \in \mathbb{R};$ 

2. 
$$[\tau_{-N}, a_0] = [\tau_{-N+1}, a_0] = \dots = [\tau_{-1}, a_0] = 0,$$
  
 $[\tau_0, a_0] = \mu a_0, \qquad \mu \in \mathbb{R}; \qquad \mu \lambda < 0;$ 

3. 
$$[a_{M-1}, a_M] = [a_{M-2}, a_{M-1}] = \cdots = [a_0, a_1] = 0;$$

4. From 
$$[p, a_{M-1}] = [p, \tau_{-N}] = 0$$
 we get  $p = \sum_{k=0}^{N-1} r_k a_k$ ,  $r_k \in \mathbb{R}$ .

Then we deduce that all  $a_n$  mutually commute

$$[a_i, a_j] = 0, \qquad i, j = 0, 1, \cdots$$

**Remark 7.** If  $a_i$  and p belong to some Lie subalgebra of L while  $\tau$  is an element of L, the theorem remains valid. More details can be found in [16].

In the next section we will use the above theorem along with this remark to obtain and prove the master symmetry for DDKP equation.

## 6.4 Master symmetry for the DDKP equation

Consider the differential-difference KP equation (6.3.2). The first non-trivial generalised symmetry of (6.3.2) is given in [7]. We rewrite it in our notation as follows:

$$G = u_{xxx} + 3uu_{xx} + 3u_x^2 + 3u^2u_x + 3\Theta(uu_x) + 3u_x\Theta(u)$$

$$+ 3u\Theta(u_x) + 3\Theta^2(u_x) + 3\Theta(u_{xx}).$$
(6.4.1)

From (6.2.3) one can check that the bracket [K,G] vanishes. Now according to Definition 24 and the generalised symmetry (6.4.1) we shall think of W such that  $[W,K] = \gamma G$  where  $\gamma$  is a scalar. This will be discussed in more details in the next proposition but to proceed we first need to define the homogeneous elements of  $\mathfrak{G}$ .Let  $\lambda$  be the weight of u denoted by  $\omega(u) = \lambda$ . Then the weight of monomial

$$u^{\alpha} = u_{m_1,i_1}^{\alpha_1} u_{m_2,i_2}^{\alpha_2} \cdots u_{m_k,i_k}^{\alpha_k}$$

is defined as

$$\lambda(\sum_{j=1}^{k} \alpha_j) + \sum_{j=1}^{k} \alpha_j i_j \omega(D_x).$$

Notice that the shift has no effect on the weight of monomials and therefore  $\Theta$  has the same weight as  $D_x$ . In other words we have

$$\omega(u_{m,j}) = \omega(u_{m+i,j}), \quad j \in \mathbb{Z}.$$

If an element  $K \in \mathfrak{G}$  consists of monomials of weight  $\ell$  then we call the expression  $\ell$ -homogenous. Consider the DDKP equation, in order to have a homogeneous expression on the right hand side of the equation we have

$$\omega(u) + 2\omega(D_x) = 2\omega(u) + \omega(D_x) = \omega(\Theta) + \omega(u) + \omega(D_x),$$

which means u an x-derivative have the same weight. For example if we set  $\lambda = 1$  then the right hand side of the equation is a 3-homogeneous polynomial. According to the concept of homogeneous elements one can easily see that the symmetry (6.4.1) is a 4-homogeneous expression. This provides the first hint to start with the proper form of the master symmetry W. On the other hand notice that the Lie bracket of two expressions with weights  $\omega_1$  and  $\omega_2$  produces an element with weight  $\omega_1 + \omega_2 - 1$ . Therefore W should be a 2-homogeneous expression. To find the explicit form of W we start with an ansatz where the structure is obtained based on the known examples of master symmetries for continuous (2+1)-dimensional evolutionary equations. Expressions (6.1.1), (6.1.2) and (6.1.4) are some examples which guide one to start with a suitable ansatz.

Consider the following 2-homogeneous expression:

$$W = xK + cnu_x + \alpha_1 u^2 + \alpha_2 \Theta(u), \qquad (6.4.2)$$

where c is an arbitrary constant and  $\omega(x) = -\omega(D_x)$ . The terms  $f = \alpha_1 u^2 + \alpha_2 \Theta(u)$  are obtained from the remaining choices for monomials of weight two that have no dependency on x and n. Now consider the generalised symmetry G and assume  $[W, K] = \gamma G$ . Then we have the following proposition.

**Proposition 10.** Consider the DDKP equation (6.3.2) together with its non-trivial symmetry G (6.4.1) and the ansatz (6.4.2) satisfying

$$[W, K] = \gamma G$$

where  $\gamma$  is a constant. The explicit form of W has the form

$$W = xu_{xx} + 2xuu_x + 2x\Theta(u_x) + nu_x + u^2 + 3\Theta(u).$$
(6.4.3)

*Proof.* According to the definition of generalised symmetries we can split the bracket as

$$[f, K] = \gamma G - [xu_t, u_t] - c[nu_x, u_t]. \tag{6.4.4}$$

Calculating the right hand side of (6.4.4) we get:

$$[xu_t, u_t] = -4u^2u_x - 4u\Theta(u_x) + 2x\Theta(u_{xxx}) - 6uu_{xx} + 4x\Theta(u_x^2) + 4x\Theta(u_{xx}) - 2u_{xxx} - 6\Theta(u_{xx}) - 4u_x^2 - 2\Theta(xu_{xxx}) - 4\Theta(u_x) - 4\Theta(xu_{xx}) - 8\Theta^2(u_x),$$
$$[nu_x, u_t] = 2c(n\Theta(u_{xx}) - \Theta(nu_{xx})).$$

Collecting the equal terms we have

$$[f, K] = (\gamma + 2)u_{xxx} + (3\gamma + 6)uu_{xx} + (3\gamma + 4)u_x^2 + (3\gamma + 4)u^2u_x$$

$$+ (3\gamma + 8)\Theta(uu_x) + 3\gamma u_x\Theta(u) + (3\gamma + 4)u\Theta(u_x)$$

$$+ (3\gamma + 8 - 2c)\Theta^2(u_x) + (3\gamma + 8 - 2c)\Theta(u_{xx}). \tag{6.4.5}$$

Now for the expression  $f = \alpha_1 u^2 + \alpha_2 \Theta(u)$  the Fréchet derivative takes the form

$$f_* = 2\alpha_1 u + \alpha_2 \Theta,$$
  
$$K_* = D_x^2 + 2uD_x + 2u_x + 2\Theta D_x,$$

and consequently we get

$$[f, K] = -2\alpha_1 u^2 u_x + 4\alpha_1 u \Theta(u_x) + 2\alpha_2 \Theta(u u_x) - 2\alpha_1 u_x^2 - 4\alpha_1 \Theta(u u_x) - 2\alpha_2 u \Theta(u_x) - 2\alpha_2 u_x \Theta(u).$$
 (6.4.6)

Comparing (6.4.6) and (6.4.5) we obtain

$$\gamma = -2, \qquad c = 1\,,$$

$$\alpha_1 = 1, \qquad \alpha_2 = 3.$$

Therefore W takes the following form:

$$W = x(u_{xx} + 2uu_x + 2\Theta(u_x)) + nu_x + u^2 + 3\Theta(u).$$

So W is a master symmetry of the DDKP equation. Having obtained W in order to produce the commutative algebra of symmetries, we need to show that it meets the conditions given in Theorem 10. In the next theorem the proof is described step by step but to proceed we need the following proposition.

**Proposition 11.** Assume for  $P \in \hat{\mathfrak{G}}$  we have [P, K] = [P, 1] = 0 where K is (6.3.2), then

$$P = \alpha u_x$$
.

*Proof.* First we show that P is an expression with no shift. To do this suppose m is the maximum length of shift appears in P. Let  $P_m^{(n)}$  be the terms with maximum degree n and highest shift m. Since  $P_m^{(n)}$  contains the terms with maximum degree and [P, K] = 0, therefore it should commute with maximum degree term in the DDKP equation that is

$$[P_m^{(n)}, uu_x] = 0.$$

Furthermore let  $Q_m^{(d)}$  be terms in  $P_m^{(n)}$  where d is the maximum number of u with shift m. In fact d is the total number of  $u_{mj}$   $(j \ge 0)$  appears in each summand of  $P_m^{(n)}$ . Therefore  $[Q_m^{(d)}, uu_x]$  does not vanish as  $(Q_m^{(d)})_*(uu_x)$  produces an expression

$$Q_m^{(d+1)}$$
.

This implies that m=0. In Proposition 13 in the appendix we will show that P does not possess any quasi-local terms. Hence P is the linear combination of monomials of the form

$$u_{j_1}^{\alpha_1} u_{j_2}^{\alpha_2} \cdots u_{j_k}^{\alpha_k}, \qquad u_{j_\ell} = \frac{\partial^{j_\ell} u}{\partial x^{j_\ell}}.$$

Comparing the number of terms in  $[u_{j_1}^{\alpha_1}u_{j_2}^{\alpha_2}\cdots u_{j_k}^{\alpha_k},uu_x]$  we find P is generated by the monomials  $u^{n-1}u_x$ . Now from [P,1]=0 we get

$$P = \alpha u_x \,,$$

which is our assertion.

We use this proposition in the proof of next theorem.

**Theorem 11.** Let W be the expression defines as (6.4.3). Define  $a_{m+1} = [W, a_m]$  where  $a_0 = u_x$ . Then

$$[a_i, a_j] = 0, \qquad i, j \ge 0.$$

*Proof.* Consider the elements

$$a_0 = u_x, \quad \tau_{-1} = 1, \quad \tau = W.$$

We show that the requirements in Theorem 10 are satisfied. For this we find

1. 
$$\tau_0 = [\tau, \tau_{-1}] = 2xu_x + 2u,$$
  
 $\tau_1 = [\tau, \tau_0] = 2\tau;$ 

2. 
$$[\tau_{-1}, a_0] = [1, u_x] = 0,$$
 
$$[\tau_0, a_0] = [2xu_x + 2u, u_x, u_x] = -2a_0;$$

We also can obtain the following elements:

$$a_1 = [W, a_0] = -K,$$
  
 $a_2 = [W, a_1] = -[W, K] = 2G,$ 

which obviously satisfy

3. 
$$[a_1, a_2] = [a_0, a_1] = 0.$$

Therefore if we compare the above results with Theorem 10 we can see that the above three conditions hold for N = 1 and M = 2. The last condition is deduced from Remark 7 and Proposition 11. For  $a_{m+1} = [W, a_m]$  the following bracket vanishes:

$$[a_i, a_j] = 0, \qquad i, j \ge 0,$$

which completes the proof.

We have almost reached the main result of this section. To proceed we just need the proposition below which guarantees elements obtained from action of W belongs to  $\hat{\mathfrak{G}}$ .

**Proposition 12.** Let  $a_i$  be the elements produced recursively from

$$a_i = [W, a_{i-1}]$$
.

Then each  $a_i$  lies in  $\hat{\mathfrak{G}}$ .

*Proof.* Notice that the bracket  $[W, a_i]$  can be decomposed as

$$[W, a_i] = [xK, a_i] + [nu_x, a_i] + [u^2 + 3\Theta(u), a_i],$$

where the troublesome terms can be  $[nu_x, a_i]$  and  $[xK, a_i]$  as  $[u^2 + 3\Theta(u), a_i]$  lies in  $\hat{\mathfrak{G}}$ . If we calculate the first two brackets we find

$$[xK, a_i] = x[K, a_i] + h, \qquad h \in \hat{\mathfrak{G}} \, ,$$
  $[nu_x, a_i] = n[u_x, a_i] + \hat{h}, \qquad \hat{h} \in \hat{\mathfrak{G}} \, ,$ 

which the result can be derived since  $a_i$  commutes with K and  $u_x$ .

Thus we found the master symmetry of the DDKP equation and furthermore have constructed the commutative space of symmetries. In the next section we shall see the relation of master symmetries with t-dependent symmetries.

# 6.5 $sl(2,\mathbb{C})$ -representation and t-dependent symmetries of evolution equations

As we mentioned in the previous section, the concept of master symmetry can be used to build up symmetries which depend explicitly on the independent variable t. In [74] it is shown that the representation of Burgers, Ibragimov-Shabat and KP equation can help one to construct the t-dependent symmetries. In the following we also use the Lie algebra  $sl(2,\mathbb{C})$  to derive t-dependent symmetries of the DDKP equation. Consider a lattice field equation (6.3.1). Let G(u,t) be an element of  $\mathfrak{G}[t]$  where  $\mathfrak{G}[t]$  is an extension of  $\mathfrak{G}$  to the space that the coefficients are polynomials in t. We call G(u,t) a t-dependent symmetry of (6.3.1) if

$$\frac{\partial G}{\partial t} = [G, K]. \tag{6.5.1}$$

To construct t-dependent symmetries we use the following theorem.

**Theorem 12.** Consider equation (6.3.1) and let  $G_0$  be an element of  $\mathfrak{G}$ . If for some  $\ell$ 

the following relation holds:

$$ad_K^{\ell}(G_0) = 0,$$
 (6.5.2)

then  $G = \exp(-tad_K)(G_0)$  is a t-dependence symmetry.

*Proof.* According to (6.5.2) if we expand G we get the following finite set:

$$G = G_0 - tad_K G_0 + \frac{t^2}{2!} a d_K^2 G_0 - \frac{t^3}{3!} a d_K^3 G_0 + \dots + (-1)^{\ell-1} \frac{t^{\ell-1}}{(\ell-1)!} a d_K^{\ell-1} G_0.$$
 (6.5.3)

Now we have

$$[G,K] = -ad_KG_0 + tad_K^2G_0 + \dots = \sum_{i=1}^{\ell} (-1)^i \frac{t^{i-1}}{(i-1)!} ad_K^iG_0$$

and one can simply check that this is equal to  $\frac{\partial G}{\partial t}$ .

This theorem shows another advantage of having K-generators. If we find a K-generator then through the above construction we can produce t-dependent symmetries which are polynomial in t. In next theorem we will see that in fact all t-dependent symmetries that are polynomial in t can be written as (6.5.3).

**Theorem 13.** Let  $G \in \mathfrak{G}[t]$  be a t-dependent generalised symmetry of (6.3.1) which is polynomial in t. Then G is expressed as

$$G = \sum_{\ell} \frac{t^{\ell}}{k!} a d_K^{\ell} G_0, \qquad G_0 \in \mathfrak{G}.$$

$$(6.5.4)$$

*Proof.* Since G is a polynomial in t we can write as

$$G = G_0 + tG_1 + t^2G_2 + \dots + t^mG_m, \quad G_i \in \mathfrak{G}.$$

Furthermore G is a symmetry and from (6.5.1) we have

$$G_1 + 2tG_2 + 3t^2G_3 + \dots + mt^{m-1}G_m = [G, K].$$

Comparing both sides of relation with equal powers of t we have

$$\begin{split} [G_0,K] &= G_1 \longrightarrow -ad_K G_0 = G_1 \,, \\ [G_1,K] &= 2G_2 = [[G_0,K],K] = 2G_2 \longrightarrow \frac{1}{2} ad_K^2 G_0 = G_2 \,, \\ [G_2,K] &= \frac{1}{2} [[[G_0,K],K],K] = 3G_3 \longrightarrow \frac{-1}{3!} ad_K^3 G_0 = G_3 \,, \\ &\vdots \\ [G_{m-1},K] &= mG_n \longrightarrow \frac{(-1)^m}{m!} ad_K^m G_0 = G_m \,, \\ [G_m,K] &= 0 \longrightarrow ad_K^{m+1} G_0 = 0 \,. \end{split}$$

Therefore G can be expressed as (6.5.4) where  $G_0 \in \mathfrak{G}$  is a K-generator of degree m.  $\square$ 

For example for m=1, any t-dependent symmetry of the form  $G=G_0+tG_1$  provides  $G_0$  as a master symmetry. From Theorem 12 and 13 we see that K-generators (K-master symmetries) and t-dependent symmetries are in one-to-one correspondence. In what follows we use  $sl(2,\mathbb{C})$ -representation to produce the hierarchy of t-dependent symmetries. Consider elements

$$M = K, \quad N = -\frac{1}{2}x, \quad H = -xu_x - u,$$
 (6.5.5)

where K is the right hand side of equation (6.3.2). Calculating the Lie bracket of these elements we get

$$[M, N] = H, \quad [H, N] = -2N, \quad [H, M] = 2M.$$
 (6.5.6)

Therefore we have the following Lie algebra isomorphisms:

$$sl(2,\mathbb{C}) \cong span\{M,N,H\}$$
.

We know from the representation theory of  $sl(2,\mathbb{C})$  (more details can be found in [17, 38]) that if V is a finite dimensional irreducible representation of  $sl(2,\mathbb{C})$  then there is a vector  $v_0 \in V$  where  $Hv_0 = \lambda v_0$  and  $Mv_0 = 0$  and furthermore V is spanned by the  $\lambda+1$  linear independent vectors  $\{v_0,ad_Nv_0,ad_N^2v_0,\cdots,ad_N^{\lambda}v_0\}$ . The element  $v_0$  is called the highest weight vector.

Consider the element  $v_0 = K$ , as we have [M, K] = 0 and [H, K] = 2K we get a three dimensional representation of  $sl(2, \mathbb{C})$  spanned by  $V_3 = span\{K, ad_NK, ad_N^2K\}$ . Now let  $N_2$  be the master symmetry of the DDKP equation. Hence

$$[M, ad_{N_2}^m K] = 0.$$

Then by help of the following theorem we can produce  $sl(2,\mathbb{C})$  representation of the DDKP equation.

**Theorem 14.** For elements defined in (6.5.5) the following relation holds:

$$[H, ad_{N_2}^m K] = (m+2)ad_{N_2}^m K.$$

*Proof.* We prove the theorem by induction on m. For m=0 according to (6.5.6) we have

$$[H,K]=2K$$
.

Now assume that it holds for  $[H,ad_{N_2}^mK]=(m+2)ad_{N_2}^mK$  then we have

$$\begin{split} [H,ad_{N_2}^{m+1}K] &= [H,[N_2,ad_{N_2}^mK]] \\ &= [N_2,[H,ad_{N_2}^mK]] + [[H,N_2],ad_{N_2}^mK] \\ &= [N_2,(m+2)ad_{N_2}^mK] + [[H,N_2],ad_{N_2}^mK] \\ &= (m+2)ad_{N_2}^{m+1}K + [[H,N_2],ad_{N_2}^mK] \,. \end{split}$$

One can check that  $[H, N_2] = N_2$  and therefore we have the relation

$$[H, ad_{N_2}^{m+1}K] = (m+3)ad_{N_2}^{m+1}K,$$

which proves our assertion.

This theorem implies that for different value of m,  $ad_{N_2}^m K$  is a highest weight vector

of the (m+3)-dimensional representation

$$V_{m+3} = span\{ad_{N_2}^m K, ad_N ad_{N_2}^m K, ad_N^2 ad_{N_2}^m K, \cdots, ad_N^{m+2} ad_{N_2}^m K\},\$$

where

$$ad_N^{m_2}ad_{N_2}^{m_1}K = \underbrace{[N, [N, \cdots, [N, [N_2, [N_2, \cdots [N_2, K]]]]]]}_{m_2-times}.$$

So starting from K we can draw the following diagram for the DDKP equation in which the first element of each row is the symmetry of equation (6.3.2) and the horizontal lines contain the representations of  $sl(2,\mathbb{C})$ :

In the following theorem we see that horizontal lines are not just elements of the representation but K-generators of different degrees.

**Theorem 15.** Consider  $ad_{N_2}^m K \in V_{m+3}$ , then the basis elements

$$ad_N^{\ell}ad_{N_2}^m K$$
,

commute with  $K^{\ell+1}$ ,  $(0 \le \ell \le m+2)$ . In other words we get the K-generator of degree

 $\ell$ 

$$ad_K^{\ell+1}(ad_N^{\ell}ad_{N_2}^mK) = 0.$$

*Proof.* The proof is by induction on  $\ell$ . For  $\ell=0$  as all  $ad_{N_2}^m K$  are symmetries of (6.3.2) we have

$$[K,ad_{N_2}^mK]=0\,.$$

Assume the statement holds for

$$ad_K^{\ell+1}(ad_N^\ell ad_{N_2}^m K) = 0\,,$$

then we have

$$\begin{array}{lcl} ad_K^{\ell+2} ad_N^{\ell+1} ad_N^m K & = & [K, ad_K^{\ell+1}[N, ad_N^{\ell} ad_{N_2}^m K]] \\ \\ & = & [K, [ad_K^{\ell+1}N, ad_K^{\ell+1} ad_N^{\ell} ad_{N_2}^m K]] = 0 \,. \end{array}$$

Hence from Theorem 12 and 13 each basis element lying on the horizontal line provide a generator for the t-dependence symmetries of the DDKP equation. In fact  $\exp(-tad_K)(ad_N^{\ell}N_2^mK)$ ,  $0 \le \ell \le m+2$  are t-dependent symmetries of the DDKP equation.

For instance

$$\exp(-tad_K)(ad_NK) = [K, N] - t[K, [K, N]] = (-xu_x - u) + 2t(u_{xx} + 2uu_x + 2\Theta(u_x)),$$

$$\exp(-tad_K)(ad_N^2K) = ad_N^2K - t(ad_Kad_N^2K) + \frac{t^2}{2!}(ad_K^2ad_N^2K) = x - 2t(xu_x - u)$$

$$+4t^2(u_{xx} + 2uu_x + 2\Theta(u_x)).$$

In the appendix we discuss the symbolic representation method. It is shown how we can simplify some calculations, given in this chapter, by means of this method.

## 6.6 Conclusion

Master symmetries of differential-difference equations can produce an infinite hierarchy of commuting symmetries. We also showed how systematically, using the Lie algebra  $sl(2,\mathbb{C})$ , one can obtain t-dependent symmetries that are polynomials in t. In fact the Lie algebra  $sl(2,\mathbb{C})$  is constructed around a scaling symmetry of a given equation and a corresponding master symmetry. We can apply the similar process to lattice field equations that possess quasi-local master symmetries. This structure can be also used for (1+1)-dimensional equations in which the equation, symmetries and the basis elements of  $sl(2,\mathbb{C})$  are all local.

## Chapter 7

## Conclusion

This thesis mainly concerns integrable (1+1)-dimensional differential-difference and (2+1)-lattice field equations. In particular, in chapter 2 we first build up the space of smooth difference functions denoted by  $\mathfrak{F}$  with elements of the form

$$f[\mathbf{u}] := f(\dots, \mathbf{u}_{-2}, \mathbf{u}_{-1}, \mathbf{u}, \mathbf{u}_1, \mathbf{u}_2, \dots), \qquad \mathbf{u} = (u^{(1)}, u^{(2)}, \dots, u^{(m)})^T,$$

where  $u^{(m)}(n+i,t) \equiv u_i^{(m)}$ . Therefore the general form of NDDEs is given as

$$\mathbf{u}_t = (K^1[\mathbf{u}], K^2[\mathbf{u}], \cdots, K^m[\mathbf{u}])^T = \mathbf{K} [\mathbf{u}],$$

where  $\mathbf{u} = (u^{(1)}, u^{(2)}, \cdots, u^{(m)})^T$  and  $K^i$ 's are elements of  $\mathfrak{F}$ . Then the first result was given in chapter 5 in which we provide a long list containing both scalar and multi component differential-difference equations. The equations appear with their non-trivial generalized symmetry, symplectic operators, Hamiltonian operators and recursion operators. For some equations their master symmetry is also presented. Section 5.2.4 provides new results on Hamiltonian, symplectic and recursion operators for scalar equations. In sections 5.2.14, 5.2.15 and 5.2.16 one can find results for multi component integrable systems. For multi component systems we have also provided the inverse of recursion operators. In the case that the inverse exists, it is a weakly nonlocal

operator.

We have also seen that master symmetries are an alternative powerful tool in (2+1)-dimensional case to produce higher symmetries. The comprehensive treatment of master symmetries is given in chapter 6 in which we obtain the master symmetry of the differential-difference KP (DDKP) equation

$$u_t = u_{xx} + 2uu_x + 2\Theta(u_x) = K, \qquad \Theta = (S - 1)^{-1}D_x,$$

given by

$$W = xu_{xx} + 2xuu_x + 2x\Theta(u_x) + nu_x + u^2 + 3\Theta(u).$$

We proved that W can produce the infinite hierarchy of commuting symmetries of the DDKP equation and guarantee the integrability. We finish this chapter by indicating the application of master symmetry in constructing t-dependent symmetries. This is done by the  $sl(2,\mathbb{C})$ -representation of the equation which provides a neat picture of symmetries, master symmetries and generators of t-dependent symmetries.

Symbolic representation was a method we briefly described in the Appendix. We showed how symbolic representation provides a very handy tool in simplifying some tedious calculations. The advantage of using this method can also be seen while working with (2+1)-dimensional differential-difference equations. In fact since in this case we face quasi-local terms, by the symbolic representation we can rewrite the expression in a way that can be calculated algebraically.

Moreover there exists some ongoing research in which the symbolic representation can be a helpful method tackling certain problems. For instance the structure of symmetries of (2+1)-dimensional integrable differential equations was proved by the symbolic representation in [90]. For the discrete case the symmetry structures still remains as a conjecture that may progress with the help of symbolic representation.

# Appendix A

## Symbolic representation

In recent years there have been number of researches using the symbolic representation for classification and testing the integrability of partial differential equations. This was first introduced by Gelfand and Dikii in [29] and later it was developed to both (1+1)-dimension [52, 59, 53, 71, 72] and (2+1)-dimension [90]. It is shown that the symbolic representation can provide a powerful device for testing the integrability and constructing symmetries of evolutionary equations. It also eases some tedious calculations such as obtaining the coefficients of formal recursion operators and thus leading to the result much quicker. Here we provide a brief review of the symbolic representation for (2+1)-dimension differential-difference equations and discuss some applications. As a first step we shall introduce the linear map on monomials to obtain the one-to-one correspondence between difference polynomials and elements in the symbolic space. For comprehensive description in differential case one can find [72] and papers [59, 90].

# A.1 Basic calculations in symbolic representation

Consider an arbitrary monomial of degree n as

$$u_{m_1,i_1}u_{m_2,i_2}\cdots u_{m_n,i_n}$$
.

Then we define its corresponding symbolic representation as follows:

$$u_{m_1,i_1}u_{m_2,i_2}\cdots u_{m_n,i_n} \longmapsto \tilde{u}^n \langle \xi_1^{m_1} \eta_1^{i_1} \xi_2^{m_2} \eta_2^{i_2} \cdots \xi_n^{m_n} \eta_n^{i_n} \rangle_{S_n}.$$

We assign to each  $u_{i,j}$  a couple  $(\xi, \eta)$  in which the power of  $\xi$  and  $\eta$  respectively match with indices i and j (i.e.  $\xi^i \eta^j$ ). The symbol  $\tilde{u}^n$  shows the degree of the monomial or in other words the number of variable in the symbolic expression. Finally we have  $\langle \rangle_{S_n}$  which denotes the average over the permutation group of n elements, i.e.

$$\langle a(\xi_1, \eta_1, \xi_2, \eta_2 \cdots, \xi_n, \eta_n) \rangle_{S_n} = \frac{1}{n!} \sum_{\sigma \in S_n} a(\xi_{\sigma(1)}, \eta_{\sigma(1)}, \cdots, \xi_{\sigma(n)}, \eta_{\sigma(n)}).$$

Since we assume that u(n, x, t) lies in some commutative algebra so we need the symmetrization in order to get the unique expression. To make the notation clear let us consider the following example:

$$u_{-3y}^{2}u_{1yy} \longmapsto \tilde{u}^{3} < \xi_{1}^{-3}\eta_{1}\xi_{2}^{-3}\eta_{2}\xi_{3}\eta_{3}^{2} >_{S_{3}} = \frac{1}{3}\tilde{u}^{3}(\frac{\eta_{1}\eta_{2}\xi_{3}\eta_{3}^{2}}{\xi_{1}^{3}\xi_{2}^{3}} + \frac{\eta_{2}\eta_{3}\xi_{1}\eta_{1}^{2}}{\xi_{2}^{3}\xi_{3}^{3}} + \frac{\eta_{3}\eta_{1}\xi_{2}\eta_{2}^{2}}{\xi_{3}^{3}\xi_{1}^{3}})$$

$$= \frac{1}{3}\tilde{u}^{3}(\frac{\eta_{1}\eta_{2}\xi_{3}^{4}\eta_{3}^{2} + \eta_{2}\eta_{3}\xi_{1}^{4}\eta_{1}^{2} + \eta_{3}\eta_{1}\xi_{2}^{4}\eta_{2}^{2}}{\xi_{1}^{3}\xi_{2}^{3}\xi_{3}^{3}}).$$

In the symbolic space we have the symmetric polynomial in tuple  $(\frac{1}{\xi}, \xi, \eta)$ . In compact form the symbolic representation is a rational function which the denominator is non-negative integer power of multiplication of  $\xi_i$ 's and the numerator is the symmetric polynomial with respect to  $(\xi, \eta)$ . To obtain the difference monomial from the symbolic representation we can split the rational function into different summands and obtain

the corresponding expression

$$\frac{\tilde{u}^{2}}{2} \left( \frac{\eta_{1}\xi_{1}^{2}\xi_{2}^{5} + \eta_{2}\xi_{2}^{2}\xi_{1}^{5} + 4\xi_{1}^{4}\eta_{1}^{2}\xi_{2}^{4}\eta_{2}^{2}}{\xi_{1}^{2}\xi_{2}^{2}} \right) = \frac{\tilde{u}^{2}}{2} \left( \frac{\eta_{1}\xi_{2}^{3}}{\xi_{1}^{2}} + \frac{\eta_{2}\xi_{1}^{3}}{\xi_{2}^{2}} \right) + 2\tilde{u}^{2}\xi_{1}^{2}\eta_{1}^{2}\xi_{2}^{2}\eta_{2}^{2}$$

$$= \tilde{u}^{2} \left( \frac{\eta_{1}\xi_{2}^{3}}{\xi_{1}^{2}} + \frac{\eta_{2}\xi_{1}^{3}}{\xi_{2}^{2}} \right) + 2\tilde{u}^{2}\xi_{1}^{2}\eta_{1}^{2}\xi_{2}^{2}\eta_{2}^{2}$$

$$= \tilde{u}^{2} \left( \frac{\eta_{1}\xi_{2}^{3}}{\xi_{1}^{2}} + \frac{\eta_{2}\xi_{1}^{3}}{\xi_{2}^{2}} \right) + 2\tilde{u}^{2}\xi_{1}^{2}\eta_{1}^{2}\xi_{2}^{2}\eta_{2}^{2} > S_{2}$$

$$\Rightarrow 2u_{-2y}u_{3} + 2u_{2yy}^{2}.$$

If we set  $\bar{\xi} = (\xi, \eta)$ , the multiplication rule in this ring takes the form:

$$\tilde{u}^{n} a(\bar{\xi}_{1}, \bar{\xi}_{2}, \cdots, \bar{\xi}_{n}) \circ \tilde{u}^{m} b(\bar{\xi}_{1}, \bar{\xi}_{2}, \cdots, \bar{\xi}_{m}) =$$

$$\tilde{u}^{n+m} < a(\bar{\xi}_{1}, \bar{\xi}_{2}, \cdots, \bar{\xi}_{n}) b(\bar{\xi}_{n+1}, \bar{\xi}_{n+2}, \cdots, \bar{\xi}_{n+m}) >_{s_{n+m}} . \tag{A.1.1}$$

Example 24. For two expressions

$$P_{1} = \frac{\tilde{u}^{3}}{3} \left( \frac{\xi_{1}^{3} \eta_{1}^{2}}{\xi_{2} \xi_{3}} + \frac{\xi_{2}^{3} \eta_{2}^{2}}{\xi_{3} \xi_{1}} + \frac{\xi_{3}^{3} \eta_{3}^{2}}{\xi_{1} \xi_{2}} \right) \mapsto u_{3yy} u_{-1}^{2},$$

$$P_{2} = \tilde{u} \frac{\eta_{1}}{\xi_{1}^{2}} \mapsto u_{-2y},$$

we have

$$P_1 \circ P_2 = \tilde{u}^4 < \frac{\xi_1^3 \eta_1^2 \eta_4}{\xi_2 \xi_3 \xi_4^2} >_{s_4} .$$

For a monomial of degree n the action of the shift operator and x-derivative takes the form

$$S\tilde{u}^n a(\bar{\xi_1}, \dots, \bar{\xi_n}) = \tilde{u}^n a(\bar{\xi_1}, \dots, \bar{\xi_n})(\xi_1 \xi_2 \dots \xi_n), \tag{A.1.2}$$

$$D_x(\tilde{u}^n a(\bar{\xi}_1, \dots, \bar{\xi}_n)) = \tilde{u}^n a(\bar{\xi}_1, \dots, \bar{\xi}_n)(\eta_1 + \eta_2 + \dots + \eta_n). \tag{A.1.3}$$

One of the advantages of symbolic representation is in calculation of Fréchet derivatives. For an arbitrary monomial the Fréchet derivative is a symmetric function over its arguments (including  $S, D_x$ )

$$(\tilde{u}^n a(\bar{\xi}_1, \dots, \bar{\xi}_n))_* = n\tilde{u}^{n-1} a(\bar{\xi}_1, \dots, \bar{\xi}_{n-1}, S, D_u).$$
 (A.1.4)

Example 25. Consider the expression

$$P = \frac{\tilde{u}^2}{2} (\xi_1^3 \xi_2 \eta_2 + \xi_2^3 \xi_1 \eta_1) .$$

Then its Fréchet derivative has the form

$$P_* = \tilde{u}(\xi_1^3 \mathcal{S} D_y + \xi_1 \eta_1 \mathcal{S}^3).$$

To give the space of symbolic representation the structure of Lie algebra we require to define the corresponding Lie bracket. From A.1.1, A.1.2, A.1.3 and A.1.4 the Lie bracket of two elements is expressed as

$$\begin{split} & [\tilde{u}^{n}a(\bar{\xi}_{1},\bar{\xi}_{2},\cdots,\bar{\xi}_{n}),\tilde{u}^{m}b(\bar{\xi}_{1},\bar{\xi}_{2},\cdots,\bar{\xi}_{m})] = \\ & \tilde{u}^{n+m-1}\langle na(\bar{\xi}_{1},\cdots,\bar{\xi}_{n-1},\xi_{n}\xi_{n+1}\cdots\xi_{n+m-1},\eta_{n}+\cdots+\eta_{n+m-1})b(\bar{\xi}_{n},\cdots,\bar{\xi}_{n+m-1}) - \\ & mb(\bar{\xi}_{1},\cdots,\bar{\xi}_{m-1},\xi_{m}\xi_{m+1}\cdots\xi_{n+m-1},\eta_{m}+\eta_{m+1}+\cdots+\eta_{n+m-1})a(\bar{\xi}_{m},\cdots,\bar{\xi}_{n+m-1})\rangle_{S_{n+m-1}}. \end{split}$$

The last two relations are the symbolic representation of non-local terms

$$\Theta P(\bar{\xi}_{1}, \bar{\xi}_{2}, \dots, \bar{\xi}_{n}) = P(\bar{\xi}_{1}, \bar{\xi}_{2}, \dots, \bar{\xi}_{n}) \frac{\eta_{1} + \dots + \eta_{n}}{\xi_{1} \xi_{2} \dots \xi_{n} - 1}, 
\Theta^{-1} P(\bar{\xi}_{1}, \bar{\xi}_{2}, \dots, \bar{\xi}_{n}) = P(\bar{\xi}_{1}, \bar{\xi}_{2}, \dots, \bar{\xi}_{n}) \frac{\xi_{1} \xi_{2} \dots \xi_{n} - 1}{\eta_{1} + \dots + \eta_{n}}.$$

In the next section we shall see some applications of symbolic representation which simplify calculation.

## A.2 Application of symbolic representation

As we mentioned earlier by symbolic representation we can simplify some of cumbersome calculations. Consider the generalised symmetry of the DDKP equation given in (6.4.1) as

$$G = u_{xxx} + 3uu_{xx} + 3u_x^2 + 3u^2u_x + 3\Theta(uu_x) + 3u_x\Theta(u)$$
  
+  $3u\Theta(u_x) + 3\Theta^2(u_x) + 3\Theta(u_{xx})$ .

To show G is a symmetry we should show the bracket [K, G] vanishes. This becomes a bit complicated when we are dealing with the non-local terms. For example let us consider terms of degree two that appear in the bracket [K, G]. Hence we get

$$[u_{xx}, 3\Theta(uu_x) + 3u_x\Theta(u) + 3u\Theta(u_x)] + [2uu_x, 3\Theta^2(u_x) + 3\Theta(u_{xx})]$$
$$+[2\Theta(u_x), 3uu_{xx} + 3u_x^2 + 3\Theta(uu_x) + 3u_x\Theta(u) + 3u\Theta(u_x)].$$

Expanding the brackets and simplifying the calculations we have

$$\Theta(u_x u_{xx}) + \Theta(u_{xx}\Theta(u)) + \Theta(u_x\Theta(u_x)) - \Theta(u)\Theta(u_{xx}) - (\Theta(u_x))^2.$$

As we can see, this is not an easy task to show the expression is zero. Expressing the terms in symbolic representation we get

$$\frac{(\eta_1 + \eta_2)}{(\xi_1 \xi_2 - 1)} \left( \langle \eta_1 \eta_2^2 \rangle_{s_2} + \langle \frac{\eta_1^2 \eta_2}{(\xi_2 - 1)} \rangle_{s_2} + \langle \frac{\eta_1 \eta_2^2}{(\xi_2 - 1)} \rangle_{s_2} \right) - \langle \frac{\eta_1 \eta_2^3}{(\xi_2 - 1)(\xi_1 - 1)} \rangle_{s_2} - \langle \frac{\eta_1^2 \eta_2^2}{(\xi_1 - 1)(\xi_2 - 1)} \rangle_{s_2} .$$

Since we end up with an algebraic expression, although it looks longer we can simply expand the terms and see that all summands are canceled.

We proceed this section to show how the symbolic representation can help us in proving a missing part of Proposition 11 for which we have to show that P contains no

non-local terms.

**Proposition 13.** Let  $P \in \hat{\mathfrak{G}}$  and  $[P, uu_x] = 0$  then P does not posses any quasi-local terms

*Proof.* Let  $P^{(n)}$  denotes quasi-local terms with the maximum degree n. Hence for  $P^{(n)}$  and  $uu_x$  respectively we have the following symbolic representation:

$$P^{(n)} \mapsto \tilde{u}^n a(\xi_1, \eta_1, \xi_2, \eta_2, \dots, \xi_n, \eta_n),$$
  
 $uu_x \mapsto \tilde{u}^2 b(\eta_1, \eta_2) = \frac{\tilde{u}^2}{2} (\eta_1 + \eta_2).$ 

Therefore the Fréchet derivative of  $P_*^{(n)}(uu_x)$  contains the expression

$$a(\xi_1, \eta_1, \xi_2, \eta_2, \dots, \xi_n \xi_{n+1}, \eta_n + \eta_{n+1}),$$

which increase the number of variables in the denominator by one as the symbolic representation of  $\Theta$  gives

$$\frac{\eta_i + \eta_{i+1} + \dots + \eta_n}{\xi_i \xi_{i+1} \cdots \xi_n - 1}, \qquad 1 \le i \le n.$$

On the other hand  $(uu_x)_*P^{(n)}$  has the same number of variables in the denominator as  $P^{(n)}$ . Therefore the bracket does not vanish and this contradiction proves that no quasi-local terms appear in P.

## Bibliography

- M.J. Ablowitz and J.F. Ladik. Nonlinear differential- difference equations. *Journal of Mathematical Physics*, 16:598, 1975.
- [2] M.J. Ablowitz and J.F. Ladik. Nonlinear differential-difference equations and Fourier analysis. *Journal of Mathematical Physics*, 17(6):1011–1018, 1976.
- [3] V.È. Adler and R.I. Yamilov. Explicit auto-transformations of integrable chains.

  Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and General, 27(2):477–492, 1994.
- [4] A.A. Belov and K.D. Chaltikian. Lattice analogue of the W-infinity algebra and discrete KP-hierarchy. *Physics Letters B*, 317(1-2):64–72, 1993.
- [5] M. Blaszak. Multi-Hamiltonian Theory of Dynamical Systems. Springer Verlag, Berlin, 1998.
- [6] M. Blaszak and K. Marciniak. R-matrix approach to lattice integrable systems. Journal of Mathematical Physics, 35(9):4661–4682, 1994.
- [7] M. Blaszak and A. Szum. Lie algebraic approach to the construction of (2 + 1) dimensional lattice—field and field integrable Hamiltonian equations. *Journal of Mathematical Physics*, 42(1):225–259, 2001.
- O.I. Bogoyavlensky. Integrable discretizations of the KdV equation. Physics Letters A, 134(1):34–38, 1988.
- [9] M. Bruschi and O. Ragnisco. On a new integrable Hamiltonian system with nearest-neighbour interaction. *Inverse Problems*, 5(6):983–998, 1989.

- [10] F. Calogero. Why a certain nonlinear PDEs both widely applicable and integrable? In What is Integrability?, pages 1–62. Springer, Berlin, 1991.
- [11] F.W. Nijhoff, H.W. Capel, G.L. Wiersma and G.R.W. Quispel. Bäcklund transformations and three-dimensional lattice equations. *Physics Letters A*, 105(6):267–272, 1984.
- [12] I.Yu. Cherdantsev and R.I. Yamilov. Master symmetries for differential-difference equations of the Volterra type. *Physica D: Nonlinear Phenomena*, 87(1-4):140–144, 1995.
- [13] I.Yu. Cherdantsev and R.I. Yamilov. Local master symmetries of differential-difference equations. In Symmetries and integrability of difference equations (Estérel, PQ, 1994), pages 51–61. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1996.
- [14] E. Date, M. Jimbo and T. Miwa. Method for generating discrete soliton equations.I. Journal of the Physical Society of Japan, 51:4116–4124, 1982.
- [15] I.Ya. Dorfman. Dirac structures of integrable evolution equations. Physics Letters A, 125(5):240–246, 1987.
- [16] I.Ya. Dorfman. Dirac structures and integrability of nonlinear evolution equations. John Wiley & Sons Ltd., Chichester, 1993.
- [17] K. Erdmann and M.J. Wilson. Introduction to Lie Algebras. Undergraduate Mathematics Series. Springer, Verlag London, 2006.
- [18] H. Flaschka. The Toda lattice. II. Existence of integrals. Physical Review B, 9(4):1924–1925, 1974.
- [19] A.S. Fokas. Symmetries and integrability. Studies in Applied Mathematics, 77:253–299, 1987.
- [20] A.S. Fokas and B. Fuchssteiner. On the structure of symplectic operators and hereditary symmetries. Lettere al Nuovo Cimento. Rivista Internazionale della Società Italiana di Fisica. Serie 2, 28(8):299–303, 1980.

- [21] A.S. Fokas and B. Fuchssteiner. The hierarchy of the Benjamin– Ono equation. Physics Letters A, 86(6-7):341–345, 1981.
- [22] A.S. Fokas and P.M. Santini. Recursion operators and Bi-hamiltonian structures in multidimensions .II. Communications in Mathematical Physics, 116(3):449–474, 1988.
- [23] B. Fuchssteiner. Application of hereditary symmetries to nonlinear evolution equations. Nonlinear Analysis, Theory, Methods & Applications, 3(11):849–862, 1979.
- [24] B. Fuchssteiner. Mastersymmetries, higher order time-dependent symmetries and conserved densities of nonlinear evolution equations. *Progress of Theoretical Physics*, 70(6):1508–1522, 1983.
- [25] B. Fuchssteiner. Mastersymmetries for completely integrable systems in statistical mechanics. In Applications of Field Theory to Statistical Mechanics, pages 305–315. Springer, 1985.
- [26] B. Fuchssteiner and A.S. Fokas. Symplectic structures, their Bäcklund transformations and hereditary symmetries. *Physica D: Nonlinear Phenomena*, 4(1):47–66, 1981.
- [27] B. Fuchssteiner and W.X. Ma. An approach to master symmetries of lattice equations. In Symmetries and integrability of difference equations (Canterbury, 1996), pages 247–260. Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1999.
- [28] W. Oevel, B. Fuchssteiner, H. Zhang and O. Ragnisco. Mastersymmetries, angle variables, and recursion operator of the relativistic Toda lattice. *Journal of Mathematical Physics*, 30(11):2664–2670, 1989.
- [29] I.M. Gel'fand and L.A. Dikiï. Asymptotic properties of the resolvent of Sturm-Liouville equations, and the algebra of Korteweg-de Vries equations. *Uspekhi Matematicheskikh Nauk*, 30(5(185)):67–100, 1975. English translation: *Russian Math. Surveys*, 30 (1975), no. 5, 77–113.

- [30] I.M. Gel'fand and I.Ya. Dorfman. Hamiltonian operators and algebraic structures related to them. Functional Analysis and its Applications, 13(4):248–262, 1979.
- [31] I.M. Gel'fand and I.Ya. Dorfman. The Schouten bracket and Hamiltonian operators. Functional Analysis and Its Applications, 14(3):223–226, 1980.
- [32] Ü. Göktaş and W. Hereman. Symbolic computation of conserved densities for systems of nonlinear evolution equations. *Journal of Symbolic Computation*, 24:591–621, 1997.
- [33] Ü. Göktaş and W. Hereman. Symbolic computation of recursion operators for nonlinear differential-difference equations. *Mathematical and Computational Applications*, 16(1):1–12, 2011.
- [34] M. Gürses, A. Karasu and V.V. Sokolov. On construction of recursion operators from Lax representation. *Journal of Mathematical Physics*, 40(12):6473–6490, 1999.
- [35] W. Hereman, J.A. Sanders, J. Sayersand and J.P. Wang. Symbolic computation of polynomial conserved densities, generalized symmetries, and recursion operators for nonlinear differential-difference equations. In *Group Theory and Numerical Analysis*, pages 133–148. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2005.
- [36] R. Hirota. Exact N-soliton solution of a nonlinear Lumped network equation. Journal of the Physical Society of Japan, 35:286–288, 1973.
- [37] R. Hirota. Exact N-soliton solution of a nonlinear Lumped self-dual network equations. *Journal of the Physical Society of Japan*, 35:289–294, 1973.
- [38] J.E. Humphreys. Introduction to Lie algebras and representation theory. Springer New York, 1972.
- [39] Y. Itoh. Integrals of a Lotka-Volterra system of odd number of variables. Progress of Theoretical Physics, 78(3):507–510, 1987.

- [40] S. Kanaga and K.M. Tamizhmani. Lax pairs, symmetries and conservation laws of a differential-difference equation—Sato's approach. *Chaos, Solitons & Fractals*, 8(6):917–931, 1997.
- [41] M.J. Ablowitz, D.J. Kaup, A.C. Newel and H. Segur. Inverse scattering transform-Fourier analysis for nonlinear problems. *Studies in Applied Mathematics*, 53(4):249–315, 1974.
- [42] F. Khanizadeh, A.V. Mikhailov and J.P. Wang. Darboux transformations and recursion operators for differential-difference equations. *Theoretical and Mathe*matical Physics, 177(3):1606–1654, 2013.
- [43] S. Konstantinou-Rizos, A.V. Mikhailov and P. Xenitidis. Reduction groups and related integrable difference systems of the NLS type. arXiv:1205.4910, 2013.
- [44] B.A. Kupershmidt. Discrete Lax equations and differential-difference calculus, volume 123 of Astérisque. Société mathématique de France, Paris, 1985.
- [45] D. Levi and R. Benguria. Bäcklund transformations and nonlinear differential—difference equations. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 77(9):5025—5027, 1980.
- [46] D. Levi and O. Ragnisco. Extension of the spectral-transform method for solving nonlinear differential difference equations. Lettere Al Nuovo Cimento (1971–1985), 22(17):691–696, 1978.
- [47] D. Levi and R. Yamilov. Conditions for the existence of higher symmetries of evolutionary equations on the lattice. *Journal of Mathematical Physics*, 38(12):6648– 6674, 1997.
- [48] A.Ya. Maltsev. The averaging of nonlocal Hamiltonian structures in Whitham's method. International Journal of Mathematics and Mathematical Sciences, 30(7):393–434, 2002.

- [49] A.Ya. Maltsev and S.P. Novikov. On the local systems Hamiltonian in the weakly nonlocal Poisson brackets. *Physica D: Nonlinear Phenomena*, 156(1-2):53–80, 2001.
- [50] S.V. Manakov. Complete integrability and stochastization in discrete dynamical systems. *Journal of Experimental and Theoretical Physics*, 40:269–274, 1975.
- [51] I. Merola, O. Ragnisco and T. Gui-Zhang. A novel hierarchy of integrable lattices. Inverse Problems, 10(6):1315–1334, 1994.
- [52] A.V. Mikhailov and V.S. Novikov. Perturbative symmetry approach. *Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and General*, 35(22):4775–4790, 2002.
- [53] A.V. Mikhailov and V.S. Novikov. Classification of integrable Benjamin-Ono-type equations. *Moscow Mathematical Journal*, 3(4):1293–1305, 2003.
- [54] A.V. Mikhailov and V.V. Sokolov. Symmetries of Differential Equations and the Problem of Integrability, volume 767 of Lecture Notes in Physics. Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- [55] A.V. Mikhailov and J.P. Wang. A new recursion operator for Adlers equation in the Viallet form. *Physics Letters A*, 375(45):3960–3963, 2011. arXiv:1105.1269.
- [56] A.V. Mikhailov, J.P. Wang, and P. Xenitidis. Recursion operators, conservation laws and integrability conditions for difference equations. *Theoretical and Mathe*matical Physics, 167:421–443, 2011. arXiv:1004.5346.
- [57] A.V. Mikhailov and R.I. Yamilov. Towards classification of (2+1)-dimensional integrable equations. Integrability conditions. I. Journal of Physics. A. Mathematical and General, 31(31):6707–6715, 1998.
- [58] A.V. Mikhailov, J.P. Wang and P. Xenitidis. Cosymmetries and Nijenhuis recursion operators for difference equations. *Nonlinearity*, 24(7):2079–2097, 2011. arXiv:1009.2403.
- [59] A.V. Mikhailov, V.S. Novikov and J.P. Wang. Symbolic representation and classification of integrable systems. In M.A.H. MacCallum and A.V. Mikhailov, editors,

- Algebraic Theory of Differential Equations, pages 156–216. Cambridge University Press, 2009.
- [60] K. Narita. Soliton solution to extended Volterra equation. *Journal of the Mathematical Society of Japan*, 51(5):1682–1685, 1982.
- [61] F.W. Nijhoff. The direct linearizing transform for three-dimensional lattice equations. *Physica D: Nonlinear Phenomena*, 18(1):380–381, 1986.
- [62] H. Zhang, W. Oevel, G.Z. Tu and B. Fuchssteiner. Symmetries, conserved quantities, and hierarchies for some lattice systems with soliton structure. *Journal of Mathematical Physics*, 32(7):1908–1918, 1991.
- [63] W. Oevel. Rekursionsmechanismen für Symmetrien und Erhaltungssätze in integrablen Systemen. PhD thesis, Universität–Gesamthochschule Paderborn, Paderborn, 1984.
- [64] W. Oevel and M. Falck. Master symmetries for finite dimensional integrable systems. *Progress of theoretical physics*, 75(6):1328–1341, 1986.
- [65] W. Oevel and B. Fuchssteiner. Explicit formulas for symmetries and conservation laws of the Kadomtsev–Petviashvili equation. *Physics Letters A*, 88(7):323–327, 1982.
- [66] W. Oevel, H. Zhang and B. Fuchssteiner. Mastersymmetries and multi-Hamiltonian formulations for some integrable lattice systems. *Progress of Theoretical Physics*, 81(2):294–308, 1989.
- [67] P.J. Olver. Evolution equations possessing infinitely many symmetries. Journal of Mathematical Physics, 18(6):1212–1215, 1977.
- [68] P.J. Olver. Applications of Lie groups to differential equations, volume 107 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York, second edition, 1993.
- [69] S.N.M. Ruijsenaars. Relativistic Toda systems. Communications in Mathematical Physics, 133(2):217–247, 1990.

- [70] R. Sahadevan and S. Khousalya. Master symmetries for Volterra equation, Belov– Chaltikian and Blaszak–Marciniak lattice equations. *Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications*, 44(2):241–251, 2003.
- [71] J.A. Sanders and J.P. Wang. On the integrability of homogeneous scalar evolution equations. *Journal of Differential Equations*, 147(2):410–434, 1998.
- [72] J.A. Sanders and J.P. Wang. On the integrability of non-polynomial scalar evolution equations. *Journal of Differential Equations*, 166(1):132–150, 2000.
- [73] J.A. Sanders and J.P. Wang. Integrable systems and their recursion operators.

  Nonlinear Analysis. Theory, Methods & Applications. An International Multidisciplinary Journal. Series A: Theory and Methods, 47(8):5213–5240, 2001.
- [74] J.A. Sanders and J.P. Wang. On integrability of evolution equations and representation theory. *Contemporary Mathematics*, 285:85–99, 2001.
- [75] P.M. Santini and A.S. Fokas. Recursion operators and Bi-hamiltonian structures in multidimensions. I. Communications in Mathematical Physics, 115(3):375–419, 1988.
- [76] A. Sergyeyev. Why nonlocal recursion operators produce local symmetries: new results and applications. *Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and General*, 38:3397– 3407, 2005.
- [77] A. Sergyeyev. Weakly nonlocal Hamiltonian structures: Lie derivative and compatibility. Symmetry, Integrability and Geometry: Methods and Applications, 3(062):14 pages, 2007.
- [78] A.B. Shabat and R.I. Yamilov. Lattice representations of integrable systems. Physics Letters A, 130(4-5):271–275, 1988.
- [79] E.K. Sklyanin. Some algebraic structures connected with Yang-Baxter equation. Functional Analysis and Its Applications, 16(4):263–270, 1982.

- [80] Y.B. Suris. New integrable systems related to the relativistic Toda lattice. *Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and General*, 30(5):1745–1761, 1997.
- [81] Y.B. Suris. Integrable discretizations for lattice systems: local equations of motion and their Hamiltonian properties. Reviews in Mathematical Physics, 11(6):727–822, 1999.
- [82] Y.B. Suris and O. Ragnisco. What is the Relativistic Volterra Lattice? Communications in Mathematical Physics, 200(2):445–485, 1999.
- [83] A.K. Svinin. On some class of reductions for the Itoh–Narita–Bogoyavlenskii lattice.
  Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and General, 42:454021, 2009.
- [84] T. Tamizhmani, V.S. Kanaga and K.M. Tamizhmani. Wronskian and rational solutions of the differential-difference KP equation. *Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and General*, 31(37):7627–7633, 1998.
- [85] M. Toda. Wave propagation in anharmonic lattices. *Journal of the Physical Society of Japan*, 23(3):501–506, 1967.
- [86] T. Tsuchida. Integrable discretizations of derivative nonlinear Schrödinger equations. *Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and General*, 35(36):7827–7847, 2002.
- [87] T. Tsuchida and M. Wadati. Bi-Hamiltonian structure of modified Volterra model. Chaos. Solitons & Fractals, 9(6):869–873, 1998.
- [88] V. Volterra. Leçons sur la théorie mathématique de la lutte pour la vie. Gauthier-Villars, Paris, 1931.
- [89] J.P. Wang. Symmetries and Conservation Laws of Evolution Equations. PhD thesis, Vrije Universiteit/Thomas Stieltjes Institute, Amsterdam, 1998.
- [90] J.P. Wang. On the structure of (2+1)-dimensional commutative and noncommutative integrable equations. *Journal of Mathematical Physics*, 47(11):113508, 2006.

- [91] J.P. Wang. Lenard scheme for two-dimensional periodic Volterra chain. *Journal* of Mathematical Physics, 50:023506, 2009.
- [92] J.P. Wang. Recursion operator of the Narita-Itoh-Bogoyavlensky lattice. *Studies in Applied Mathematics*, 129(3):309–327, 2012.
- [93] P. Xenitidis. Integrability and symmetries of difference equations: The Adler–Bobenko–Suris case. In *Proceedings of the 4th Workshop "Group Analysis of Dif*ferential Equations and Integrable Systems". 2009. arXiv: 0902.3954.
- [94] R.I. Yamilov. Classification of discrete evolution equations. *Uspekhi Matematich-eskikh Nauk*, 38:155–156, 1983.
- [95] R.I. Yamilov. Symmetries as integrability criteria for differential difference equations. *Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and General*, 39:R541–R623, 2006.
- [96] V.E. Zakharov, editor. What is integrability? Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1991.